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Chapter | 1415213 

GEOGRAPHICAL FEATURES AND 

POLITICAL CHANGES 

1. The Four Surface Regions of Texas 

Geographically Texas is divided into four great surface 

regions, namely, the Trans-Pecos Country, the Coastal Plain, 

the Central Region, and the Great Plains Province. The 

Great Plains Province is the southern continuation and tetr- 

mination of what is known as the Great Plains of the United 

States. From the Rocky Mountains to the Gulf of Mexico 

the surface is a gentle slope. How the Great Plains Province 

came into existence is an interesting story. 

Geologists assert that the Great Plains Province was many 

millions of years in process of formation. First there was an 

upheaval in the Rocky Mountain region, accompanied by a 

depression of the area now occupied by the Great Plains of 

the United States. A few millions of years later another 

elevation of the Rocky Mountain region took place, and at 

the same time a second subsidence of the Great Plains area 

occurred. The surface changes resulted in the extension of 

a great northern lake’ into North Texas. This was a vast 

fresh water lake, into which washed down sediments from 

the elevations on the west. Millions of years later this once 

fresh water lake was obliterated by a great continental eleva- 

tion, whereby the Great Plains region was formed. Therefore 

the Great Plains Province of Texas is non-marine in origin 

and structure. 

The Great Plains Province of Texas is composed of two 

@ieeetions or divisions. [he one to the north: is the Llano 

| Estacado, or the Staked Plains, and the other to the south 

is the Edwards Plateau.2 There is no structural break be- 

tween the Staked Plains and the Edwards Plateau, the one 

* region blending imperceptibly into the other. The provincial 

1 Alexander Deussen in Texas Almanac for 1904, 74. 

2 Simonds, Geography of Texas, 23. 
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boundary line is fixed through Midland, Upton, and Crane 
counties. The Staked Plains and the Edwards Plateau to- 
gether constitute a vast quadrangular tableland, ‘“‘bordered on 
three sides by escarpments of erosion, and on the other by 
an escarpment of faulting.” The escarpments of erosion are 
known as the breaks of the plains. 

There are two kinds of plains. One is built-up, construc- 
tional; the other, worn down, destructional. The Staked 
Plains is the built-up sort. This region while accompanied 
with a slight dip towards the southeast, is ‘‘so level as to pro- 
duce the appearance of being uphill in every direction.”® 

Some confusion exists as to the area or extent of the Pan- 
handle of Texas. West Texas is often perfunctorily referred 
to as the Texas Panhandle, but the Panhandle of Texas has 
well defined limits. The strip of country in Northwest Texas 
projecting like the handle of a frying-pan has its beginning 
on the south with the tier of counties running west from 
Childress County. Briscoe County, which lies just north of 
Floyd County, isa part of the Texas Panhandle, while Floyd 
County is just without the Panhandle of Texas. 

Lying east of the Staked Plains is the Breaks Country, 
which contains deep ravines, abrupt elevations, and pic- 
turesque valleys. This is predominantly a grazing country, 
although there is much land in the valleys susceptible of culti- 
vation. Then, too, there are in some localities the celebrated 
shinnery lands, which rate high for agricultural purposes. 
The soil of these shinneries is a coarse sand with a clay founda- 
tion. The lands get this name from the thick growth of 
bushes of the oak family not more than eighteen inches high. 
These sprouts, or shin oaks, bear crops of acorns valuable as 
food for hogs. 

The Breaks Country contains some timbers, such as mes- 
quite, liveoak, cottonwood, hackberry, red and white cedars, 
and other kinds indigenous to the vegetable life zones of this 

3 Alexander Deussen in the Texas Almanac for 1904, 75. 4 Alexander Duessen in the Texas Almanac for 1904, 74. 
5 Simonds, Geography of Texas, 23. 
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region. Besides these timbers, wild plums and grapes grow 

profusely in some localities. Here nature provides plants 

with small leaves and large root systems that they may suc- 

cessfully resist the droughts for which this country 1s noted. 

There is in the Breaks Country an abundance of surface 

water afforded by springs and water courses. The springs, 

with some noteworthy exceptions, are periodical in their flow. 

Roaring Springs, in Motley County, has a large and constant 

waterfall of several feet. The creeks are subject to overflow 

in times of copious rains, and also to a great diminution of 

volume in dry seasons. Tongue River, a branch of Pease 

River, has its source in Floyd County. It is the first stream 

south of Quitaque Creek and flows into the North Pease in 

Motley County. Tongue River 1s an interesting stream® be- 

cause of the way in which it acquired its name. Captain 

Henry Strong,’ of Wichita Falls, who was Colonel Mac- 

kenzie’s guide when the famous battle of Palo Duro Canyon 

was fought September 26, 1874, says that during a long time 

previous to the extermination of the Indians from this section 

of Texas the Comanches and Kiowas, who had reservations 

in the Indian Territory, made frequent ‘Sncursions in | exas, 

where they killed ranchers, burned their homes, and stole 

their livestock.” He says further: 

According to Charles Goodnight,° patties of traders came 

along trails from the west and sojourned in the broad valleys of 

the Tongue River to engage in the traffic of livestock. The 

Indians usually stole these horses and cattle from the settlers 

living on the borders of civilization. The participants in these 

trade meetings spoke several different languages. The Spanish 

term Las Linguas, signified those tongues, and this term 

6 Judge J. N. Browning to J. L. DeGroot, November, 1920. 

7 The Fort Worth Star Telegram, June 19, 1921. 

There were no settlers in the Texas Panhandle then, and it was used as 

trading grounds, where stolen horses and cattle were disposed of. American, 

Mexican, and Indian outlaws and cattle rustlers made this region their head- 

quarters. More horses and cattle changed hands in this region than in all the 

test of Texas, all of which were stolen. 

s J. N. Browning to J. L. DeGroot, November, 1920. 
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was Anglicized and eventually became the name applied to 
this stream. 

Floyd County is situated on the eastern border of the Staked Plains. The eastern portion of the county lies partly in the Breaks Country. Floyd County is crossed by the draws 
of Quitaque, Runningwater, and Crawfish. Blanco Canyon has its origin in Floyd County. 

Floyd County contains 1,036 square miles,°—663,040 acres, of which about 500,000 acres are arable. The county 
1s 30 miles wide and about 34 miles long, from north to 
south. 

Floyd County was named in honor of Doniphon Floyd, 
one of the martyrs along with Travis, Crockett, and Bowie of the Alamo" in its fall on March 6, 1836. 
2. Political Changes in the Map of Texas 

A study of the various maps of Texas since 1835, reveals much interesting information pertaining to the political 
changes wrought at the hands of the Texas law-makers from time to time. The changes effected in the political map of 
Western Texas are particularly noticeable. They have been 
rapid and pronounced, 

The Map of Texas, compiled by Stephen F. Austin, and published by H. S. Tanner of Philadelphia, in 1835, just be- 
fore Texas accomplished an existence separate from Mexican 
control, furnishes rather meager information of the regions 
lying towards the West. This map represents the western 
lands as merely occupying space. Austin was temperamentally 
a cautious man. He had no knowledge of the geography of 
Western Texas, and he did not venture to make any repre- 
sentation based upon the contrivances of a fertile imagina- 
tion. In fact, this map devotes nearly as much space to the 
country lying beyond the Rio Grande as to that on this side. 
The map, however, does give a rough representation of the 
various grants for the establishment of colonies. Theh, too, 

® Year Book Texas Department of Agriculture for 1909, 497. 10 Gammel, Laws of ssh VIII, rons. 
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this map contains the probable sources of the larger known 

streams in the settled regions. In an indefinite way “Level 

Prairies” and “Immense Herds of Buffaloes” are shown. 

J. H. Young’s map of Texas, published in 1853 by 

Thomas, Cowperthwait & Company, of Philadelphia, makes 

a sincere attempt to present fully the political and physical 

features of Texas. The westernmost counties of Texas at this 

time are Cooke, Tarrant, Ellis, Navarro, McLennan, Bell, 

Travis, Williamson, Gillespie, Comal, Bexar, Medina, 

Uvalde, and Kinney. Some of these counties have subse- 

quently been materially reduced in size and changed in form. 

Cooke County’s south boundary line was an extension west- 

ward of the north boundary line of Tarrant County, and her 

west boundary line was about seventy miles west of Denton 

County. Her size then was about ten times that of her 

present limits. The country lying west of the counties above 

mentioned is not represented as subject of any jurisdiction. 

The courses of the streams are faithfully presented. The 

topography between the larger streams is described as ‘‘Rolling 

Table Lands,” and that north of the Brazos as “Salt Plains,” 

and west of the “Salt Plains” the eye greets the words “El 

Llano Estacado or Staked Plains,” accompanied with this de- 

scription: “El Ilano Estacado (Staked Plains) is an elevated, 

desert plain of considerable extent, across which a traveling 

toute was at one time marked by wooden stakes driven at 

short intervals into the ground.” About midway between 

Laredo and Eagle Pass on the Rio Grande, Kingsbury ’s Rapids 

appear, described as two hundred feet in length with a fall 

of four feet. This point 1s noted as the “Head of Stream 

Navigation” on the Rio Grande. At a point on the Rio 

Grande slightly east of the east boundary line of New Mexico 

is Grand Indian crossing, described as ‘‘a shallow place in the 

Rio Grande 1,000 miles from its mouth, with four feet 

water.’ Here the “Comanche War Trail” crosses the Rio 

Grande from the northern part of Texas into Mexico. North 

of the Canadian River in the Panhandle 1s the home of the 

[ito] 



Apaches, while south of this river is occupied by the Comanches. All the Trans-Pecos region 1s embraced in the two unorganized counties of Presidio and E] Paso. This entire region 1s designated as occupied by Apaches. South of the Conchos is the abode of both Comanches and Lipans. Across 
the State is Captain Marcy’s road from Fort Smith, Arkansas, 
to Dona Ana, New Mexico, a settlement on the Rio Grande 
not far to the northwest of EF] Paso. This road crosses the the Red River at Preston in Grayson County, passes south of 
the Double Mountains, Big Spring, and El Paso. The length 
of this road is put down as 960 miles. From Santa Fe, New 
Mexico, along the Canadian Valley of the Texas Panhandle 
to Fort Smith, Arkansas, is marked another road, which is 820 
mules in length. 

In 1861 was published De Cordova’s Map of the State of 
Texas, which was “compiled from the records of the general 
Land Office of the State by Robert Creuzleur.” In the eight 
years since Young’s map was published the political geography 
of Texas had undergone a marked change. Many new 
counties in the west had been created. The counties farthest 
west were Hardeman, Knox, Haskell, Jones, Taylor, Runnels, 
Concho, Menard, Kimble, and Edwards, which were estab- 
lished by the Seventh Legislature in 1858. The west boundary 
lines of these counties are near the one hundredth meridian. 
All the region lying west except the Trans-Pecos Country, 
and Dawson and Kinney to the south, is indicated as Bexar 
County, although the nearest point of this area was about one 
hundred miles from the limits of Bexar County, proper. One 
transcontinental United States mail line passed through 
Sherman, Fort Belknap, Fort Phantom Hill, and El Paso. 

During the Civil War and Reconstruction the development 
of Texas was very much retarded. A large-scale Traveler’s 
Map of the State of Texas, “compiled from the records of 
the General Land Office, the maps of the Coast Survey, the 
reports of the Boundary Commission, and various other mili- 
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tary surveys and reconnoissances,” by Charles W. Pressler, 

1867. This map designates, as Young Territory, to the north a 

line running about the middle of the west boundary of Taylor 

County due west to New Mexico. All the region south of 
Young Territory as far as Kinney County on the south and 

southwest to the Pecos River was known as Bexar Territory. 

Bexar Territory was about one-half the area of Young Terri- 

tory. Thus will be seen that all of Texas west of the one 

hundredth meridian was composed of Young Territory, 

Bexar Territory, Kinney County, Maverick County, and the 

two Trans-Pecos counties of Presidio and El Paso. Not one of 

the present counties west of the one hundredth meridian was 

organized, and Uvalde was the only border county that was 

organized at that time. Her organization took place April 

Mis, iifeltayt 

Pressler’s map contains the projected Memphis, El Paso 
& Pacific Railroad, entering Texas at Texarkana and passing 

through the towns of Paris, Denton, Palo Pinto and the 

southern portion of Jones County, in direct line towards 

EI Paso. 

Colton’s New Map of the State of Texas, 1872, presents 
only a few changes in the political features of the State. West 

of the one hundredth meridian only one new county had been 

created during the preceding five years, and that was Pecos 

County, which was carved out of Presidio County, May 3, 

7 Ta Instead of the projected Memphis, El Paso & Pacific 

Railroad this map shows a successor, to be known as the 

Southern Pacific Railroad. This railroad enters Texas near 

Marshall and passes through Dallas, Fort Worth, Weather- 

ford, Palo Pinto, and along the route of the abandoned Mem- 

phis, El Paso & Pacific Railroad. A branch enters Texas 

at Texarkana, passes through Clarksville, Paris and McKin- 

ney, and terminates at Fort Worth. This branch of the pro- 

posed Southern Pacific is called the Transcontinental Railroad. 

11 Year Book Texas Department of Agriculture for 1909, 644. 
12 Gammel, Laws of Texas, V1, 895. 
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A. R. Roessler’s Latest Map of the State of Texas, “‘com- 
piled and drawn by M. Y. Mettendorfer, C. E., 1874,” is 
prepared on a rather comprehensive plan. The compiler and 
draughtsman sets out in clear detail the argicultural districts, 
the timbered regions, the mineral resources, prairie and swamp 
lands, post offices, mail routes, wagon roads, and railroads 
projected and finished. This map presents the newly created 
counties of Wegefarth and Tom Green. Wegefarth, created 
by an act approved June 2, 1873, was named in honor of C. 
Wegefarth, president of the Texas Immigrant Aid Supply 
Company. Wegefarth County adjoined Greer County on 
the west and lay north of the Prairie Dog Town Fork of Red 
River. Created out of Young Territory, Wegefarth County 
was sixty miles square. The act creating Wegefarth County 
provided in some detail for its organization, with C. Wege- 
farth, L. P. Seiker, and Lewis T. Valentime commissioned 
with plenary powers to effect the organization.'* Tom Green 
County was created out of that portion of Bexar Territory 
which lies north of a line running due west from the southwest 
corner of Concho County to the Pecos River," by an act ap- 
proved March 1 3, 1874. The creation of Tom Green County 
reduced the area of Bexar Territory to about one-third its 
former extent. 

Roessler’s map designates that portion lying north of a 
line running east and west nearly with the north boundary 
line of Wegefarth County as Bexar Territory, while Young 
Territory intervened between Bexar Territory and Tom Green 
Couny. Young Territory is described as a “Great Belt of 
Gypsum.” This statement occurs: "2,500 to 3,000 feet 
above the level of the sea. Soil sandy, but arable, owing to 
the fertility of the Gypsum with which it is impregnated, 
covered by coarse grass, destitute of water and timber.”’ The 
proposed Southern Pacific Railroad of the map of 1872 is 
here laid down on the same route as the ‘‘Pecos Division Texas 

13 Gammel, Laws of Texas, VII, 619. 
14 Gammel, Laws of Texas, VIII, 24. 
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Pacific Railroad.” <A proposed Gulf, Colorado & Santa Fe 

Railroad coursed from Belton through Haskell and Knox 
counties, the southwest corner of Hardeman County, in a 

northwesterly direction through Young Territory towards 

Santa Fe, New Mexico. From Fort Griffin slightly north 

of west to Cat Fish Creek in the vicinity of Canon Blanco 

is Mackenzie’s Trail. No mail routes yet pass into Young 

Territory. A twice-a-week mail service was maintained from 
Denton to Fort Chadbourne, by the way of Fort Belknap, in 

Young County, Fort Griffin, in Shackelford County, and 

Fort Phantom Hill, in Jones County. 

a Movements Presaging Settlement 

During the years from 1870 to 1876 events took place 

which foretold the early settlement of the hitherto unoccupied 
regions embraced in Young and Bexar Territortes. The vast 

herds of buffalo were being exterminated, and the hordes of 

marauding Indians were being driven back to their reserva- 

tions. Thus this great expanse of country was made ready 

for settlement. The Legislature of Texas at once saw the 

expediency of converting Young and Bexar Territories into 

new counties. Besides, the present Constitution of Texas was 

being put into effect. All hindrances to the rapid develop- 

ment of Texas had fled. Fifty-five new counties were created 

in short order. By an act approved January 22, 1875, Crockett 

County"® was created out of the portion of Bexar which lay 

south of Tom Green County. The following year the last 

vestige of the so-called territories of Bexar and Young was 

removed by the act approved August 21, 1876, whereby the 

present counties of Lipscomb, Ochiltree, Hansford, Sherman, 

Dallam, Hartley, Moore, Hutchinson, Roberts, Hemphill, 

Wheeler, Gray, Carson, Potter, Oldham, Deaf Smith, Ran- 

dall, Armstrong, Donley, Collingsworth, Childress, Hall, 

Briscoe, Swisher, Castro, Parmer, Cottle, Motley, Floyd, 

Hale, Lamb, Bailey, Cochran, Hockley, Lubbock, Crosby, 

15 Gammel, Laws of Texeas, VIII, 374. 
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Dickens, King, Stonewall, Kent, Garza, Lynn, Terry, 
Yoakum, Fisher, Scurry, Borden, Dawson, Gaines, Andrews, 
Martin, Howard, Mitchell, and Nolan. This act repealed 
that by which Wegefarth County was created in rO73 It 
made provisions for the judicial and land business of the new 
counties thereby created. Hale, Motley, Floyd, Briscoe, 
Swisher, and other counties “were attached to the County of 
Jack for judicial, surveying, and all other purposes.” The 
counties of Dickens and Crosby, along with other counties 
were attached to Young County for land and judicial reasons 
or purposes, 

After the organization of Donley County, March 22, 
1882,'7 it was manifest that the counties in its vicinity could 
be benefitted by the transaction of their land business nearer 
home. Therefore, by act approved April 9, 1883, the Donley 
Land District composed of the counties of Donley, Carson, 
Armstrong, Swisher, Randall, Floyd, Briscoe, Hall, and Chil- 
dress, was created. By the terms of this act, “the count 
surveyor of Donley County shall be the surveyor of said dis- 
trict; he shall keep his office at the county seat of said Donley 
County, and the records of all files and surveys of land in said 
district shall be kept in said office.’”"® 

4. Significance of Bexar County 

The accounts of the establishment of new counties in 
Western Texas usually contain the words “created from Bexar 
Territory.” This expression is due to the fact that the De 
partment of Bexar was an original political unit at the time 
Texas severed her relations with Mexico in 1836. Bexar 
County embraced an immense area of Western Texas. San 
Antonio, the county seat, was in the southeast corner of the 
Bexar County of that time. As a matter of fact, Bexar County 
has been diminished to its present size by the Legislature’s 
carving out of Bexar County, or Bexar Territory, from year 

16 Gammel, Laws of Texas, Vol. 8, 1 74, et seq. 
17 Year Book Texas Department of griculture, 1909, 466. 
16 Gammel, Laws of Texas, IX, 358. 
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to year, the great number of counties now found on the map 

of Western Texas. The reduction of area and the transforma- 

tion in the shape of Bexar County were wrought from 1836 to 

1876, a period of forty years. Bexar County is also styled as 
Bexar Territory and Bexar District. These last two designa- 

tions are probably the outcome of the popular conception that, 

since vast portions had become so far removed from the county 

seat and separated from that part of Bexar County primarily 

known as the unit of county government, these remote sec-- 

tions possessed few, if any, of the attributes of a municipal 

corporation. 

5. Young County's Relation to West Texas 

Young County figures prominently in the historical move- 

ments in Northwest Texas. This County 1s included in what 

was known as the Peters Colony. A great portion of the lands 

not within Young County was located by the Texas Emigta- 

tion and Land Company, about else 

Young County was created by an act approved February 2, 

1856, and its organization was effected soon thereafter, as 

“Young County was settled some five years in advance of the 

surrounding country. 7° Fort Belknap was the county seat 

during the early period. Fort Belknap was then something of 

a rendezvous for surveying and exploring parties. But with 

the great Civil War, together with the demoralization that 

attends and follows wars, as well as the proximity to hostile 

Indian tribes and lack of protection against Indian incursion, 

Young County became almost depopulated. Organization as 

a county government was abandoned, and reorganization did 

not take place until April, 1874.7" 

The act of the legislature creating Young County in 1856 

further provided that: 
For Judicial purposes the territory north from the northeast corner of said 

county to Red River; thence west with said stream to the United States territory; 

19 Texas Almanac for 1858, 176. 
20 Texas Almanac for 1858, 176. 

21 Year Book Department of Texas Agriculture, 1909, 666. 
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thence south to a point west from the southern source of the Clearfork of the Brazos; thence east to the source of said stream, and down the same to the main Brazos; and thence in a direct line to the southeast corner of said county; thence north to the place of beginning, shall be under the jurisdiction of said county, and when said county is created into a land district, it shall embrace the above described territory.22 

But the contemplated act of the Legislature to create 
Young County into a land district was held in obeyance until 
April 29, 1874, when the three land districts of Young 
County, Jack County, and Palo Pinto County were created. 
By this act the Young Land District included the counties of 
Young, Throckmorton and Haskell, and all the territory 
within the following described limits: 

Beginning at northwest corner of Haskell county, thence north along the west boundary line of the counties of Knox and Hardeman, to the thirty-fourth parallel of latitude; thence along said thirty-fourth parallel of latitude to the east boundary line of the territory of New Mexico, thence south along said east boundary line of the territory of New Mexico to a point due west from the corner of Haskell county; thence in a straight line east to the south-west corner of Haskell county. 

All that section of Bexar County extending from the 
south line of the Young Land District to a northeasterly line 
running from the Horsehead Crossing on the Pecos River 
to the southwest corner of Runnels County was, by this law, 
attached to Palo Pinto County for land purposes. All that 
section of Young and Bexar territories which include the Pan- 
handle of Texas; that is, all the region north of the thirty- 
fourth parallel of latitude, was, by the same act, attached to 
Jack County for land purposes.?* In this connection, it is 
well to observe that the thirty-fourth parallel of latitude passed 
through the country which was two years later incorporated 
into Floyd County. Because of this condition the south por- 
tion of Floyd County at the time of its creation was in the 
Young Land District, and the north portion was in the Jack 
Land District. Thus when Floyd County was created by the 
act of August 21, 1876, the limits of the county were within 
two land districts, and the Legislature saw fit to attach Floyd 
County to Jack County “for judicial, surveying, and all other 
purposes.” *4 

22 Gammel, Laws of Texas, IV, 459. 
23 Gammel, Laws of Texas, VIII, 163. 
24 Gammel, Laws of Texas, VIII, 1073. 
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6. Conditions of Settlement in Texas Contrasted. 

Thus have been traced the changes made prior to 1876 
in the political maps of Western Texas. While these changes 

were numerous as well as marked, still they do not neces- 

sarily imply fickleness and instability on the part of the State’s 

law-makers. Most of the changes were logical and unavoid- 

able. Unusual conditions prevailed. The pioneers of the East 
Texas settlements could subsist without capital and without 

commercial facilities. Austin’s colony could get along quite 

well without friction matches, barbed wire, and imported 

household articles, but West Texas presented an entirely dif- 

ferent environment. The scarcity of timber and surface water, 

the extremes of climate and temperature, and the vartable- 

ness of the winds and of the rainfall presented problems not 

encountered in other sections. Every movement of settle- 

ment westward was followed by a falling back. These for- 

ward and backward movements were concomitant with the 

country’s development. These successive advances and re- 

treats served as a schoolmaster unto the mastering of the Great 

West. Asa child learns to do a thing by trial and success or, 

to put it another way, by effort and failure, so did the pioneers 

who converted West Texas into a habitable country. 
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Chapter IT 

INDIAN OUTBREAKS 
AND CAMPAIGNS 

rh Why the Indians Were a Menace to Settlers 

Western Texas, together with Colorado, New Mexico, 
Western Kansas, and Indian Territory, constituted an Indian 
country up to 1874, when the United States military forces 
succeeded in forcing the Indians to submission and in driving 
them back to their reservations. During these years the set- 
tlers in the westernmost counties in Texas, along the one hun- 
dredth meridian, suffered great losses because of the incursions 
of marauding bands of hostile Indians. At no time did the 
Indians feel resigned to remain within their reservations. The 
unrest and growing hostility of the Indians may be accounted 
for as follows: 

1. Life on the reservations remote from civilization was 
not favorable to the moral and cultural development of an in- 
herently savage race of people. In their reservations the In- 
dians were under no control, restraint, or influence stronger 
than those exercised bya single agent of the Government, This 
agent frequently held his position because of political influ- 
ence, and he ofttimes failed to deal fairly and justly towards 
the Government’s wards. 

2. [he Indians saw only the worst features of the white 
people’s civilization. The ruffians were usually in the major- 
ity in the frontier regions, and the Indians reasoned that 
since honor was lacking among the whites whom he knew it 
was characteristically lacking among all. 

3. The Indians believed it was noble to kill and degrading 
to labor. They regarded the white people as their inferiors. 
The Indians could not respect those who lived by digging in 
the ground.' They regarded the life of the miner as that of 
a gopher. 

1 Nelson A. Miller, Serving the Republic, 119. 
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4. The Government sometimes failed to comply with the 

treaty stipulations to supply the Indians with food, shelter, 

and clothing. Having been removed from their natural source 

of supply, they were almost wholly dependent upon the al- 
lowances which were occasionally exhausted before others 

reached them. A half-starved condition quite naturally tend- 

ed to arouse in them a spirit of unrest and dissatisfaction. 

5. Railway construction and town building were to the In- 

dians prophetic of their impending doom. Besides, along the 

transcontinental railways west of the Mississippi the white 

man destroyed the trees in the branches of which reposed the 

remains of their dead. This was particularly the case in West- 

ern Kansas when that country was being settled.2, These 

sepultures were most sacred to the Indians, and the wanton 

destruction of their cemeteries so outraged them that they 

resolutely contrived the relentless murder of the whites. 

6. The ruthless destruction of the buffaloes invited upon 

the whites the wrath of the Indians, as the Indians relied 

upon the buffaloes for food, raiment, and shelter. 

2. The Buffalo Slaughter 
The Indians strenuously opposed the slaughter of the 

buffaloes. The chiefs earnestly implored the Government 

not to permit railroad construction through what they termed 

their country, because railroads would drive away the buf- 

faloes and thus leave the Indians in a state of destitution.® 

The Indians protested that the bison belonged to them. To 

the wild tribes it was a hideous thought that they should be- 

come settled agriculturists. The sympathetic appeals of the 

Indians created a sentiment against the merciless slaughter of 

the buffaloes. Both whites and Indians influenced the legis- 

latures of Kansas and Colorado to take steps to prevent the 

utter extinction of the buffaloes. Even the Texas Legislature 

under the Reconstruction regime was about to put a stop to 

the ruthless slaughter of buffaloes on the Staked Plains, but 

2 Miles, Personal Recollections of Nelson A. Miles, 157. 
3 Olive K. Dixon, Life of Billy Dixon, 59. 
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General Phil. Sheridan, who was at San Antonio in command 
of the Military Department of the Southwest, importuned 
the State and National Governments to encourage the buffalo 
hunters to continue their sport. General Sheridan said: These men [the buffalo hunters] have done more to settle the vexed Indian question than the entire regular army has done in the last thirty years. They are destroying the Indians commissary; and it is a well known fact that an army losing its base of supplies is placed at a great disadvanta e. Send them powder and lead if you will; but, for the sake o lasting peace, ae them kill ,skin, and sell until the buffaloes are exterminated. Then your prairies can be covered with speckled cattle, and the festive cowboy, who follows the hunter as a second forerunner of an advanced civilization.a 

No section of the Indian country suffered more from In- 
dian raids in the early seventies than the frontiers of North- 
west Texas. Whatever sentiments in behalf of the pteserva- 
tion of the buffalo herds might have been entertained, the 
Texas frontiersmen readily watvered in the hope that with their 
disappearance the Comanches, the Kiowas, the Apaches, the 
Arapahoes, and the Cheyennes would cease their plunderin 
visits into Texas. The Texas Legislature applied the doctrine 
of laissez faire in this matter. 

Only a few years were consumed in bringing about the 
utter extermination of the buffaloes, as thousands of men were 
rushed to the plains and made a business of killing these an- 
imals. Several causes contributed towards the buffalo slaugh- 
ter; namely, (1) the Government's sanction, (2) the profits 
derived from the sale of buffalo hides, (3) the satisfaction 
of the spirit of adventure, and (4) the unemployment of hun- 
dreds of men because railway construction had ceased just 
before the panic of 1872, 

Colonel Richard Irving Dodge states that in the year 1873 
alone 754,339° buffalo skins, exclusive of robes, were shipped 
east, and that during the three years, 1872, 1873, and 1874 
buffaloes to the number of 4,375,730 were killed. This 
enumeration takes account of only the hides shipped over the 
Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe, the Kansas and Pacific, and 
the Union Pacific railways. It leaves out those killed by 
hunters who came into the buffalo range from the frontier and 

5 Dodge, The Plains of the West, 142. 
4 Olive K. Dixon, Life of Billy Dixon, 56-57. 
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transported the hides by means of wagons. In other words 

most of the hunters from Texas, New Mexico, Colorado, and 

Indian Territory were not included in Colonel Dodge's es- 

timate. 

3. Government's Tardiness in Providing Frontier Protection 

Before the buffalo slaughter had begun in its most de- 

structive aspects the stockmen along the border counties of 

Western Texas suffered constant losses of cattle and horses 

through the stealthy, whirlwind expeditions of Indians from 

their reservations north of Red River. The cowmen of those 

days on the Texas frontier led a life of privation and adventure. 

His cattle ran at large upon a vast range. His duties upon the 

range were likely at any moment to bring him into conflict 

with hostile Indians. He therefore had ofttimes to fight for 

his life. He had to be a walking or riding arsenal.© His was, 

indeed, a daily struggle for existence during the Indian days. 

However, he was familiar with danger and inured to the 

elements. 

To the frontiersmen of Texas the Government seemed tar- 

dy and indifferent about their protection against Indian raids 

from the reservations north of the Red River. Following the 

Civil War the problem of dealing with the South as a ‘ con- 

quered province” seemed uppermost 1n the minds of the Rad- 

icals then in political power. The following comment ap- 

pearing in The Flea, a small periodical published Byabts) bole 

McConnell of the Sixth Cavalry and printed at Weatherford 

through a series of six issues during 1869’, well illustrates the 

feeling that existed on the frontier of Texas relative to the 

Government's apparent neglect: 

The fact that this is a frontier does not seem to be known by the authorities 

at Washington or elsewhere. In 1867, when the blazing dwellings of the 

pioneers of Texas lighted up the sky from the Red River to the Rio Grande; 

when desolated homes, murdered women, and captured children were every-day 

occurrences along our whole frontier, General Sheridan in a report stated that 

“no Indian difficulties of any importance had occurred in his department; that 

the Red River was a sort of dead-line over which neither Indian nor Texan dared 

to cross, owing to the hostility of one to the other;” and, in fact, intimating 

6 McConnell, Five Years a Stasis 117. 

7 McConnell, Five Years a Cavalryman, 173 
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that the Texas frontiersman was generally the aggressor—this, too, at a time 
when the garrison at Buffalo Springs was em | beseiged for days by five 
hundred Indians, and when appeal after appeal had been sent to neral 
Sheridan for arms and ammunition. 

From 1865 to 1869 the Fourth and Sixth Cavalries® were 
doing on the Texas frontier “more scouting, more fighting, 
more arduous service than any other troops in the army, and 
the writer adds, “‘no credit is given, no one knows of their ser- 
vices;” but they were not strong enough to make any material 
improvement in frontier conditions. In this connection it is 
interesting to note that in the Autumn of 1870 occurred Colo- 
nel Mackenzie’s pursuit of the Quahadas, tribes under the 
leadership of the noted Quanah Parker, and the formation of 
Mackenzie’s Trail, which courses from Fort Griffin, through 
Crosby and Floyd Counties. An interesting combination of 
circumstances brought about this expedition. 
In The National Tribune, Washington, D. C., July 8 to August 26, 1920, appeared a 
detailed sketch of Mackenzie’s campaign of 1870, by R. G. Carter, captain of the Fourth 
United States Cavalry, who accompanied Mackenzie on this expedition. 

4. [he Mackenzie Expedition of 1870 
On August 12, 1870, the Quaker Indian Agent, Lowrie 

Tatum, who was at Fort Sill, in the Kiowa, Comanche, and 
Apache reservation, addressed a letter to Colonel Benjamin 
Henry Grierson, who in 1866 received the appointment of 
Colonel of the Tenth United States Cavalry and was now on 
duty in the Southwest. This letter requested that Colonel 
Grierson and Colonel Mackenzie “induce Mow-way and his 
band to come in to the reservation and behave.” Mow-way 
had taken captive a little child, for whose rescue Tatum felt 
much concern. When this letter reached Colonel Mackenzie, 
who was at Fort Richardson, a Government military post at 
Jacksboro, Jack County, from 1868 to 1878, he resolved to 
pursue Mow-way and to recover the captured child. Macken- 
zie’s forces for this campaign were concentrated at Cam 
Cooper, about five miles from Fort Griffin. Subsequently, 
on September 25, of the same year, while eight companies of 
the Fourth Cavalry and two companies of the Eleventh Infan- 

8 McConnell, Five Years a Cavalryman, 214. 
8a In a series of articles under the caption of Winning the West, published in 
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try, together with about twenty Tonkawa scouts, were wait- 

ing in camp for orders to proceed on the campaign, a large 

band of Indians visited Murphy’s Ranch, twenty-eight miles 

from Camp Cooper, and captured 128 head of cattle and 

12 head of horses. Two citizens, Stockton and James, part 

owners of the stolen animals, joined Mackenzie’s forces to 

assist in apprehending the Indians and identifying their stock. 

But the troops could not go forward until Mackenzie’s arrival 

from Fort Richardson. On October 3 the Army moved out 

on its march towards the Panhandle Country. Thus the cel- 

ebrated Mackenzie’s Trail had its beginning. 

5. Life and Public Services of Mackenzie 
Something in the life and public services of the command- 

er is necessary to lend clearness to the account of his campaign 

against the Indians at this particular time. Colonel Ronald Sli- 

dell Mackenzie was born in Westchester County, New York, 

in 1840, and died at Staten Island, New York, in 1889. He 

was the son of Alexander Slidell Mackenzie, who was an of- 

ficer in the United States Navy. Colonel Mackenzie’s father 

assumed the name of Mackenzie at the request of a maternal 

uncle of that name. Colonel Mackenzie graduated from 

West Point in 1862, and entered the engineer corps of the 

Union Army. He was in the battles of Manassas, Chancellors- 

ville, and Gettysburg, and because of services 1n these actions 

he received the successive brevets of first lieutenant, captain, 

and major. The promotion of captain of the engineer and 

lieutenant-colonel came later. After the Civil War he received 

the appointment of colonel of the Fourth United States Caval- 

ry. His field of activity was on the Western frontier, where 

he “performed efficient service against the hostile Indian 

tribes.”? Besides his effective campaigns from 1870 to 1874 

on the frontier of Texas, he participated in the campaigns 

against the Sioux tribes in the Northwest. After he took 

command in Texas he made quick work of driving the 

Indians back to their reservations, and in making sate the 

9 The New International Encyclopedia, XIV, 587. 
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lives and properties of the settlers, and in rendering unneces- 
sary the further occupancy of the military posts by Federal 
troops. In 1882 he became Brigadier-General in the regular 
army of the United States, and retired from active service in 
1884. 

6. The Army's March to Mount Blanco 
In the march towards the Panhandle in October, 1870, 

Mackenzie had about six hundred men and nearly one hundred 
pack mules. On October 7 he reached Duck Creek, where he 
established a supply camp. On the night of October 8 he 
parked the wagons, packed the mules, and set out on a quick 
march under cover of darkness. On the following night the 
army reached a point near Mount Blanco, in Blanco Canyon. 
The day just past had been attended with much excitement. 
The deep mire of White River, or Catfish Creek, had present- 
ed some difficulties. The Tonkawa scouts had run unex- 
pectedly upon the Comanche braves, and a chase had ensued. 

Traveling had been most difficult and fatiguing to both men 
and horses. The soldiers realized that they were in the vicin- 
ity of the Indians, and that an attack might at any moment 

occur. All were in a state of suspense and expectancy. 

7. The Fight at Mount Blanco 

At midnight the attack came. It was the plan of the In- 
dians to stampede the horses by riding at full speed, shaking 

dried buffalo hides, and yelling and shrieking with satanic 

madness. The whites and their Tankawa scouts had their 

hands full in bringing their frenzied horses under control. To 
make a long story short, it was found, when the alarm was 

over, that about seventy out of six hundred horses were miss- 

ing. Captain Heyl, Lieutenant Carter, and Lieutenant Hemp- 

hill, with a few privates, while hunting for stray horses before 

dawn, found themselves in a perilous situation at a distance of 

more than two miles from the camp, as a horde of savages con- 
fronted the few soldiers. Since no escape was possible the only 
alternative was to fight, or die. The soldiers formed two groups 
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for opposing the Indians, seven men under Captain Heyl on 

the right, and five under Lieutenant Carter on the left. Both 

divisions opened rapid fire with their carbines on the Indians. 

But under the stress of circumstances, Heyl lost his self-com- 

posure, and he and his seven men fell back precipitately. 

Carter and his five men alone had to resist the charge of a 

hundred or more Indians. How Lieutenantt Carter, Sergeant 

Jenkins, and Privates Melville, Downey, Foley, and Gregg 

held their ground 1s an interesting story, and was a deed de- 

serving to be graven on stone. They used their carbines so 

effectively that the Indians recoiled, with the loss of a few lives. 

At this juncture Carter ordered his men to make a dash for 

their lives. Gregg’s horse being fagged, the unfortunate man 

fell behind, and the Indians, seeing their opportunity, closed 

in upon him. Quanah Parker led the attack in person, and he 

shot Gregg dead. As Gregg fell, the main army, having heard 

the firing, came up for battle in Blanco Canyon; but at the 

approach of the soldiers the Indians hastily retreated. From 

the sides of Mount Blanco and its summit the Indians fired 

their old target rifles. Lieutenant Carter and Lieutenant 

Boehm, with a dozen men from the line, charged the Indians 

by ascending to the top of the mountain; but the Indians hasti- 

ly withdrew and concealed themselves in the hills and ravines 

that led to the plateau of the Staked Plains. Thus ended the 

battle of Mount Blanco on the morning of October 10, 1870. 

8. Preparations for the Pursuit 

The body of Private Gregg was buried at the southwest 

approach of Mount Blanco. The funeral rites were the 

simplest form of a soldier's burial. On the mound of the 

grave heavy stones were placed, that the body might be secure 

from the wolves infesting that region. 

Preparations wete made in quick order for the pursuit of 

the retreating Indians. The men who lost their horses by 

the stampede of the night before were unable to accompany 

the mounted men. Mackenzie placed Lieutenant Vernon in 
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command of these and ordered them back to the supply camp 
on Duck Creek, forty miles away. On the following morning, 
October 11, the mounted forces and the dismounted men sep- 
arated, moving in opposite directions. 

9. Pursuit of the Quahadas 

Mackenzie’s pursuing column spent the entire day march- 
ing up the canyon to find that the departing Indians were 
practicing various ruses to delay the soldiers. Finally it was 
concluded that the wily enemy had reversed his course, and 
the soldiers countermarched and moved back down the canyon 
to Mount Blanco. The following morning the Tonkawa 
scouts found the lost trail leading over an apparently impassable 
barrier in scaling the caprock of the Staked Plains. This point 
was about one mile west of Mount Blanco. After much effort 
the soldiers made the ascent, and before their eyes spread out a 
vast expanse of grassy plain. The air was cold and piercing to 
men clad for a summer campaign. The trail was followed until 
about noon, when it turned and again entered the canyon at 
the present ranch home of J. J. Day, about seven miles south- 
west of Floydada. At this crossing the Indians again attempt- 
ed their ruses by forming various trails, but the Tonkawas 
soon found the true trail ascending the bluff on the opposite 
or north side. Scaling the precipitous sides of the canyon, 
Mackenzie’s army was now on a distinct horse trail leading 
towards the west and northwest, and the soldiers were not long 
in observing in the distance the moving body of Comanches, 
or Quahadas, together with their women, children, and two 
thousand or more head of stock. Mackenzie’s column steadily 
gained on the Quahadas. The cold was increasing, but the 
soldiers were elated at the prospect at soon engaging the en- 
emy. The Indians again resorted to wiles in an effort to divert 
the soldiers. Comanche braves sallied to the right and to the 
left, circled here and there, and sought in every way possible 
to check Mackenzie’s men; but Mackenzie heeded the advice 
of his Tonkawa chief and kept steadily in pursuit of the flee- 
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ing band. Having failed to decoy the soldiers into a side at- 
tack, the Indians began preparations for a real battle. Macken- 

zie knew that the Comanches would fight with fiendish fury 
in defense of their families. However, the evening was fast 

approaching, and as the time was near at hand for Mackenzie 

to order a charge, the elements became dark, followed by rain, 

sleet, and snow. Why Mackenzie did not engage the Qua- 
hadas at this juncture cannot be satisfactorily explained. Lieu- 
tenant Carter was of the opinion that he lost the opportunity 

for a great victory. The soldiers were keenly disappointed. 

The storm which had been gathering all day came on at 

nightfall. The men dismounted and formed a defensive circle. 

All efforts to shield themselves and the horses were unavail- 
ing. To keep warm was out of the question. In their haste 
to overtake the Quahadas the men had not taken the time’ for 
noon lunch, and now the preparations for supper were impos- 
sible. Sleep and repose were not possible. To wear out such 

a night on an immense tableland was a dismal experience for 

the hungry, exhausted, and disappointed soldiers. However, 

the following morning a complete change in the weather had 

taken place. A clear, warm day greeted the men. But what 

was to be the day’s program for the army? It was soon ascer- 

tained that the Indians had kept moving all night. The near- 
est military post was Fort Sumner, in New Mexico. With 

horses jaded to the point of exhaustion and provisions running 
low, it was deemed prudent to abandon the pursuit and return 

over the trail of the previous day. 

10. Lhe Return Home 

The return march was not wholly without event or inter- 
est. While crossing Blanco Canyon two wandering Comanches 

were discovered and killed. Two Indians sought refuge in a 

ravine. While Mackenzie was in person directing a squad of 

men in the attack on the Indians, an arrow buried itself in 
the fleshy part of his leg. In the action a farrier was shot 

through the bowels. After the Quahadas were dead the Ton- 

[ 25 ] 



kawas, in accordance with their custom, shot some bullets into 

the dead bodies, removed the scalps, ears and all, and cut a 

iece of skin from each dead savage’s breast as a token of good 

luck. This, when dried and worn next to the person, was 

considered a certain safeguard against misfortune. As there 

was not a vehicle of any sort with the army, poles were leashed 

on either side of the pack saddles of two mules traveling tan- 

dem. Cross pieces were attached to the poles in the rear of 

the croup of one mule and in the front of the breast of the 

other. The condition of the man traveling by means of this 
litter was indeed critical. The bullet cut his intestines and 

passed out at his back. No one thought that he could pos- 

sibly recover, but through the professional skill and persever- 

ing attention of the army surgeon, Dr. Rufus Culver, the 

wound eventually healed. 

On the afternoon of October 14 Mackenzie and his men 
again pitched camp at Mount Blanco. Here they remained 

ten days, resting and recuperating. The horses were greatly 

reduced in flesh, and some of them died here. On October 

24 Mackenzie moved his force in two sections. All disabled 

and dismounted men and broken down horses and mules he 
sent to the Duck Creek supply camp. He surmised that 

Quanah Parker and his moving village would soon return from 
the west and move upon one of their well-known haunts on 

Pease River, and he determined to send the remainder of his 

army into the Pease River country in search of the Quahadas. 
In a few days, however, his own wound became too painful 
for the expedition, and on October 29, leaving his Pease River 

column under Major Mauck, he joined the Duck Creek camp 
for medical treatment. The Duck Creek camp was abandon- 

ed for another at Cottonwood Springs, on the double Moun- 
tain Fork, with Lieutenant Carter in command. Here Carter 

was to remain until Major Mauck’s return, which was on 

November 6 in a cold and piercing snowstorm. The cold was 

so fierce that many horses died at the picket line. Cowmen 
and soldiers in Northwest Texas, remember vividly that the 
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winter of 1870-1871 was one of the severest ever known in 
that section. To get back to snug winter quarters was seen 

to be the most expedient thing to do. 
11. The Historical Significance of the Expedition 

Thus ended the fruitless, but exciting, Mackenzie expedi- 

tion against the Quahadas; albeit the campaign was not with- 
out historic significance. The trail thus marked out by Mac- 
kenzie was doubtless during August and September, 1872, 

traveled by him in an expedition actoss the staked plains to 
New Mexico.'? He went over the same route in the expedi- 

tion in which he effected a permanent peace with the Indians 
in September, 1874. This trail served as a highway for travel 

from Fort Griffin to the Staked Plains.’ Therefore it can be 

seen that the soil which was afterwards within the limits of 

Crosby and Floyd Counties was hallowed with the blood of 

those who had begun the struggle which ultimately ended in 

exterminating the savage hordes and thus making the coun- 

try safe for prosperous settlements and a flourishing ctviliza- 

tion. 

12. Peace Treaty with Indians Futile 

Up to 1874 the fires of the Indian’s enmity towards the 

palefaces had been smouldering. The raids upon white settle- 

ments had been merely for the sake of plunder. Only small 

bands escaped from their reservations and formed moving vil- 

lages. Before the unrest and hostility of the Indians had 

reached the most acute stage efforts in the nature of peace 

treaties were resorted to. At Medicine Lodge, in Kansas, a 

party of peace commissioners met in 1867 with authority’* to 

treat with the main plains tribes. The commissioner and the 

Indian chiefs agreed on certain terms of treaty. The treaty 

contained one, provision to the effect that the Indians should 

keep themselves south of the Arkansas River and that the 

whites were to refrain from intruding on the Indian’s country. 

10 Robert C. Davis, Acting Adjutant General, Washington, D. C., to Marvin 

Jones, M. C., July 1, 1922. 
11 Mrs. H. C. Smith to Claude V. Hall, February 7, 1922. 
12 Olive K. Dixon, Life of Billy Dixon, 65. 
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This treaty, however, even had it been lasting, did not settle 
very definitely the Indian problem in the uninhabited area of 
Northwest Texas. From the standpoint of the Indian he 
could in good faith lay claim to the plains of Texas, New Mex- 

ico, and Colorado as his country, together with the buffaloes, 

antelopes, and wild horses that roamed thereon. Still treaties 

with the Indians were not usually observed with the utmost 
scrupulousness by either white men or red men. It was ex- 
tremely difficult for the Indians to live up to the letter and 
spirit of their treaties, for conditions were not favorable. The 

Indians were beset on all sides by a frontier population, and 

these people always had cause to harbor feelings of distrust and 
ill-will towards the Indians. Again, peace treaties could not 

be followed out with other than bad results, as the treaties 

encouraged the most daring chiefs to defy the Government. 
When the Government failed to strike back, or failed to act 
promptly, the Indians did not hesitate to go on raids. Captain 

Randolph B. Marcy, who served thirty years with the army on 

the border, observed that the Indians of the plains of the west 
did “not comprehend'* the motive which dictates an act of 

benevolence or charity,” and that, when these merciless free- 
booters misbehaved, the Government should strike them “‘such 

a blow as will be felt for a long time” and thus show them its 

superiority over them in war. The Government, however, did 

not follow a consistent and ageressive policy until 1871, when 

General W. T. Sherman, accompanied by Captain Marcy, 

visited Fort Richardson, Fort Belknap, and other points. On 

May 17, 1871, Marcy wrote in his journal on his way from 

Fort Belknap to Fort Richardson: 
This rich and beautiful section of country does not contain today as many white 
people as it did when I was stationed here eighteen years ago, and if the Indian 
marauders are not punished, the whole country seems to be in a fair way of 
becoming depopulated.14 

While on this trip General Sherman carefully studied 
frontier conditions in the southwest. He saw clearly the in- 
justice of the Government’s policy of allowing the Indians 

13 Marcy, The Prairie Traveller, 208. 
14 McConnell, Five Years a Cavalryman, 274. 
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to leave their reservations, and he at once set about to remedy 

the prevailing conditions. 

13. The Expedition Against the Indians in 1874 

In 1873 the commissioner of Indian affairs at Fort Sill de- 

manded the arrest and surrender of certain Comanche watriors 

who had been raiding in Texas.'* The Indians wholly ignored 

this order, and a band left immediately for the Staked Plains. 

To compel compliance would require a long campaign, and the 

order was suspended. This was the precursor of outbreaks far 

more serious to occur in due time. The following year about 

seven hundred warriors of the Fort Sill country grew hostile 

and, together with their families and possessions, left their 

reservations for the Texas Panhandle. Of these Quanah Park- 
er and Big Bow were Comanche chieftains, Lone Wolf was a 

leader of the Kiowas, and Little Robe and White Shield led the 

Cheyennes.'® On June 27, 1874, these Indians made a series 

of charges on a party of twenty-eight buffalo hunters gathered 

at Adobe Walls, a trading post on the Canadian River. Nearly 

thirty Indians were killed outright and about twice as many 

others were wounded.'? The battle of Adobe Walls was the 

immediate cause of the Government's waging a vigorous wat 

against the nomads who spurned the role of good Indians. 

Sherman as general-in-chief of the United States Army, re- 

enforced the commands at the various military posts on the 

frontier for the purpose of putting an end to the Indians’ at- 

tempting to lead the feral life outside of their reservations. 

Four columns of attack were ordered. Brevet Major General 

Miles moved south from Fort Leavenworth, Kansas; Colonel 

Davidson, west from Fort Sill, Indian Territory; Colonel Price, 

east from New Mexico; and Colonel Mackenzie, north from 

Fort Clark, Texas. The commands of Miles, Davidson, and 

Price met with more or less success, but they failed to discover 

the main camp of Indians that were roving at large in the 

15 Olive K. Dixon, Life of Billy Dixon, 67. 
16 Olive K. Dixon, Life of Billy Dixon, 208. 
17, Personal Recollections of Nelson A. Miles, 160. 
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Panhandle of Texas. Colonel Mackenzie’s band was the one 

that fought the decisive battle of this short but fierce Indian 

war, 

14. [he Battle of Palo Duro 

Colonel Mackenzie’s command consisted of seven troops 

of the Fourth Cavalry, five companies of the Tenth Infantry, 

thirty-five Seminole scouts, and a half-breed Mexican scout of 

the name of Johnson, who was familiar with the topography 
of the Panhandle country. Early in September this command 

reached Blanco Canyon and established a supply camp near 
Mount Blanco, where four years before Mackenzie had bivou- 

acked in his pursuit of the Quahadas. At this point Macken- 
zie received his supplies from Fort Griffin, one hundred eighty 

mules east. He chose this place because both wood and water 

abounded there." From the camp he sent out scouting parties 

in all directions in search of the Indians.'*° Failing to locate 
the Indians in the vicinity of Blanco Canyon, Mackenzie pro- 

ceeded North to the Quitaque country, near which he ascend- 

ed the Staked Plains and marched westward. Mackenzie, 

with the Seminole scouts and four of his troops, went ahead of 

his wagon train. A few days before, Johnson, the expert 

scout, had been sent out alone, and he located the Indians in 
Palo Duro Canyon, about thirty-five miles northwest of Mac- 

kenzie and his advancing troops. At ten o'clock on the even- 

ing of September 24 the full force of the Indians made an 
attack on Mackenzie’s troops encamped at the head of a small 
draw, a tributary of the Tule Canyon. The troops, waiting in 

expectation of the attack, delivered such an effective fire that 
the Indians had to fall back. Firing was kept up all night by 
both sides, but there were no casualties among Mackenzie's 

men. On the morning of September 25 Captain Boehm, who 

had distinguished himself in the Blanco Canyon fight four 

18 Mrs. H. C. Smith to Claude V. Hall, February 7, 1922. 
18b There are numerous sources of information pertaining to the Mackenzie campaign 

of 1874, but the account given by Chas. A. P. Hatfield, Colonel of the United Sons 
Army, retired, furnished by the Panhandle-Plains Historical Society, seems to be the best 
account published. Hatfield’s account is the document relied on—Claude V. Hall. 
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years before, led an attack against the Indians. Supposing 

that Boehm was followed by the remainder of the command, 

the six hundred Indians fled towards the southwest for the 

purpose of drawing the company away from the Indian camp 
in the Palo Duro Canyon. Mackenzie's command followed 

the retiring Indians leisurely, but that night everything 

changed. Under Johnson’s guidance, the command marched 
rapidly northwest for the Palo Duro Canyon. The Indians 

surmising that they had eluded their white foes, had returned 

to their camp in the Palo Duro Canyon. On the following 

morning Mackenzie's troops descended the Canyon, and the 

battle of Palo Duro Canyon, September 26, 1874, ensued. 

The Indians were settled in a snug winter camp. They had 

drawn ample provisions from the Indian Department of the 
Government. Mackenzie set fire to their camps and utterly 
destroyed their provisions, including flour, sugar, and dried 

buffalo meat. He captured seventeen hundred of their horses 

and drove them back to their camp at the head of Tule Can- 

yon. Iwo hundred fifty of these horses were given to the 

scouts and to the soldiers to replace horses worn out by the 

hardships of the campaign... The remaining fourteen hundred 

fifty were shot, as it was dangerous for Mackenzie to try to 

keep them. To render complete the extremity of the Indians 

was the aim. With their tepees, provisions, and horses gone, 

the Indians were unable to hazard the winter of the plains, 

and their only recourse was to return to their reservations in 

the Fort Sill Country. Mackenzie, after he was sure that the 

Indians were no longer a menace to the Panhandle of Texas, 

returned his command to Fort Concho, Fort Griffin, and other 

posts for the winter. When he reached Fort Griffin his horses 

were very weak.'? Many died before he reached Fort Griffin. 

In the following spring Mackenzie was in command at 

Fort Sill, where his positive course with the Indians kept them 

under complete subjection. Never since has there been an 

19 Mrs. H. C. Smith to Claude V. Hall, January 4, 1922. 
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Indian outbreak in this section, and no more campaigns 

against the Indians in Texas were necessary. Thus it was 

that the Indian frontier of Texas became a memory, and thus 

it was possible for the Staked Plains to become the growing 
and prosperous section that it 1s today. 



Chapter I] 

AS AN EXCLUSIVELY RANCH COUNTRY 

1. The Dawning of a New Day 

After the buffaloes were exterminated and the marauding 

tribes of Indians were driven back to their reservations, a new 

day in the history of Northwest Texas dawned. At one 

stroke the Legislature of Texas, on August 21, 1876, trans- 

formed the last vestiges of Young and Bexar Territories into 

fifty-four new counties. Capital and enterprise could now 

with safety and promise of success convert a vast region from 

a fallow condition into a productive state. The way was at 

last clear to usher in a period of cattle ranching on a large 

scale. 

Men of means and experience engaged in cattle ranching 

for the reasons that it was (1) profitable, with grass free, 

taxation of no consequence, and cost of operation compara- 

tively small; (2) a means for men to recoup their losses 1n- 

curred elsewhere by Indian raids, protracted droughts, or mis- 

management; and (3) a form of adventure, which men of 

the border country learned to love. There were two stages as 

well as two kinds of ranching that marked this period. The 

first stage was that of free water and free grass; the second, 

that of land enclosure and elaborate improvements. No spe- 

cific date marks the end of free range conditions and the be- 

ginning of the complex system under land ownership, with 

enclosures and improvements. While the simple method was 

receding, the complex was approaching. Neither could, how- 

ever, control the destinies of the country. Ranching might 

delay, but it could not block settlement on small tracts, town 

building, and law and order conditions. 

Previous to 1877 the only cattle to be found in the South 

Plains country were typical longhorns which had drifted into 

that region with buffalo herds. These cattle were without 

marks and brands,' and were five or six years old. In the sum- 

1 H.C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 
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mer of 1877 H. C. Smith drove into Blanco Canyon five or six 
hundred head of cattle with which to stock the Tasker Ranch 
which was being established. When Smith located the Tas- 
ker Ranch at Mount Blanco, Tasker agreed to lease the East- 
land County school lands in Floyd and Crosby Counties. He 
failed to do this, and Smith himself took up the lease, which 
Wiley and Coggins sub-leased from him the following year. 
Wiley and Coggins stocked this range with a big herd of cat- 
tle from New Mexico, but two years later they shifted their 
cattle to the Wolf Creek country in the breaks east of Mount 
Blanco. 

In 1879 numerous cow outfits located in the South Plains 
Country. Since no land promoter owned the land he grazed, 
it was necessary that cattlemen should establish certain rules 
and customs for their guidance. Statutory laws and the means 
for their enforcement were too remote to avail landless ranch- 
men. These people enforced their range rights by means of 
powder and lead. Each ranchman established his range by 
occupation, and other ranchmen acknowledged? his posses- 
sion, though his cattle ran at large promiscuously. The coun- 
try was open. The ranchmen settled upon a range where 
wood and permanent water were accessible. There were no 
wells, for they were expensive, and, besides, little was known 
of the underground water supply. The owner put his cattle 
under his mark and brand, turned them loose on his range, 
and saw to it by periodical round-ups that they did not 
become entirely lost. For a clear understanding of the 
conditions under which a free ranch existed a brief history 
of the Matador Ranch in its early days is herewith presented*> 

1. The Matador Ranch Established 

In the summer of 1879 five men established the Matador 
Cattle Company. They were: A. M. Britton, of Fort Worth, 

2 H. C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, ie 
3 Roger M. Basset in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 
sb The writer is under obligations to Harry H. Campbell and his mother for the 

information regarding the early Ertcep of the Matador Ranch. This information was 
communicated under date of October 22, 1921. 
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1415213 
as president; S. W. Lomax, of Fort Worth, as secretary and 

treasurer; H. H. Campbell, of Ellis County, as manager; John 

Nicholds, president of the City National Bank of Fort Worth; 

and a Mr. Cata, of New York. Each one subscribed ten 

thousand dollars. This Company adopted “50M” as a brand 

for both cattle and horses, but upon purchasing a large herd 

of cattle of the V brand from Tom Dawson, the son-in-law 

of John Nicholds, this brand was thenceforth adopted as the 

company s cattle brand, while the “5oM”, signifying fifty 

thousand, the original capital stock of the company, remain- 

ed the brand for the horses. 

The Matador Cattle Company received the Dawson herd 

on the Double Mountain Fork of the Brazos, and on De- 

cember 25, 1879, turned the cattle loose on the Matador 

Range. These cattle were from South Texas and of inferior 

grade. In the parlance of cattlemen, it was said that the cow- 

boys in charge of a herd of cattle were sold with the cattle 

when the entire brand changed hands was true in this in- 

stance. John Smith, now of Roaring Springs, and J. H. Har- 

rison, at present a citizen of Panhandle, quitted the service of 

Dawson, when he sold the V herd, and became Matador 

cowboys. Harrison became sub-manager for H. H. Camp- 

bell, and Smith was noted as the company’s range boss. Smith 

had charge of trail outfits when the company sent its two- 

year-old steers north each year in May to be matured on the 

Montana and Wyoming ranges. Smith made, all told, about 

fifteen of these trips. His first trip for the Matadors was in 

1885, when the home range was becoming overstocked.* He 

had previously made a trip in 1876 to Dakota with contract 

beeves for the Standing Rock Indians, who participated in the 

Custer massacre, which Smith first learned about when he 

crossed the Big Missouri. 

The next purchases for the Matador range were as fol- 

lows: (1) in May, 1880, a man named Berry, in Taylor 

County, sold a herd of inferior grade, but the Matadors 

4 J. H. Smith to Claude V. Hall, February 15, 1922. 
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obtained no cowboys with this purchase; (2) in May, 1881, 
Wiley and Coggins sold the Jingle Bob herd of Durhams, 
together with the range occupied in the southwest part of 
Motley County. Jingle Bob was the name given this herd: 
because of the manner in which the earmark was cut. No 
men went to the Matadors in this transaction: (3) in 1882 
the next cattle purchased were from Lemonds and Houston, 
of Gonzales County. These were typical South Texas cattle 
of that time. They were delivered by Lemonds and Houston. 
The Matadors acquired the services of Jim Livingston and 
Morgan Livingston in this purchase. 

The Matador Cattle Company’s first acquisition of land 
was a half section claim held by Joe Browning, a brother of 
the late James N. Browning of Amarillo. This land was 
known as Ballard Springs, and is at the site of the present Mat- 
ador Ranch headquarters. It is presumed that Browning was 
using this land for a hog ranch, for many hogs ranged in the 
shinneries where, for a number of years thereafter, the Mata- 
dor men killed them for lard. 

In the spring of 1880 Hall’s Ranch which occupied the 
range Just east of the caprock, in Floyd and Motley counties, 
was moved south, and the range thus vacated became that of 
the Matador Cattle Company. When Hall’s ranch changed 
locations, three of its hands, J. D. Starks, now of Floydada, 
John Beasley, residing at present at Merkel, and Jeff Harkey, 
now living at Dickens, became a part of the Matador Cattle 
Company’s working force. The following year George 
Walker joined the Matador ranks. Each of these four men 
acted as range or trail boss. Among the old-time Matador 
cowboys were Frank Leonard, now of Matador, and Van 
Leonard, now a resident of Floydada. 

Until 1882, when the Texas and Pacific Railway reached 
Colorado City, the Matador Ranch obtained its supplies from 
Fort Worth, three hundred miles east. The distance to 
Colorado was 130 miles due south. The freighting for the 
Matador Ranch was by wagons drawn by ox teams. It 
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requires no strain of the imagination to perceive that these 

trips were usually fraught with vexatious delays. 

3. Some Early Incidents in Motley County 

The first house built on the Matador Ranch was of lum- 

ber freighted from Fort Griffin, in Shackelford County. 

When the lumber arrived one plank was lacking to complete 

the wall. The shortage was covered by making wide spaces 

between the planks. 

The early days at the Matador Ranch were not wholly 

without incidents, ofttimes interesting as well as sometimes 

ludicrous. It takes all kind of people to make a world; like 

wise it takes many kinds of events to make gossip. Mar- 

riages and festivals were celebrated, births and deaths took 

lace. 

‘ The first ranch festival was given by Manager Campbell 

and his wife in the spring of 1882. As a matter of fact, a 

cowboys’ ball was a feature of the occasion. Six ladies were 

in attendance. They came from other counties. Each 

could have ten cowboys as her partners. Thereafter it was 

the established practice to give the cowboys a ball and supper 

each winter. It was looked forward to with great joy and an- 

ticipation. Young ladies from a distance of one hundred miles 

or more attended. Ms. J..L. Moore, now of Spur, Mrs. J. D. 

Mortiss, at present of Matador, and Mrs. J. B Bartley and 

Mrs. J. D. Starks, now living at Floydada, were belles of 

some of the Matador ranch festivals. Judge and Mrs. Camp- 

bell, upon leaving the ranch in the winter of 1890-1891, gave 

the cowboys a farewell ball which lasted two days and nights. 

The first two deaths in Motley County were not on the 

Matador Ranch. In October, 1877, a couple of elderly people 

named Council, were keeping camp for Joe Browning at 

Ballard Springs. Mts. Council became entangled in a rope 

attached to a vicious yearling. She died in a few days from 

the injuries suffered. Lumber for a casket was not forth- 

coming. Goods boxes at Tepee City were obtained, but the 

material contained in these boxes was inadequate. A box 

[ 37 ] 



large enough to contain only a portion of her body was the 
best that could be provided, and she was interred with her 
feet projecting out of the improvised coffin. The other known 
death was in July, 1879, near Tepee City. A party of for- 
tune seekers from Dallas were on their way to Cripple Creek, 
Colorado. Teepee City was a general store for the conveni- 
ence of buffalo hunters and surveying parties. While in 
camp near there some rustlers ran into the camp with the in- 
tention of robbing the travelers. A man named Anderson 
was of the traveling party. In attempting to run from the 
rustlers he was shot in the heel. The shot was supposedly in 
the nature of a prank. Lockjaw set up, and the wounded man 
died. His remains were buried at Tepee City, but later they 
were removed to Dallas. 

The first white child born in Motley County was Harry 
H. Campbell, the son of Judge and Mrs. H. H. Campbell. 
This event took place May 15, 1881, on the Matador Ranch. 
The attending physician was from Fort Griffin. He traveled 
more than one hundred fifty miles, and arrived at the ranch 

on the 5th day of May. This son is still residing in Motley 

County. In the fullest measure, he is a substantial citizen. 

No worthy enterprise goes without his support, moral and 

financial. His family consists of a wife, a daughter, and two 

sons. His home is one of genial hospitality. His inheritance, 

natural and social, render it impossible for him to have the 
slightest semblance of littleness. Good blood and ranch life 
cannot produce a social misfit. 

4. An Appreciation of the Campbells. 

No history of the section embracing the Matador range 

would be complete without respectful mention of Judge H. H. 
Campbell, the first manager and one of the founders of the 

Matador Ranch. Although he was born in Cumberland 
County, North Carolina, he was in every other respect a one 

hundred per cent Texan. He came to Texas with his parents 
in 1840, while Texas was yet a Republic. For six years he 
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resided in Walker County, and from 1860 to 1879 Ellis 

County was his home. In 1860 Ellis County was on the 

frontier. Home supplies were hauled from Houston. In the 

“War of Sections’, as Henry Watterson so aptly termed our 

great internecine strife, Judge Campbell, for four years, ren- 

dered unfaltering service in the Confederate cause. In early 

life he evinced a strong inclination for the cattle industry. As 

a boy he began buying cattle in Central Texas for delivery in 

the markets of New Orleans, Louisiana, and Dodge City, 

Kansas. His schooling was limited, but his great common 

sense and close application to his pursuit enabled him to mas- 

ter the details of stock growing. His ambition was to found a 

large ranch for the breeding of cattle. Before this was done, 

it fell to his lot to drive a herd of cattle to California. In 

making this journey he passed through Western Texas, South- 

ern New Mexico, and Arizona, and availed himself of the op- 

portunity to search for his ideal of a breeding country. On the 

return trip he crossed Utah, Nebraska, Kansas, and Indian 

Territory. He finally decided upon the country lying between 

the Brazos on the south and the Red River on the north, and 

about twenty-five miles east of the caprock of the Staked 

Plains. Therefore the founding of the Matador Ranch was 

not a merely fortuitous event. In 1891 Judge Campbell re- 

signed from the company because he did not approve of its 

opposition to the settlement of the country by small farmers. 

He took an active part in the organization of Motley County, 

and was called to setve as its first county judge, a position he 

filled for five years. He died in rg1t. 

Mrs. L. B. Campbell, wife of H. H. Campbell, was born 

in Navarro County, but spent much of her childhood in Ellis 

County. All her life her habitat has been on the frontier. 

Her nearest neighbors, on the Matador Ranch, were Mts. 

A. B. Cooper of Tepee City, and Mrs. H. C. Smith, of 

Mount Blanco, and the distances were so great that neighborly 

visits could not be frequently interchanged. But Mrs. Camp- 

bell cordially supported her husband’s choice of a home. Hers 
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had been a life spent in the performance of womanly duties, 
in the rearing of her son, in adorning home life, in ministering 
to the sick, in encouraging the despondent, and in perusing a 
wide range of literature. Mrs. Campbell, at all times, kept a 
stock of medicines, bandages, and other supplies for treating 
the ills that befall man and beast. She did not set herself up 
as an expert diagnostician, but she was so good at making 
guesses from symptoms that had she passed as a physician 
with a dozen diplomas she would have scored as a successful 
practitioner. She measured out medicine to the sick, set and 
bandaged limbs and collar bones, took stitches in cuts, and on 
one occasion she actually cut out a bullet from a wound. 
Through her influence, the Matador Ranch Company paid a 
Methodist minister to preach once a month to the cowboys. 
Her extensive reading has given her a great fund of informa- 
tion and a fine command of English. A number of years she 
was postmaster at Matador. In recent years she has lost her 
sight, but she has so accustomed herself to taking a cheerful 
view of all situations that she bears her misfortune with won- 
derful fortitude. 

5. Other Ranches Founded 

From 1879 to 1884 there was great activity in the estab- 
lishment of ranches where the Indians and the buffaloes had 
but yesterday roamed. In 1879 Will and John Slaughter 
founded what was afterwards known as the Half Circle S 
Ranch? in the southern part of Crosby County. Three years 
later George Edwards, Cass Edwards, and W. T. Petty located 
a ranch just east of the Slaughters. In 1883 the Kyle and 
Dalton Brothers ranch was located in the southwestern part 
of Crosby County. In 1883 George Wolffarth, Bill Sanders, 
Van Sanders, Joe Sherman, and John Hensley came out from 
Jack County and located a ranch on McDonald Creek and the 
Salt Fork in Crosby County. The same year Sam Gohlson, 
Bill Moore, and an Illinoisan started the LANG Ranch on the 
Yellow House in Lubbock County, and about this time the 
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Kidwells located the KID Ranch farther up the Yellow House. 
East of the LANG Ranch was the Holmes sheep ranch, north 

of which was the 22 Ranch, managed by Felix Franklin. At 

this period Jim Baker located the famous Quitaque Ranch in 
the northeast corner of Floyd County. By 1884 the establish- 

ment of cattle ranches had passed its crest, and the big con- 

cerns began to absorb the small ones. 

In 1883 D. W. Owens and C. W. Marseilles moved from 
a point three miles west of the present site of Amarillo a drove 

of 5,000 sheep to a place within thirty miles North of 

Colorado for the purpose of selling them. M. V. Duncan 
was in the employ of Owens and Marseilles. Marseilles, 

Duncan, and some Mexicans drove the herd of sheep in a 

leisurely way through the present site of Canyon, reached 

Runningwater Draw in the Northwestern part of Hale Coun- 
ty, followed Runningwater Draw down to the head of Blanco 

Canyon. They did not find a single habitation until they 

reached the home of H. C. Smith at Mount Blanco. There 

was no market for the sheep at Colorado, and they were driven 

back to Blanco Canyon.® Owens and Marseilles located a 

sheepcamp here below the Mackenzie Crossing. Duncan tre- 

turned that fall to his home in Montague County, but re- 

turned in the spring of 1884 and bought an interest in the 

Owens and Marseilles sheep business, which continued until 

the spring of 1886. Ed Duncan, a brother of W. V. Duncan, 

~ was in the employ of this concern as sheep herder. In those 

days it was quite easy for one to become lost on the Staked 

Plains. The sheep herders built shee monuments of —— 

buffalo bones to guide them back to ranch headquarters when 

they followed the sheep far out of sight of any other objects. fas 

In 1884 the LO A people, the Matador Cattle Company, 

the Espuela Cattle Company, which owned the Spur Ranch, 

practically monopolized the cattle business of this section.°® 

4b The information pertaining to the establishment of the cattle ranches herein 

listed was furnished by H. C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review of February 28, 1912. 

5 W . V. Duncan to Claude V. Hall, December 13, 1921. 

6 H. C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 
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A change in the ranch business was being forced in two ways. 

First, the avarice of the big concerns cast covetous eyes upon 

the land used by their little neighbors. Second, the realiza- 

tion that the open range was enormously uneconomical slowly 

dawned upon the powerful companies. Following a blizzard 

the plains would frequently be strewn with thousands of car- 

casses of the cattle which had fled before it with nothing to 
check their flight.?_ Then a scramble for the purchase of land 

set in; and there was a lean period of large expenditures and 

curtailed profits. Competition became sharp. In the struggle 

for existence, indeed, only the mightiest survived. 

6. The Two Buckle as a Type of Land-Owned Ranch 

The sketch of the Matador Ranch, as already set forth, 

was now illustrative of the free range ranch and its operation. 

It is now in order to present the account of a land-owned ranch 

with elaborate improvements. The Kentucky Cattle Com- 

pany’s venture in Crosby and Dickens counties, strikingly 

typifies such a ranch. In 1884 some bankers and other busi- 

ness men in Louisville® created the Kentucky Cattle Company, 

with ample capital for operating on a gigantic scale. It acquir- 

ed 160,000 acres, partly in Blanco Canyon, and stocked the 

land with cattle under the Two Buckle Brand. On its land 
the company placed strong fences, drilled wells and set up 

windmills, and erected stone buildings. The ranch was operat- 

ed successfully under the management of Claude Tilford and 

Major Johnson,® both of Kentucky. During the ten years it 
owned and operated the Two Buckle Ranch, the company 

made some serious attempts at farming.'® It put five hundred 

acres in cultivation, but the result was disappointing. In its 

operation there was no lack of enthusiasm; however, expert- 

ence with ranching in that section of the country, the thin 

most needed was lacking, and the enterprise unavoidably 

ran aground. In 1886 this ranch rendered 12,000 head of 

7 H. C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 
8 H.C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 
9 Roger M. Basset in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 
10 H. C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 
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cattle for taxes, but in 1894 only 4300 remained." In 1895 

the Two Buckle property was leased to Snead and Perryman, 

of Dallas, and during the following year the lower part of the 

pasture was sold to Hudson and Shultz, and the upper part 

was leased to the Corlitos Company of El Paso. Not long 

thereafter the Corlitos owners opened for sale their land 

through competitive bidding. The C. B. Live Stock Com- 

pany ' obtained it with the highest bid, which was $1.56 

pet acre. 

puine taabarL Ranch in Floyd County 

Mention has been made of the open range sheep ranch 

established in Blanco Canyon, in Floyd County, by Owens, 

Marseilles, and Duncan from 1883 to 1886. The year pre- 

ceding the location of this ranch M. V. Blacker Hata va vs L 

Tisdall, both of Irish birth, established the H Bar L Ranch 

lower down the canyon near the Crosby County line. A little 

later two other Irishmen, Guy Orme and Ross A. Smythe, 

became connected with this enterprise. All four were British 

subjects. They raised both sheep and cattle. They contin- 

ued their residence in Floyd County until after the County's 

organization in 18go.'"* This ranch is now the property of 

Thomas Montgomery, and is known as the IT M— Ranch, 

on which cattle are still grown. Blacker, one of the founders 

of the H Bar L Ranch, was educated in British schools, and 

the traditional conservatism of his country characterized his 

demeanor while a resident of Floyd County. Upon his return 

to Ireland he married the daughter of Lord Douglass, who, 

having no son and wishing to perpetuate his name and title, 

provided that the name of his son-in-law should be legally 

changed to M. V. Blacker Douglass, “by which name,” as an 

affidavit ' recites, “I am now known where I reside at Belle- 

vere Park, Killiney, County of Dublin, Kingdom of Great 

Britain and Ireland.” M. V. Blacker Douglass, who suc- 

11 H. C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 

12 Roger M. Basset in The. Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 

13 Arthur B. Duncan to Claude V. Hall, February 8, 1922. 

14 Deed Records of Floyd County, XI, 491. 
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ceeded to the title of Lord Douglass upon the demise of his 
father-in-law, owned twelve and one half sections of Floyd 
County land, which he sold in the early part of 1905. 
8. C. U. Connellee and Charles Goodnight 

C. U. Connellee, of Eastland, established a small cattle 
ranch where Crawfish Draw empties into Blanco Canyon.'® 
The cow camp was in Crosby County, but the range was 
partly in Floyd County. Connellee had considerable acquaint- 
ance with this section of Western Texas, as he was a land sur- 
veyor, a locator of land certificates, and a business man of 
diversified interests. He was educated in private schools and 
at Transylvania University of Lexington, Kentucky. He 
came to Texas in 1874."* In 1875 he became a member of the 
firm of Dougherty, Connellee and Ammerman, whose ‘“‘busi- 
ness was to trade and sell land certificates and locate them for 
the owners.”'? He was a member of the Texas Legislature 
from 1888 to 1892. He maintained his ranch on Crawfish 
Draw only a few years. 

The Goodnight High Grade Cattle Company in the early 
eighties established the “F’” Ranch in the northeast corner of 
Floyd County. This company, in keeping with its title, has 
introduced into this country different strains of blooded cat- 
tle, including Durhams and Herefords. Charles Goodnight, 
the manager of the JA Ranch on the Palo Duro Canyon, in 
Armstrong County, has been closely identified with North- 
western [Texas since 1856. Born in Illinois in 1836, he came 
to Texas with his widowed mother,'® two young sisters, and a 
brother. He worked upon farms in Milam and McLennan 
counties, and paid for the first pair of oxen he owned b 
splitting rails. In 1856 Charles Goodnight and J. W. Sheek 
moved some cattle to Johnson County where they wintered. 
The following year they moved their cattle to Palo Pinto 

15 C. U. Connellee to Claude V. Hall, December 12, 1921. 
16 Daniel, Types of Successful Men of 18809, 303: 
17 Transcript of Record, Smither vs. Smith, U. §. Circuit Court of Appeals, Fifth 

Circuit, 1908, 74. 
18 Daniel, Personnel of the Texas State Government, With Sketches of Distinguished 

Texans, 1887, 217. 
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County, which had then not more than twenty-five white in- 

habitants. When the Civil War broke out in 1861, Good- 

night joined Curretson’s company of Texas Rangers for the 
protection of the frontier. As a scout and a guide he served 

the Confederacy for four years. When not in active service 

he was stationed at Fort Belknap. While in the frontier serv- 
ice he moved about three thousand cattle to that section after- 

wards incorporated into Shackelford County. Most of these 
wete lost because of Indian depredations. In 1866 he formed 

a partnership with Oliver Loving. These two determined to 

drive some cattle to New Mexico or Colorado. On this drive 
they went up the Pecos River four hundred miles, and contin- 

ued the trip through New Mexico and Colorado, and finally 

reached near the foot of the Black Hills, the present site of 

Cheyenne. The way thus blazed out was known as the 

Goodnight Trail. A second trip was attempted in 1867, but 

while on the Clear Fork of the Brazos, as preparations were be- 

ing made for the drive, the Indians made a series of attacks, 

with the result that some men were wounded and about three 

hundred cattle lost. In New Mexico on this drive, Loving, 

Goodnight’s partner, was mortally wounded in an attack from 

the Indians. Goodnight resided at Fort Sumner, New Mex- 

ico, until 1871, when he married Miss Mary Ann Dyer, 

daughter of General Dyer, of Jackson, Tennessee. From his 

marriage until 1875 he lived at Pueblo, Colorado, where he 

engaged in banking, stock-raising, and farming by irrigation. 

Financial disasters struck him during the panic that began in 

Logan 1876 he returned to the section of Texas which he 

had traversed as scout and guide. He formed a partnership 

with John G. Adair, of Ireland. From the ranch in the Palo 

Duro Canyon the nearest group of white men was at Fort 

Elliott, one hundred miles away, and the nearest white settle- 

ment was over two hundred miles. Mrs. Goodnight and Mrs. 

Willingham were the only women on the ranch in 1877." 

Both were women of unusual refinement and intelligence. 

19 Olive K. Dixon, Life of Billy Dixon, 297. 
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Mrs. Willingham’s husband was afterwards manager of the 

Turkey Track Ranch in the North Panhandle Country. 

9. Western People Highly Intelligent and Cosmopolitan 

It is remarkable how cosmopolitan Northwest Texas was 

in the days when it was a purely stock-raising country. The 

few people who were on the ranches came from all directions. 

A large proportion were from the British Isles. Scotch Noble- 

men visited the Matador and other ranches in which they had 

an interest. Lord Adair, the owner of the JA Ranch,?° died 

in this country. 

Some might be inclined to marvel at the unusual standard 
of intelligence that prevailed among ranchmen and their wives. 

But it should be borne in mind that only people of much 

initiative and mental acumen could brave the vicissitudes of a 

country so new and untried and so completely adapt them- 
selves as to achieve success. Coupled with native ability these 

people had much time to devote to reading. Most of them 
possessed respectable libraries. 

10. [he Clash Between Little and Big Cattle Interests 

The change from the open range to the enclosed pasture 

was attended with no little friction. Too many interests were 

disturbed. The cattlemen of limited means resented the ag- 

gressive encroachment of barbed wire upon free grass and tried 
to resist their oppressors. The popular wrath against large en- 

closures was not wholly without justification, for they included 
much public land. The owner of a small tract within was 
without ingress to and egress from his possession. Naturally 
the worst was to be expected. From 1881 to 1883 was a period 
of fence cutting. The owners of large fences had great diffi- 
culty in preserving their property. It was almost impossible 
to apprehend the fence cutters. Besides, the statutory laws 
did not afford an adequate remedy either in the regulation of 
enclosures or the punishment of the fence cutters. Again, 

there had grown up, in the language of ex-Governor O. M. 
Roberts, “‘a sort of common law established by custom on the 

20 Roger M. Basset in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 
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frontier that those who have undergone the hardships and pri- 

vations of frontier life have a right to appropriate to their own 

use the grass and timber on large tracts owned by people at a 

distance.”?' Attitudes thus established during free range ex- 

periences were slow in giving way before new and different 

conditions. To deal with a really critical situation Governor 

Ireland called a special session of the Legislature on January 8, 

1884, and submitted this vexed question, with others, for 

consideration. The Legislature passed a law that all public 

roads must be left open; that every three miles of fence must 

contain a gate; that private owners whose lands were enclosed 

j 

| 
must be fully tedressed: and that the wanton destruction of | 

fences constituted a felony to be punished with from one to} 
: : : ° ° e - | 

five years imprisonment in the State penitentiary.” This) 

legislation served as a sort of palliative, and the sentiment that | 

had been engendered ran its course. New sets of experience 

ultimately produced sentiments to fit the changes wrought. 

It came to be recognized that the fence had come to stay and 

that free grass was a memory of the defunct past. 

21 Wooten, editor, A Comprebensive History of Texas, II, 261. 

22 Gammel, Laws of Texas, IX, 550, 566, 569. 
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Chapter IV 

MOVEMENTS PREPARING THE WAY 
FOR SETTLEMENT 

1. The Coming of the Settler of Limited Resources 

In the heyday of the cattlemen it was thought that the 
Staked Plains would never sustain populous communities. 
According to the conception of the cattle-raisers, this country 
was nothing else, and never could be anything else, than a 
veritable waste. To convert a purely stock-raising country 
into an agricultural region was, to the rancher, as unthinkable 
as for a leopard to change his spots. The down-and-outer who 
sought a cheap home in the West was both a rainbow chaser 
and an intolerable nuisance. Thus it followed that those who 
did come and were able to remain were men of more than ord- 
inary fortitude and persistence. The welcome they received 
at the hands of the stockmen already on the front did not con- 
tribute to their mental peace and bodily security. But these 

restless and resistless souls insisted on obtruding themselves 
into the midst of the ranch people. They exemplified the 
proverbial spirit of the Western pioneers. Their Americanism 
quailed at no threats, and they could not be intimidated. 

Once convinced of their rights, they did not fear to assert 

them, even at the point of a gun, if need be. In fact, these 

first settlers, while they came with peace in their hearts, usu- 

ally equipped themselves with means to repel their adver- 
saries. It was written in the Book of Fate that just as the 
Staked Plains had ceased to be an exclusively Indian country it 
would likewise cease to be an exclusively ranch country. The 
coming of the small stock-farmer was inevitable, and his re- 
maining soon passed the stage of conjecture. 

There were various factors which occasioned the coming 
of the stock-farmer, namely, (1) homestead of one hundred 

sixty acres out of the public domain' could be located at a 

nominal cost in fees; (2) barbed wire, because of its cheap- 

1 Revised Statutes of Texas, 1895, Art. 4160, et seq. 
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ness and convenience, went a great way towards enabling the 

settlers to improve a home in a country so isolated; (3) love 

of novelty and adventure, together with the migratory instinct 

prevalent in human nature, prompted many to try their for- 

tunes in the West; (4) in the old, settled sections many, de- 

spairing of owning homes and gaining a competency for old 

age, saw in the West a land of opportunities; (5) there 

were those who were inured to pioneer conditions in sec- 

tions which were fast becoming fixed and staid and who 

longed to live again close to nature; and (6) State lands set 

aside for the benefit of the State School Fund were on the 

market at prices considered very low and on terms obviously 

liberal and alluring, as the school land legislation hereinafter 

set forth will show. To impose obstructions to the coming 

of actual settlers was indeed equivalent to defying the laws of 

nature or interfering with the course of a popular craze. 

2. The Evolution of School Land Laws 

A review of the school land legislation throws much light 

on the settlement of the Staked Plains as well as the country 

adjacent thereto. Laws concerning school land underwent 

a remarkable evolution from 1874 to TOQ7) Lials evident that 

the Texas lawmakers of a generation ago were not sufficiently 

prophetic to divine the conditions under which the West 

would reach a high state of development. 

An act approved April 2A, 1074; provided that an ap- 

plicant might purchase a tract of one hundred sixty acres of 

school land by the payment of one tenth of its assessed value 

and by obligating himself to pay ten percent interest and 

one-tenth of the principal on the first day of March in each 

year until the entire obligation was extinguished. This, how- 

ever, was not all the law required of the settler. He further 

obligated himself to settle upon and improve within twelve 

months the land he purchased, if he had not already done so. 

This act did not, as it could not, work well either for the school 

fund or for settlers, and after ample time to see that such 

2 Gammel, Laws of Texas, VIII, 144. 
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legislation was abortive, the legislature passed an amendatory 

act, approved February 25, 1877, extending ih ten years the 

payment of the principal of the purchase price.* But this af- 

forded no perceptible relief for the purchaser, as he still had 
to pay annually ten per cent interest on deferred payments. A 

tract so small as one hundred sixty acres was found to be en- 
tirely too small to attract purchasers. The legislature, re- 

posed two years longer before it could see its blunder, and then 
it repeated its mistake with a slight modification. The new 

* approved July 8, 1879, provided for the sale of six hun- 

dred forty acres, but almost on the same terms as provided in 

the previous act; however, in case the school land was classi- 

fied as suitable only for grazing purposes the purchaser could 

obtain as much as three sections. This enabled him to buy a 
larger body of land, but it in no wise lightened the purchase 

price, and this was the fundamental obstacle to the success of 
the enterprise, a discovery which did not dawn upon an ever- 

changing, but desultory, body of law makers until a number 

of years had elapsed. 

For a long time the public domain in the West was te- 

garded as only of nominal value, except when school lands 

were put on the market. Lavish grants had been made in or- 

der primarily that the more populous eastern settlements 
might receive material improvements. In 1856 the legislature 
had passed a law,° providing that for every mile of railroad 

constructed in Texas sixteen sections of land—ten thousand, 
two hundred forty acres—should be granted to the company, 
not to mention grants for other purposes. This law remained 

in effect until its repeal by the Legislature, April 22, 1882.° 
Trading and selling land certificates and locating them for’ 

their owners was a lucrative business for many land surveyors 

and speculating firms. Finally the Legislature awoke to the 

3 Gammel, Laws of Texas, IX, ‘ag 
4 Gammel, Laws of Texas, IX, 23 
s Gammel, Laws of Texas, III, 5s. 
6 Gammel, Laws of Texas, IX, 2 
7 C. U. Connellee’s testimony in “Satie vs. Smith ,et al., in Circuit Court of 

the United States for the Northern District of Texas, 1908, Transcript of Record. 
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fact that the policy of liberal grants had fulfilled its aim and 

that the time had come to call a halt. Then was passed 
the act repealing all laws granting lands or land certificates 
“to any person, corporation, or company for the construction 

of railroads, canals, and ditches.” Thus at one fell stroke 

the legislature ended what had become largely the despoila- 

tion of the public domain. 

One year later the legislature made a somewhat sweeping 

change in the laws authorizing the sale and lease of public 

school lands. This law was approved April 12, ISO309 alt 

created a land board, composed of the elected heads of the 

State departments, and fixed a minimum price of two dollars 

per acre for lands classified as fit only for grazing purposes; 

provided that one-thirtieth of the principal should be paid 
upon filing for the land purchased, with interest at five per 

centum per annum; that sales should be effected through 

competitive bids; that public school lands should be leased at 

not less than four cents per acre per annum, and for a period 

not exceeding ten years; and that purchasers should have the 

preference over leasers, when there was application for the 

same land for both. The land board was charged with the 
duty of classifying and appraising the public school lands, but 

no money was appropriated by the legislature for the accom- 
plishment of these ends. At first the land board made classi- 

fications based on affidavits of parties residing in the county 

where the lands were located, and the affidavits were uniformly 
to the effect that the lands filed on were unfit for agricultural 
purposes, and false classifications resulted, as a maximum of 

seven sections? of land classified as “fit only for grazing” 

could be purchased by a single applicant. To shut off frauds and 
to conserve the public interest the land board treated all land 
offered for sale as agricultural. By so ruling, the board allowed 

only one section to be sold to an actual settler in case of sale, 

e Gammel, Laws of Texas, IX, 39". 
9 Report of the Attorney General of Texas, 1886, 18. 
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and it thereby kept the letter and spirit of the law from being 

violated. 

3/0 be School Land Enclosure Act 

The provision relative to the leasing of the public school 

lands was defective in failing to prescribe adequate penalties 
against those who grazed or enclosed these lands without leas- 

ing them from the State. To cure this defect, the Governor 

a year later submitted the subject to a called session of the 
legislature, whereupon was passed an act, approved February 

7, 1884, prohibiting the unlawful fencing or enclosing of the 

lands'® of another, or lands belonging to the public schools, 

the university, and the asylums, and provided penalties for the 

violation of the same. This act was the occasion of much fric- 

tion. Asa matter of fact, among the large stock-raising 1 inter- 

ests there was a pronounced sentiment against the payment 
of fees for the use of the State’s school, university, and asylum 

lands." While there was no more justification for the use of 
ublic lands for stock raising than for corn or cotton growing, 

still the cattlemen felt emboldened to demand free land and 
to defy the land enclosure act. According to the Attorney 

General’s report for 1885-1886, there were numerous viola- 
tions of this act by the big ranch interests in general and a 

persistent determination on their part that it should be a dead 
letter. The JA Ranch was perhaps the most conspicuous in 
this practice because of the notoriety gained as defendant in 

the district court at Clarendon in July, 1886. The land board 
sent out special representatives of the General Land Office to 

investigate violations of this law. They were known as grass 

commissioners, and were regarded as interlopers. In 188 
the General Land Office sent out George M. Swink, of Dal- 
las, as grass commissioner for the country embracing Crosby, 

Floyd, Donley and other counties, to force payment for the 

use of school lands by ranchmen.'* He succeeded to some ex- 

10 Gammel, Laws of Texas, IX, 600. 
11 H. C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 
12 H. C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 
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tent where the State lands were fenced, but where they were 

not fenced the stockmen refused to pay, and, in the words of 

H. C. Smith, “declared that if the State wanted to protect its 

grass it would have to fence the land.” In determining the 

acreage of school land enclosed Swink drove over the country 

in a buckboard, with a rodometer attached to a wheel. After 

calculating the number of acres enclosed he would mark off 

the alternate sections as school land and demand payment 

for their use. He devoted two years to this work, and his ef- 

forts had the effect of putting violations of the public land en- 
closure law before the grand jury of the district court of Don- 
ley County. 

In the Thirty-First Judicial District, composed of Floyd, 
Donley, and twenty-seven other counties, including and over- 

lapping the Panhandle, where over 6,000,000 actes of school 

land were situated. This was about one-fourth the entire 
school land acreage of the State. Of the 6,000,000 actes in 

the Thirty-First Judicial District, 1,500,000 actes were re- 

ported by Grass Commissioner Swink as unlawfully enclosed 

and occupied by cattlemen."* John D. Templeton, just before 
the expiration of his term of office as Attorney General, in his 

report to the Governor, set forth a detailed statement of what 

he described as “farcial judicial proceedings carried on under 
the professed pretext, of course, of punishing the enclosure of 

these (school) lands, but in fact for the real purpose of secur- 
ing immunity against punishment by preordained verdicts of 
not guilty.” '* The Attorney General made bold to declare 
that the “‘sentiment hostile to paying for the use of school 
lands controls in the election of the officers, judicial and oth- 

ers;” and that this sentiment “goes, doubtless, with the juries 

in the jury box, and it is present with the grand jurors in their 
deliberations, and while the judge may preside over the court, 

this sentiment presides over the judge in at least one district 
in this State, and that is a district wherein a very large part of 

13 Report of the Attorney General of Texas, 1885-1886, 20. 
14 Report of the Attorney General of Texas, 1885-1886, 20. 
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the most desirable school land is situated;”’ that is, the Thirty- 
First. Ihe Attorney General justified his assertions by reciting 
that at the January term, 1886, at Clarendon, the grand jury 

presented indictments against five of its own members. The 

land enclosure act had been in effect eighteen months. Three 
months of unlawful enclosure constituted a separate offense. 
To cover the whole period of violation six indictments were 

presented against each offender. Six of the petit jury trying 
one prominent defendant was composed of his own employees. 
Most of these cases were disposed of at the same term with 

the result that each defendant was acquitted. Judge Willis 
demanded at the regular session of the Twentieth Legislature 

an investigation,'* because the “report of the Attorney Gen- 

eral very much reflected upon his integrity.” James S. Hogg, 
who succeeded Templeton as Attorney General, prosecuted 

the investigation of Judge Willis with great vigor. The ettort 
was made, under the provisions of the State constitution,'* to 

remove Judge Willis by address. Ihe House carried the res- 
olution by a vote of sixty-seven ayes and twenty-one nays, 
but the Senate, largely by the leadership of Senator Temple 

Houston, a son of General Sam Houston, of Mobeetie, voted 

five yeas and twenty-two nays,.'7 The prosecution failed to 
secure the removal of Judge Willis, but it doubtless had a 
wholesome effect in directing popular attention to the struggle 

that was going on between settlers and cattlemen. Little by 

little ranchmen were losing power, and little by little the set- 

tlers were gaining a foothold. 

4. The Forty Years Purchase Act 
Since the land board did not encourage the sale of public 

lands classified as “grazing lands’’, the act '® approved April 1, 

1887, was the greatest forward step taken by the Legislature 

in the matter of school lands up to that time. This act con- 

tained, among others, provisions for the appointment of 

15 House Jonrnal, Twentieth Legislature, 105. 
16 Constitution of Texas, Art. » sec. S. 
17 Senate Journal, Twentieth Le islature, 684. 
18 Gammel, Laws of Texas, IX, 1X, 881. 
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competent agents to classify public school lands; for the sale 

of school lands to actual settlers only; that no lands should be 

sold at less than two dollars per acre; that the purchaser must 

reside on land purchased for three consecutive years; and that 

he should pay one-fortieth of the price at the time of filing, 

with five per cent interest on deferred payments. The pur- 
chaser had the privilege of paying it in full after three years’ 

occupancy, or any part annually. Immediately following the 

passage of this act the westward stream of immigration pet- 

ceptibly increased in volume. The population of Floyd Coun- 
ty in 1880 was 3; in 1890, 519; and in 1900, 2020. 

5. Early Surveys and the Location of Land Blocks 
Much historical significance is attached to the extermina- 

tion of the buffaloes and to the quelling of the Indians just 
before the Legislature created the fifty-four new counties out 

of Young and Bexar Territories on August 21, 1876; but, 

important as these events are, they should not completely 

overshadow the surveying of the unappropriated public lands. 
Before the State, by an act of April 22, 1882, ceased to make 

land grants to encourage the construction of railroads, canals, 

and ditches, a vast number of land certificates had been -1s- 

sued. As long as a land certificate was unlocated’ it consti- 
tuted nothing more than personal property. It became real 
property only when located.’ An unlocated land certificate 
could be transferred by parol—just as any article or chattel 
might change ownership. Speculation in land certificates 

was rampant. Many people in other States acquired, at a 

nominal price, lands in North West Texas through the pur- 

chase of land certificates. Surveying parties for the location 

of land certificates became numerous. Stores established at 
various points—specifically the Tepee City store in the north- 

eastern part of Motley County and Singer's Store where Lub- 
bock is located.—for the purpose of selling supplies to buffalo 

hunters were likewise patronized by surveying parties. For 
every section of land located by certificate the section next to 

19 Jones vs. Lee, 86 Texas Reports, 31, 49. 
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it was designated as a school section; that is, each odd number- 
ed section was located for and patented to the holder of the 

certificate, and each even numbered section was set aside for 
the benefit of the public school fund. A group of sections 

thus located and surveyed usually constituted a block with 

some sort of designation for the purpose of description. Some 
land blocks thus laid out occupied a large area, while others 

embraced only a few sections. As an illustration, in Floyd 

County, Block 1 contains 136 sections, while Block C 1n- 

cludes only four sections. More than a score of land blocks 
were located in Floyd County. Ofttimes a land block when 

laid out and designated was cut by county boundary lines. 

Another Block C, containing more than one hundred sections, 

covers large areas of Crosby and Lubbock counties and small 

areas of Floyd and Hale counties, as shown by the land maps 

of these counties. Blocks were irregular in form because of 

the varying conditions existing when the surveying was done. 

Only school lands and patented lands, in equal quantities, 

were found in each block; that is, if a block contained one 

hundred sections, half of them were located for the holders of 

land certificates, while the remaining fifty were designated as 

school lands, no school section lying next to another school 

section, nor patented section next to another patented section. 

Besides the land blocks just described, there were other bodies 

of land usually found in Western Texas, namely, county 
schools lands, and vacant or unappropriated public domain 

subject to homestead settlement;?° that is, every head of a 
family without a homestead was entitled to 160 acres and 

every single man eighteen years | of age was entitled to eighty 

acres, on condition of three years’ occupancy and the payment 

of required fees. Each county when organized was allowed 

to locate four leagues—17,712 acres—of land for a permanent 
county school fund. These tracts were located in those west- 

ern counties that had sufficient State lands not already appro- 

priated. Eastland County located her school lands partly in 

20 Revised Statutes of Texas, 1895, Art. 4160, et seq. 
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Floyd and partly in Crosby counties. Callahan County 
found her quota in Floyd and Hale counties. The sttip or 
bodies of land lying among or outside of the land blocks, in 
which were located the School and patented sections, consti- 
tuted the homestead or preemption lands. Some sutveys wete 
made in Young and Bexar Territories before the act of Aug- 
ust 21, 1876, when they were converted into fifty-four new 
counties. Surveying parties did not, and generally could not, 
concern themselves much about county boundary lines, as 
these were not often established before the organization of 
the counties to which they pertained. 

In 1908, in the United State Circuit Court of Appeals, 
Fifth Circuit, at Fort Worth, Texas, the Block G Land Slide 
Suit was tried. In the Transcript of Record of this suit is the 
testimony of George E. Spiller, J. B. Ammerman, and C. U. 
Connellee, who made early surveys in Floyd, Crosby, and Hale 
counties. Spiller was, in 1875, deputy surveyor of Young 
County, afterwards district deputy surveyor of Young Land 
District, and subsequently State surveyor. Ammerman came 
to Texas in 1870, and from 1876 to 1881 was a member of 

the firm of Daugherty, Connellee & Ammerman. This firm 
engaged in surveying for the holders of land certificates. 
Connellee resided at Eastland and was active as a surveyor. 

Spiller located Block 4, in the northeast corner of Floyd 

County, and other surveys in Floyd County.’ In 1873, 

three years before Floyd and Crosby counties were created. 
Spiller was employed by William Nelson to do field surveying. 

A man named Berkley, also an expert surveyor, located survey 

No. 141, in Block 2, in Crosby County. Survey No. 141 1s in 

Blanco Canyon, southeast from Crosbyton approximately 

eight or nine miles distant therefrom. From the northwest 

corner of this survey these men ran a transverse line along the 
Mackenzie Trail up White River, or Crawfish Creek, to Dew- 

ey s Lake, a sheet of water about 400 varas long and 200 varas 

wide. Berkley was at the time very much in love with a 
21 Arthur B. Duncan to Claude V. Hall, February 8, 1922. 
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Miss Dewey, and the lake was named in her honor. The 

party left Dewey’s Lake for the Canadian River, in the North 

Panhandle, to locate some other surveys. Berkley was after- 

wards superintendent of the Seaboard Airline Railroad, with 

headquarters at Atlanta, Georgia. He died in 1907. 

The firm in which Connellee and Ammerman were mem- 

bers was interested in the location of land certificates, so that 

none of the members could act as district deputy surveyor. 

That this firm might secure the location of certificates, it 

employed O. W. Williams as district deputy surveyor of the 

Jack Land District to do the surveying. In June, 1877, Am- 

merman and Williams ran a transverse line up the Mackenzie 

Trail from Dewey’s Lake into Floyd County. Near the line 

between Floyd and Crosby counties, Ammerman and Wil- 

liams established a mound for an observation point. [his was 

done so that it would not be necessary to run back to Dewey's 

Lake for a connecting point. In 1876 Ammerman located 

Block 1, from the Quitaque corner. The following year 

O. W. Calloway, deputy surveyor of the Jack Land District, 

located Block P, between Block 1 and Block G, in Floyd 

County from the Quitaque corner. Later in the same year 

C. U. Connellee located the Callahan County school lands 

and put in Block U. These surveys were made with refer- 

ence to the observation point on the Crosby County line and 

the northwest corner of survey 1, in Block C. In locating 

the Eastland County school land he used the northwest corner 

of Survey 141, in Block 2, in Crosby County, as the connect- 

ing point. 

To present further instances in which surveying parties 

located lands would be superfluous as well as tiresome. The 

purpose in discussing a few of the surveys is to throw light 

on the way in which the country was being prepared for the 

coming of the settler. In Floyd County alone 304,156 acres 

of State School Land—something near 475 sections—was lo- 

cated during the later seventies, and the same number of 
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acres was located and patented by virtue of land certificates. 
One league of Eastland County school land and about two and 
one-half leagues of Callahan County School land—approxi- 
mately 15,000 acres—wete located in Floyd County. There 
were probably 30,000 acres of vacant public land subject to 
preemption settlement—enough to provide about 800 families 
with nominally free homes. Indeed the land system of a 
county makes a most interesting study, and assuredly the 
early surveyor and certificate locater, as well as the buffalo 
hunter and the Indian fighter, . contributed measurably to- 
wards putting the country in readiness for settlement. 



Chapter V 

THE COMING OF THE FIRST SETTLERS 

1. First Settlement in Blanco Canyon 

The first settlers within the region of the Staked Plains 

took up their abode in the canyons and escarpments for the 

obvious reasons that they afforded protection against storms. 

They also furnished running water and timber for both fuel 

and building. Homes could be provided with little expense 

because they were built with sod and native timbers. In the 

early days of the settlement of Floyd and Crosby counties 

Blanco Canyon was an ideal place in which to live. It courses 

in a southeasterly direction through the south part of Floyd 

County and the northeast portion of Crosby County, varying 

in width from a few hundred yards to four or five miles. It 

has its source in Running Water Draw. This draw runs 

through Hale County and enters Floyd County about the 

middle of the boundary line of these two counties. Its banks 

are gently sloping, and numerous springs feed it after it en- 

ters Hale County.’ After flowing a distance of about fifteen 

miles the water sinks into the ground. This is why it 1s 

called Running Water Draw. It merges into Blanco Canyon 

about eight miles southwest of Floydada. In the canyon 

there is a stream fed by springs. This is known geographically 

as White River, although some authorities designate it as 

Catfish Creek. It is a tributary of the Sale Fork of the Brazos 

River. In Spanish the word blanco signifies white. It will 

thus be seen that the names of the canyon and the stream it 

contains have the same meaning. The gradient of the draw 

and the stream is about four or five hundred feet for about 

one hundred miles—sufficient to produce a swift current 1n 

times of much precipitation. 

2. The Coming of H. C. Smith 

The first settler in Blanco Canyon was H. C. Smith who 

in the fall of 1877, located near Mount Blanco, in Crosby 

1 Year Book, Texas Department of Agriculture, 1909, 514. 
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County, the scene of the fight between Colonel Mackenzie’s 
troops and Quanah Parker’s warriors seven years before. Smith 
first visited this region in the early part of 1876 with a view 
of establishing a cattle ranch for a man bearing the assumed 
name of Charles Tasker, and for an Itish lord of the name 
of Jamison.? Jamison had ample funds of his own for the en- 
terprise, but Tasker was to be aided by an uncle, who was a 
rich manufacturer. In the latter part of 1876 Smith in com- 
pany with Judge John Schimerhorn and three other men, in- 
cluding a Mexican, spent some time prospecting for a loca- 
tion for the contemplated Tasker-Jamison ranch. It was on 
this trip that Schimerhorn Mountain, in Floyd County, was 
christened. Judge Schimerhorn attempted to kill a buffalo 
bull with a pepper-box gun. The animal being enraged, 
Judge Schimerhorn fled to the eminence for protection. The 
sportive companions of the Judge named the mountain in 
honor of the refugee. 

The exploring party returned to Fort Griffin, and Smith 
recommended the Mount Blanco country as suitable for the 
projected ranch. Tasker and Jamison started to visit Mount 
Blanco in person; but on the way Jamison’s hand was acci- 
dentally shot off, and he returned to Fort Griffin for medical 
treatment. He declined to go further with the enterprise, but 

Tasker continued with the project. To make a long story 
short, Tasker placed some cattle and horses on the ranch and 

started work on a stone house, but his habits as a spendthrift 
and plunger led his uncle to sever further business relations 
with him. Smith furnished supplies for Tasker’s project to 
the extent of about eleven thousand dollars, but finally the 

crash overtook Tasker. In his extremity Tasker left the coun- 
try, and his creditors seized on such property as he left. Smith 

obtained the unfinished stone house, which only in part com- 
pensated him for his advances.? He now had on his hands 

something he could not drop, and to avoid total loss he moved 

2 H.C. Smith in The Crosbyton Rieview, February 28, 1912. 
3 H. C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review, February 27, 1912. 
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his family to the ranch in the autumn of 1877. Thus Smith 

undesignedly became a nester in Crosby County. 

Smith finished the construction of the two-story stone 

residence. The celebrated caprock stone, composed of mag- 

nesia limestone, was used. The lime for the mortar was ob- 

tained from stone in the canyon. Two Irish stone masons 

of Fort Worth did the work. The building cost approxi- 

mately $3300, but it was as cheap as a lumber house of the 

same dimensions could have been erected there, as Fort Worth 

was, at that time, the nearest shipping point from which 

lumber could be obtained. The Texas & Pacific Railroad 

had just reached Fort Worth. Lumber sold at Fort Worth at 

$40 per thousand board feet, and the cost of freighting would 

have been $go0 more. 

At that time Crosby County was attached to Young Coun- 

ty for land purposes, and flour at Graham sold at $6 per hun- 

dred pounds, and freight was $2.50 more. The prices of the 

Great World War certainly obtained in the West in those 

days. 

Those who first lived in the Mount Blanco stone residence 

were Mr. and Mrs. Smith, their son, George, who was two 

years old, and their daughter Leila, two months old, Charles 

Hawes and two other men.* When the Smiths first moved 

to Mount Blanco their “nearest neighbor” was S. T. Peppers, 

who lived fifty miles southeast on Duck Creek.® The 

nearest ranch was that of Jim Reed, a man with one arm, a 

hudred miles southeast, in Stonewall County. There were 

a few buffalo camps in the country, namely, that of George 

Causey at Buffalo Springs, in Yellow House Canyon; that 

of Dockum and Thompson, twenty-five miles southeast in 

Dickens County, afterwards known as Dockum’s Ranch and 

Post Office; and that of Ruth and Hartman, northwest at 

the Mackenzie crossing of Blanco Canyon, in Floyd County. 

There were then thousands of turkeys, antelopes, and wolves, 

a Mrs. H. C. Smith to Claude V. Hall, November 1, 1921. 

s H.C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 
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and a few deer; but the buffalo slaughter was accompanied by 
the extermination of much of the game. Smith has some- 
what humorously observed that “not a few of our cows, with- 
out our permission, went to feed hungry, gameless hunters ” 
A few buffaloes were in the country when the Smiths came. 
Shortly afterwards they moved to Mount Blanco, in the win- 
ter of 1877-1878, George Causey’s hunting outfit killed four- 
teen buffaloes two miles from the Smith home. The buf 
faloes were too poor for human food, and the carcasses were 
fed to hogs. Mrs. Smith® states that she has seen as many 
as a hundred buffaloes advance within close range of the resi- 
dence to quench their thirst, and as many wild horses along 
the edge of the caprock of the Plains. 

On September 29, 1879, the Federal Government created 
Mount Blanco Post Office, and Mrs. Elizabeth Smith treceiv- 
ed the appointment as post master, a position she filled for 
thirty-nine years. Mount Blanco received mail twice a week 
from Fort Griffin. The distance was approximately one hun- 
dred sixty miles, and Fort Griffin was supplied from Fort 
Worth, a distance of one hundred fifty miles. The patrons of 
Mount Blanco post office scarcely reached one hundred in 
number, mostly cowboys from ranches in Lubbock, Donley, 
and other far-away counties. When the mail route from Fort 
Griffin to Mount Blanco” was established, a post office was 
established on Duck Creek, in Dickens County. S. T. Pep- 
pers declined the appointment as postmaster, but W. C. 
Dockum accepted, and his store then became known as Dock- 
um’s Ranch post office. 

3. Brief Sketch of Smith’s Life, et al 
If all the events of H. C. Smith’s life of about sixty years 

on the western frontiers could be collected and graphically 

written into a book, it would be a most interesting volume. 

No man has done more in bringing about the development of 

the South Plains country. He was born in Baden, Germany, 

6 Mrs. H. C. Smith to Claude V. Hall, November 1, 1g2r. 
7 Mrs. H. C. Smith to Claude V. Hall, January 4, 1922. 
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August 14, 1836, and he died at his home at Mount Blanco, 

May 19, 1912, aged 75, years, nine months, and five days. 

When he was twelve years of age he came to the United 

States, and for three years made his home with a married sister 

‘n Ohio. The remainder of his life he spent in the West. 

Before the Civil War he worked in gold mines in California. 

During the war he served the Confederacy.® Being able to 

read and speak Spanish, he was appointed to carry mail and 

dispatches from one military post to another in Arizona and 

New Mexico.? In his time he hauled freight from Kansas 

City to points in New Mexico, at the rate of $28 per hundred, 

and saw flour sell at $40 per hundred pounds, coffee at $1.50 

per pound, and bacon, sugar, and evaporated fruit at 75 cents 

a pound."° . 

After the war he entered the Government's service as a 

freighter for the military posts in the Rio Grande Country. 

He afterwards freighted from Indianola, St. Mary’s, and 

other coastal points to places in the central part of the State. 

He was at Austin on December 13, 1871, to see the first 

Houston and Texas Central train arrive. He freighted from 

Austin to Fort Concho after Austin became a railway point. 

For freighting over the distance between these two points, 

about 250 miles, he received $3.60 pet hundred pounds. From 

1872 to 1877 Smith supplied the Government's troops sta- 

tioned at Fort Griffin with prairie hay, for which he received 

$22 per ton. In 1873, while operating his hay works on the 

prairies in Throckmorton County, he lost from an Indian raid 

26 mules. In 1893—after waiting 20 years—the Govern- 

ment’s claims department reimbursed him for the loss of his 

mules in the escapade. From 1877 to the time of his death, 

Smith was intimately connected with the progressive moves of 

Crosby County. He was at Plainview in December, 1906, 

to see the first regular train arrive, and four years later he was 

s The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 

9 Mrs. H. C. Smith to Claude V. Hall, November 1, 1921. 

10 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 
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on hand at Floydada to witness the beginning of the town’s 
train service. In 1894 he became the volunteer meteorological 
observer for the Government at Mount Blanco. This was a 
free service, but one in which he took great pride. His school- 
Ing was very limited, but nature was kind in endowing him 
with an unusually keen intellect. He read extensively, ob- 
served carefully, and retained information remarkably well. 
He used the English language, spoken and written, with much 
fluency and accuracy. He was an excellent type of the self- 
educated man. 

Mrs. Elizabeth Smith, the wife of H. C. Smith, was 
reared to young womanhood in Scotland. Her father was 
Allan Boyle of the estate of Fleshwood, Dalry, Ayrshire." 
Mrs. Smith’s brother, John Boyle, was the first member of 
her family to come to the United States, in 1867. He pro- 
cured employment as a bookkeeper in the Iron Mountain 
Works at Cairo, not far from St. Louis. At his instance, his 

three brothers, Andrew, who had been a captain in the British 

army, Joseph, who had been educated in the university of 

Edinburgh and had taught school, and James, who was a drug- 
gist, decided to emigrate to the United States. Elizabeth, the 

youngest sister, was importuned to accompany her three bro- 

thers and to act as housekeeper for them. They took passage 
for America in May, 1868, from Glasgow. The Boyles lo- 

cated at Fort Griffin in 1873. There Elizabeth and H. C. 
Smith were married on May 19, 1874. The issue of Mr. and 

Mrs. Smith are George W. Smith, of Crosbyton; Mrs. Leila 

E. Wheeler, of Ralls; Robert Burns Smith, of Floydada; Mrs. 

Annie J. McDermott, of Dexter, New Mexico; Mts. Mary 

M. Kirk, of Mount Blanco. In November, 1921, Mrs. Smith 

had twenty grandchildren. 
Charles Hawes, who made his home with the Smiths at 

Mount Blanco, was born in Maine May 28, 1831.'? He and 

Smith first met in Arizona, in 1857. When the Civil War 

11 Mrs. H. C. Smith to Claude V. Hall, November 1, 1921. 
12 Mrs. H. C. Smith to Claude V. Hall, April 20, 1922. 
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came on these two friends enlisted on opposite sides. In 1877 

Hawes chanced to accompany some buffalo hunters to Fort 

Griffin, where he saw Smith, after a separation of fifteen years. 

Hawes served a few years as commissioner of Crosby County. 

On August 22, 1921, he died at Ralls, in the home of Mrs. 

J. A. Wheeler, Mrs. Smith’s daughter. 
S. T. Peppers, who lived on Duck Creek when Smith 

moved to Mount Blanco, first lived at Fort Griffin during the 

early seventies." He lived a few years on Yellow House 

Canyon in Crosby County, and in 1888 moved to Plainview. 

in Hale County. 

Judge John Schimerhorn was a lawyer with his home at 

Breckenridge, Stephens County. In his law practice he fre- 

quently had business at Fort Griffin, which was then the 

county seat of Shackelford County. When Smith made his 

prospecting trip for locating the projected Tasker-Jamison 

ranch, Judge Schimerhorn, as has been stated, accompanied 

him to get a view of Blanco Canyon." 

4. The Quaker Settlement at Estacado 

In 1878, Paris Cox, the owner of numerous surveys of land 

in Crosby County, left his home in Indianapolis, Indiana, on 

an expedition to the West. He joined a party of buffalo 

hunters'® and in time visited the Staked Plains. In Crosby 

County he investigated the possibilities of the country for the 

establishment of a settlement of Quaker brethren. He inter- 

viewed H. C. Smith relative to the produétivity of the soil 

and the availability of water for wells. As an experiment, 

Cox contracted with Smith '” to put down a well and to fence 

and break some land and to plant and culttvate a crop. Smith 

carried out his contract in good faith. Well water, abundant 

and wholesome, was obtained at a depth of fifty-five feet. 

1879 was a fat year in Crosby County, as the rainfall was 

13 Mrs. H. C. Smith to Claude V. Hall, January 4, 1912. 
14 R. P. Smythe to Claude V. Hall, May 6, 1922. 

1s Mrs. H. C. Smith to Claude V. Hall, January 4, 1922. 

16 Rev. J. W. Hunt to Claude V. Hall, January, 1922. 

17 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 
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abundant. Smith produced for Cox a good crop of frijoles, 
sorghum, and Indian carn. He sent samples of these to Cox 

at his Indiana home. They were a revelation to Indianians. 

Cox at once became enthusiastic over a Quaker settlement, 
and determined to try his own fortune in this country. In the 

late autumn of 1879 he and his family arrived accompanied by 

the families of Mr. Hayworth, Mr. Stubbs, and Mr. Spray. 

They settled in the northwestern portion of Crosby County 

on Section 59, Block C. In thjs settlement the town of 
Marietta was established, named in honor of Paris Cox’s wife, 

whose Christian name was Mary. | 

The winter of 1879-1880 was one of gteat severity. The 

four Quaker families lived in tents, and their winter quarters 
could not be made comfortable. The winds blew incessantly 

cold and hard. The situation was extremely depressing; and 

the outlook was most discouraging. Before the approach of 

spring they regretted their settlement on the bleak plains of 

Texas. Two incidents accentuated their despondency. 
One morning, in a dense fog, one of the men walked out 

to a basin not far from his home. When he attempted to re- 

trace his steps he wandered from his course and was soon 

hopelessly lost. Nearly three days he wandered. The cool 

nights prevented his sleeping. Food was entirely lacking. 
H. C. Smith finally found the wanderer on the plains not far 
south of Mount Blanco. He was more than twenty miles 

from home and had traveled many times that distance in a 

vain endeavor to find himself. No such experience could 

befall a man in Indiana, the Quakers reasoned. 
In the early spring, a driving rainstorm blew down the 

tents and scattered household goods through Blanco Canyon." 

It seemed useless to drag out a dreary life in such a country. 

The Plains could never become fit for the abode of civilized 

man. Thus the tenderfoot Quakers estimated the present 

and divined the future. At any rate, Mr. Spray, Mr. Stubbs, 

and Mr. Hayworth in disgust left the country. Paris Cox, 

1s Mrs. H. C. Smith to Claude V. Hall, February 7, 1922. 
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however, was undaunted. He erected a house and set about 

to induce other Quaker families to locate near him. 
In 1880 some ten families came, among them those of 

George Singer, Andy Underhill, John Underhill, and Mr. 

Janeway. They prospered, and other Quaker families joined 
the colony. Some of these newcomers were the family of 

Gideon Cox, Rev. Anson Cox, Mat Hatley, George M. Hunt, 

Mr. Conroe, and Dr. William Hunt.'? From year to year 

the colony continued to grow until it disbanded in 1891. At 

one time the colony probably consisted of about two hundred 

persons. The Quaker Colony in Crosby County was not due 
to religious persecution elsewhere, for the settlers came from 

Indiana, Ohio, Kansas, Iowa, North Carolina, and Indian 

Territory. They settled in Crosby County that they might 

obtain cheap land and enjoy church”? and school advantages. 
In 1887 the Quakers established the Central Plains Acad- 

emy, with Junior College rank.” The instructors were Rev. 

J. H. Moore, the president, C. E. Lewis, and Miss Emma 

Lewis. The president was a Master of Arts graduate from 

Haverford College and the holder of the Ph.D. degree from 

John Hopkins University. The other instructors were Master 
of Arts graduates from Penn College, Oskalusa, Iowa. A 

part of the time Miss Emma Hunt, Rev. J. W. Hunt's oldest 

sister, gave instruction in this school. The school was main- 

tained through the grades by public funds, but the students 

pursuing college courses paid tuition. In this school Rev. 

J. W. Hunt, now president of McMurry College, at Abilene, 

Texas, received all of his scholastic instruction. The Central 

Plains academy ceased to exist upon the dispersion of the 

Quaker Colony in 1891. 

5. The First Settlers of Floyd County 

In 1884 and 1885, when Crosby County had made some 

headway in settlement, Floyd County began to be peopled, 

19 Mrs. H. C. Smith to Claude V. Hall, February 7, 1922. 
20 Rev. J. W. Hunt to Claude V. Hall, January, 1922. 
21 Rev. J]. W. Hunt to Claude V. Hall, February 8, 1922. 
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and in 1886 and 1887 Hale County attracted settlers. Blanco 
Canyon, in Floyd County, had been occupied in 1883 by the 
sheep ranch of Owens, Marseilles, and Duncan. This served 
as a nucleus for a few actual settlers. 

On June 1, 1884, arrived the first man with a family to 
settle in Floyd County. This was Arthur B. Duncan, a 
brother of W. V. Duncan and Ed Duncan. His family con- 
sisted of his wife and his infant son Silas.22 A boy named 
Robert A. Prince, accompanied them. When Arthur B. 
Duncan started for Floyd County in the spring of 1884, he 
expected to buy some watered school land in Blanco Canyon. 
The School Land Act of April 12, 1883, was in effect. It 
had created a land board with power to classify, appraise, sell, 
lease, and exercise other powers of a discretionary nature.?° 
Before Duncan started, all the watered lands in the canyon 
were for sale, but before he reached Floyd County the land 
board had taken them off the market,?* and had leased them 
to the cattlemen. By this arrangement only dry school land 
could be purchased by actual settlers. This action of the 
land board was virtually a knockout blow to the actual set- 
tler of limited means. Besides, it enabled the cattleman to 

control practically the entire country. Being thus foiled by 
the ruling of the land board, Duncan’s only alternative was 

to settle on a watered homestead claim of 160 acres.2® To file 
and settle on a dry section of school land called for water 
equipment—including well, piping, windmill—which was 

costly. Even the depth to water was unknown to him at that 
time. 

The process of getting located on a claim in 1884 is illus- 

strative of the difficulties which the plains pioneer had to 
meet. Floyd County had been incorporated into the Donley 
Land District the year previous. In order to file on his home- 

stead, Duncan had first to go to Clarendon, the County seat 

22 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 
23 Gammel, Laws of Texas, IX, 263. 
24 Arthur B. Duncan to Claude V. Hall, February 8, 1922. 
25 Revised Statutes of Texas, 1895, Art. 4160, et seq. 
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of Donley County. Then no road led to that town. He 

had to travel by course, and this was not an easy thing to do 

in those days. Alone he made the journey on horseback. 

The country was unknown to him. Only a few cow camps 

and ranch headquarters were in existence. Clarendon was 

then a struggling village far removed from the nearest rail- 

road point. Upon his return from Clarendon he employed 

C. U. Connellee, now of Eastland, to run out the claim. But 

Conellee’s work could not be recognized, as he was not an 

official surveyor. He could only show Duncan the location 

of his homestead claim. T.S. McClelland was the surveyor 

of Donley Land District. McClelland made the official sur- 

vey”® for Duncan in July, 1885. Through an error the district 

surveyor sent into the General Land Office field notes that 

showed this claim in conflict with other land. This error had the 

effect of denying Duncan a patent to this land for ten years. 

It was after Floyd County was attached to Crosby County for 

land purposes, in 1887, that a correct survey was made. H.C. 

Knight, the surveyor of the Crosby Land District, made a sur- 

vey that the General Land Office recognized and approved 

in 1895. 

For six and one-half years Duncan and his family resided 

in the canyon. Their home was a dugout. The front wall 

was of sod. The floor was terra firma, and the roof of tim- 

bers and dirt. It was large enough for two rooms of average 

size. A partition of cloth separated the kitchen from the 

living room. It was modestly furnished, as all other habita- 

tions then were. In the living room there was a fireplace dug 

out of the solid wall. The chimney had to be curved to avoid 

a projection of stone, and this sometimes interfered with the 

draft so that the smoke failed to ascend. In one corner of the 

room a rough stone protruded itself a few inches above the 

floor level. But this did not interfere, as a bedstead was placed 

over it. Here the family resided until the county was organ- 

26 Arthur B. Duncan to Claude V. Hall, January 28, 1922. 
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ized. Here the three oldest daughters were born. Here too, 
many wayfarers were the recipients of western hospitality. 

6. Character Sketches of Settlers 

Since his location in Floyd County as the first settler 
Arthur B. Duncan, has had a prominent part in the affairs 

_ of the county. After Floyd County was attached to Crosby 
County for land and judicial purposes, Duncan was appointed 
by the Commissioner’s court of Crosby County justice of the 
peace of Floyd County. This position he filled until his elec- 

tion as county judge of Floyd County in 1890. Custom in 
the West was to recognize an honor conferred upon a man 

with the appropriate title. While he was justtice of the peace 
he was uniformly addressed as “Squire Duncan”. Because 
of the numerous legal disputes that came up in the canyon 

with reference to land matters, he provided himself with the 
Revised Statutes of Texas®’ and a copy of the Acts of the Texas 
Legislature. His experience as a land litigant and as justice of 
the peace entailed upon him the duty of consulting the statu- 
tory laws of Texas. In this way he soon formed a fondness for 

the study of law. In this way his name came to be men- 
tioned in connection with the County Judge’s office in Floyd 
County. He was honored with election as County Judge in 
the first nine successive elections tor county officers in Floyd 
County, and again in the election of 1912. 

Arthur B. Duncan was born in Hopkins County, Texas, 

August 12, 1862. His parents were William B, and Elizabeth 

Duncan. His father was a graduate from the Medical De- 

partment of the University of Pennsylvania,*® and he practiced 

his profession in Arkansas and Texas. He died in Grayson 

County in 1874. His mother was a daughter of William 
Vaden, of Hopkins County. She died at her home near 

Plainview, Hale County, in July, 1892. In December, 1882, 

Arthur B. Duncan and Sarah K. Day, were married in Mon- 

tague County, Texas. Duncan’s school days were not num- 

27 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 
28 Johnson, Texas and Texans, 1656. 
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erous, as his father died when he was twelve years of age. He 

did, however, come under the instruction of J. E. F. Koger in 
a rural school in Grayson County, and the unselfish aims of 

this teacher profoundly impressed his pupil with life’s reali- 

ties and obligations. Duncan has always been a diligent stu- 
dent in the lines of his activities as a county official, as an 

abstracter and realty dealer, and as a farmer and stockman. 

Mrs. Sarah K. Duncan, wife of Arthur B. Duncan, was 

reared in Grayson County. Her parents were Mathew and 

Sarah K. Day. Mrs. Duncan is a sister of M. M. Day, of 

Lockney, and a twin sister of J. J. Day of Floydada. The ten 
children born to her and her husband are: Silas E. Duncan, of 

Floydada; Mrs. Maude E. Hollums, of Floydada; Mrs. Em- 

ma L. Watkins, of Petersburg, Hale County; Mrs. Edith E. 

Pitts, Mrs. Hope E. Hammonds, Mrs. Ruby B. Brown, Mrs. 

Mattie Blackmon, and Arthur B. Jr., Carroll V., and Mark 

W. Duncan, all of Floydada.”° 

Early in the spring of 1885 Mrs. Elizabeth Duncan, with 

her daughter, Edith, joined her son W. V. Duncan on the 

Owens, Marseilles, and Duncan sheep ranch. They had 

traveled by rail to Abilene. A few months later came with 

his family Z. T. Maxwell, a son-in-law of Mrs. Duncan, ac- 

companied by Ed. Duncan, Poliet Smith, and Miss Eugenia 

Duncan. Maxwell had made a prospecting trip to Floyd 

County the year before. A Mc. Kitchen, a school teacher, 

came and stayed a short time—the first teacher to reside in 

Floyd County.*° The canyon was now a community center. 

Homes were soon provided, but most of them were dugouts. 

A frame house was too much of a luxury, as lumber had to be 

freighted from Abilene and Colorado City over trails not easy 

for wagons. Living was comparatively easy, though not ele- 

gant or sumptuous. Supplies were purchased in large lots. 

7. The Early Settlement of Hale County 

As before stated, land litigation arose between the settlers 

29 Johnson, Texas and Texans, 1 656. 
so Z. T. Maxwell to Claude V. Fal, November 20, 1921. 
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and: large ranch interests. All the settlers mentioned, except 
Arthur B. Duncan, wearied of the strife and compromised by 
relinquishing their claims for a consideration. W.V. Duncan 

and Ed Duncan moved to Hale County and settled on Run- 
ningwater Draw in the spring of 1886. The Duncans were 

the third family to settle in Hale County.*' Sixteen miles 

southwest of the Duncans, in Hale County, were the families 

of Horatio Graves and a Mr. Adams. Here a little later 
Graves founded the town of Epworth. In the spring of 1886 

L. T. Lester moved from Palo Pinto County and settled not 
far from Epworth. A. N. Jones settled the same year east 
of Epworth, and later founded Hale Center. In the autumn 

of 1886 Z. T. Maxwell settled on Runningwater Draw four 

miles above W. V. Duncan’s location.2? Maxwell settled 

his claim ostensibly to engage in sheep raising. In some places 

well water could be obtained in the draw at a depth of about 

twenty-five feet. Shallow water proved an attraction for more 

settlers. Maxwell preferred not to have his sheep range dis- 

turbed by the coming of other settlers; but, inasmuch as he 

could not have his own way in the matter, he decided to found 

an embryo county seat. In this way Plainview came into exist- 

ence. E. L. Lowe was his partner in the establishment of 

Plainview. Maxwell had this purpose in view when he left 

Blanco Canyon, as he himself says: 

I had found that a large body of vacant land was situated there, and I moved 
there with a view of taking up some of this land, and eventually organizing 
a county and locating the county seat.34 

The first store in Plainview was in a tent in 1887 with 
Thornton Jones as proprietor. Later Hugh McLellan, Mr. 

Rollins, R. C. Ware, Mr. Leach, and Williams Brothers put 
in stocks of merchandise. Abundant homestead lands, shal- 

low water, and Amarillo only about seventy miles away, with 

a level stretch of land intervening, gave quite an impetus to 

the early settlement of the Plainview country. 

31 W. V. Duncan to Claude V. Hall, December 13, 1921. 
32 L. T. Lester to Claude V. Hall, January, 1922. 
33 W. V. Duncan to Claude V. Hall, December 13, 1921. 
34 Z. T. Maxwell to Claude V. Hall, November 20, 1921. 
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W. V. Duncan remained in Hale County until 1889, 
when he moved to Memphis, Hall County, where he lived 

until 1893.°° That year he took up his residence at Spearfish, 
South Dakota, where he engaged in stock raising and gold 

mining until 1908. He next became a resident of the west- 

ern portion of the Dominion of Canada. His extensive trav- 

els, varied pursuits, and receptive mind, together with his 

readiness to impart information, rendered him a most interest- 

ing man, 
Z. T. Maxwell was a Missourian. Shortly after the out- 

break of the Civil War, he came to Texas. He had three 

brothers who enlisted under Quantrell °° in guerilla warfare. 

He was married to Laura L. Duncan, a daughter of Mrs. 

Elizabeth Duncan. Mrs. Maxwell was born in Hopkins 

County and reared in Grayson County. Maxwell lived near 

Gainesville, in Cooke County, where he engaged in farming 

and dairying. He afterwards moved to Montague, in Mon- 

tague County, and followed merchandising until his removal 

to Floyd County in 1885. He left Plainview in the autumn 

of 1892 and located on a farm on Oil Creek, near Ardmore, 

Indian Territory. He later lived in San Saba County, Texas, 

where for a number of years he operated a noted onion farm 

by means of irrigation. Ihe town of Maxwellton, in San 

Saba County, was named in his honor. He and his wife are 

spending the evening of life at Coalgate, Oklahoma, 1n the 

midst of children and grandchildren. 

8. Early Events of Interest 

Thus far the early sttlement of Crosby County, Floyd 

Couty, and Hale County have been presented somewhat in 

detail. The first settlers soon became reconciled to conditions 

in a new country. The country in general was undergoing 

a new epoch in its developemnt. There were courtships, mar- 

rlages, births, and deaths. Social functions now and then 

lessened the monotony of life. Social distinctions, or castes, 

3s W. V. Duncan to Claude V. Hall, December 13, 1921. 
sé Thoburn, A Standard History of Oklahoma, 1457. 
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wete unknown. Society was then thoroughly democratic; 
and flappers and sissies, there were none. 

In the spring of 1881 the first two white children were 
born in Crosby County. The first was a girl born to Mr. 
and Mrs. Paris Cox; and the second, a boy born to Mr. and 

Mrs. H. C. Smith on May 6. The first marriage in Crosby 

County was that of Frank Leonard*” and Miss Ethel Over- 

huls. They now reside in Floyd County, Texas. 

The first couple to marry in Floyd County were Poliet 
Smith and Miss Eugenia Duncan. The nuptials took place 
at the home of the bride’s brother, Arthur B. Duncan, 1n 

1885. The marriage license was obtained at Clarendon. 
O. A. Shook, a minister of the Methodist church, officiated. 

Mrs. H. C. Smith gave the couple an infare dinner at Mount 

Blanco.2® On October 26, 1885, a son was born to Mr. and 
Mrs. Z. T. Maxwell. This was the first white child born 

in Floyd County. In recognition of this fact, he was chris- 

tened Floyd. The first death in Floyd County was that of 
Mrs. A. M. Mills, in April, 1890. Her remains were taken 

from the home in Blanco Canyon to Estacado for burial.*° 
The first wedding in Hale County was that of Henry 

Moore and Miss Edith Duncan, in 1887. It is thought that 

Edna Maxwell, a daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Z. T. Maxwell, 

was the first white child born in Hale County. This was in 

1887. 

g. More Settlers in Floyd County 
While there was an exodus of settlers from the Canyon 

Settlement in Floyd County in 1886, at the same time there 

was an influx of new comers. Among these were A. M. 

Miallsealien@acPotter, A) Kyi Lathan, U2 °Aar Burtus,, J ak: 

Latham, and later J. J. Day in April 1887.*° 

Further up, on Runningwater Draw, B. P. Merrill and 

L. C. Darby located on August 4, 1887. Merrill and Darby's 

37 Mrs. H. C. Smith to Claude V. Hall, November 4, 1921. 
se The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 
39 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 
4o The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 
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nearest neighbors were two cowboys who maintained a camp 
three miles distant on the Mackenzie Trail, and whose bus- 
iness was to see that cattle belonging to their ranch were 

not driven away. The newcomers constructed their houses 

by digging four feet in the ground, built sod walls about 

three feet high from the ground, and made the roofs of poles 

and dirt. The winter of 1887-1888 was extremely cold. 
Thousands of cattle and a few antelope froze to death. Mus- 

tang horses were troublesome because they would get with 

gentle horses and draw them away from their range.*' 

10. Destructive Prairie Fires 

In the meantime, the country did not lack for incidents 

more or less interesting, when not humorous or thrilling. To 

be sure, those that lived in a sparsely settled country region 

of vast treeless plains have experienced the anxiety occasioned 

by prairie fires. In the early days of ranching in the South 

Plains Country these fires were the terror of cow men, sheep 

men, and settlers. In the summer months when the grass was 

dry fires were widespread and destructive. Perhaps the most 

destructive fire ever known on the South Plains was in June, 

1879.** It started in the southern part of Crosby County. 
At that time there were numerous wild hogs in the shinnertes. 

A cowboy contrived the clever scheme of setting fire to a 

shinnery as a means of driving the hogs out in the open. A 

wind from the southwest set up, and the fire soon got beyond 

control and raged in a northeasterly direction. As it spread it 

advanced so as to sweep an immense area. It crossed Blanco 

Canyon, and finally spent itself in the regions of Quitaque 

Creek, Boggy Creek, the north and south forks of Pease River, 

and Tule Canyon. Along the streams groves of timber were 

completely consumed. 

As the country became more numerously settled, fire- 

guards were made; that is, the owner of a tract of land would 

plow two furrows around its boundary lines, and then burn 

41 L. C. Darby to Claude V. Hall, October ‘he 1921. 
42 H.C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 
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out, when there was no breeze, the gtass between the furrows 
plowed. 

The settlers and the cowboys soon learned the most effect- | 
tve means of fighting prairie fires. One method was to kill | 
a cow, remove the skin, tie lariats to the head and tail, and | 
drag the hide over the fire line by men on horseback on either 
side. Others would follow with wet gunny sacks to HA 
guish all smouldering fires left.*° During one of these fires 
one firm lost its entire herd of 3,000 sheep on Crawfish Draw, 
near the Crosby County line. H.C. Smith gives a vivid 
description of this fire: 

But at night the demon of destruction celebrated its hellish work with a blaze 
of splendor. For miles about in every direction shocks of burning feed present- 
ed the appearance of electric lights. But to the farmer whose year’s hard work 
had been swept away in a flash, and the sheepman perhaps made penniless, 
these bright lights doubtless resembled the glowing eyes of a demon gloating 
over its work.44 

Occasionally the settlers of Blanco Canyon heard preaching 
by ministers who chanced to be passing through the country. 
O. A. Shook, Thomas Duncan, and J. H. Stegall did some 
preaching in the homes of various settlers. During the 

Autumn of 1886 there was a few days’ meeting in the Canyon 

Settlement. A brush arbor was provided, and people for \ 

twenty miles about attended the services. One morning while | 

Mrs. Arthur B. Duncan was serving breakfast to a number 7 
of guests who were attending the meeting, a blundering steer** || 
walked on the roof of the dugout, when one foot pushed \ 

through the roof just over the kitchen and covered the dining 
table with sod roofing. 

Thus have been traced the earliest settlements in the coun- 

ties of Crosby, Floyd, and Hale for a period of ten years— 

from 1877 to 1887. Colorado City in Mitchell County, dis- 

tant from Blanco Canyon about 130 miles, was the nearest 

shipping point. The Fort Worth & Denver then had its 
terminus at Wichita Falls, but its projected route was watched 
with intense interest, as its extension westward from Wichita 

43 L. C. Darby to Claude V. Hall, October 31, 1921. 
44 H. C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 
45 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 
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Falls was the precursor of a tide of immigration to the coun- 

ties of the Staked Plains. The people who had already locat- 

ed in these counties were fast learning how to adapt them- 

selves to their new environment. He who came later could 

profit by the experiences and discoveries of those who preceded 

him. The settlement of the country was now assured. 
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Chapter VI 

PREPARATION FOR COUNTY 
ORGANIZATION 

1. [he Organization of Crosby County 
After Paris Cox founded the Quaker town of Marietta in 

1881, it was learned that a post office of the same name had 

been established in Cass County, in the Eastern part of the 

State. In view of this fact the name of the Quaker town was 
changed to Estacado, as the Quakers were desirous of making 

their town both a post office and a county seat. George M. 

Swink, who had been sent out to the Staked Plains as a grass 

commissioner by the General Land Office in 1884, took a 

leading part in the movement for the organization of Crosby 

County. By 1886 the Quakers numbered about two hundred 
in their settlement, and Swink was warmly supported by 

them in his efforts, as he was by all other settlers on small 

tracts of land; but the big cattle interests opposed. This divi- 

sion was unfortunate, as 150 signatures of bona fide citizens’ 

had to be on the petition asking the commissioner's court of 
Baylor County, to which Crosby County was attached for 

judicial purposes, to pass the election order for organization. 

H. C. Smith, who circulated the petition, says: “It took sev- 

eral weeks’ travel over all these counties and much persuading 
to get the required number of signatures, but this was finally 

done, nearly all the signers being Quakers, Gentiles, Philis- 

tines, transients, and buffalo hunters, and just anyone who 

would sign it. A few cowmen and cowboys signed, but most 

of them flatly refused to have anything to do with it.2, Smith 
made the trip to Seymour, the county seat of Baylor County, 

and presented the petition to the commissioner's court during 
the August term of 1886. The distance from Estacado to 

Seymour was 130 miles. Besides Mount Blanco,® there were 

just two houses between the two places, namely, the Fight 

1 Art. 672, Revised Statutes of Texas, ie 
2 H.C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 
3 Ibid. 
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Mile Ranch in King County and the Weatherly Ranch in 

Knox County. The date set for the organization of Crosby 

County was September 11, 1886. At this election Estacado 

and Section 22, in the breaks in the eastern part of the county, 

were contestants for the county seat. In the election there was 

cast a total of sixty-four votes, of which thirty-four were in 

favor of Estacado. The officers chosen were: George M. 

Swink, county judge; Paris Cox, county and district clerk; 

Felix Franklin, sheriff and tax collector; Hadley Lewis, coun- 

ty treasurer; H. C. Smith, tax assessor; and H. C. Knight, 

county surveyor; and Bill Harrell, H. B. Smith, J. E. Over- 

huls, and Alistus Lewis, county commissioners. In accord- 

ance with the provisions of Art. 673, Revised Statutes of 

Texas, 1879, all the officers-elect, except the four for county 

commissioner, had to go to Seymour to have their bonds 

approved, and their oaths of office administered by the coun- 

ty Judge of Baylor County. All these oficers were reelected 

in the general election of the following November. From the 

organization of Crosby County until the construction of the 

court house the county officials had their offices in dugouts 

and shacks. H.C. Smith says the Tax Assessor's office was 

“a gunny sack and a two horse wagon.“ 

2. Floyd County Attached to Crosby County 

Until April 1, 1887, the settlers in Floyd County had to 

0 to Clarendon, a distance of more than one hundred miles 

to file on the lands they were to occupy, as that county was 

then a part of Donley Land District. After the organization 

of Crosby County the citizens of Floyd County petitioned the 

Twentieth Legislature in December, 1886, as follows: 
“To the Honorable Senators and Representatives of the Twentieth Legislature, 

Austin Texas——Gentlemen: We, the undersigned, citizens of Floyd County, 

State of Texas, would most respectfully request that Floyd County be attached 

to Crosby County for both land and Judicial purposes. Estacado, the county 

seat of Crosby County, is situated within five miles of the south line of this 

County, which makes it decidedly more accessible than any other point, both 

for mail facilities and business purposes.” 

The signers were: Arthur B. Duncan, A. M. Mills, W. B. 

Brown, Sam Gerrod, G. M. Rhoads, J. M. Cox, J. T. Cox, 

« H.C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 
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C. H. Johnson, H. S. Van Trees, H. R. Baughn, J. A. Bur- 
rus, A. K. Lathum, John K. Fullingim, J. M. Standefer, J. P. 
Brown, Foster Fullingim, M. C. Potter, R. A. Prince, and 
Thomas Teeling.’ Judge George M. Swink, of Crosby Coun- 
ty, rendered valuable assistance in pressing this matter before 
the legislature. These efforts resulted in the passage of the 
Crosby Land District act, approved April 1, 1887. The 
Crosby Land District was composed of the counties of Crosby, 
Dickens, Motley, Floyd, Hale, Lynn, Bailey, Cochran, 
Hockley, and Lubbock. The same session of the legislature 
reorganized the Thirty-second Judicial District by an act 
approved March 31, 1887,” so as to include the counties of No- 
lan, Mitchell, Howard, Martin, Midland, Scurry, and Crosby, 
and the unorganized counties of Andrews, Gaines, Dawson, 
Borden, Kent, Garza, Lynn, Terry, Yoakum, Cochran, Hock- 
ley, Lubbock, Dickens, Motley, Floyd, Hale, Lamb, and 
Bailey. This act provided the terms of district court to be in 
“the county of Crosby on the fifth Mondays after the first 
Mondays in February and September, and may continue in 
session two weeks.” This act further provided that the 
unorganized counties of Dickens, Motley, Floyd, Hale, 
Cochran, Bailey, Lamb, Hockley, and Lubbock, should be 
attached to Crosby County for judicial purposes. By these 
two acts of the legislature the settlers of Floyd County were 
enabled to transact public business with much greater facility 
than before. 

3. Crosby County Court Activities 
In 1887 the question of building a courthouse for Crosby 

County came up. It was estimated that a bond issue of eight 
thousand dollars would be necessary for this purpose. But 
the money through taxation necessary for the sinking fund 
and annual interest on a bond issue was not forthcoming, for 
at that time the cattle corporations paid their taxes at Austin.® 

5 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 
6 Gammel, Laws of : eee IX, 898. 
7 Gammel ,Laws of Texas IX, 878. 
8 H.C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 
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The commissioners’ court was informed by the State Comp- 

troller that the resident stockholders in the cattle companies 

were subject to the payment of local taxes, whereupon the tax 

assessor was instructed to assess the properties of these ranch- 

men: but, as a matter of course, they strenuously objected, 

since the taxes they would be required to pay at Estacado 

would be much greater than they had been paying at Austin. 

For 1887 the total valuation of assessed property 1n Crosby 

County was $7775345)° and for 1888 the total valuation rose 

to $1,386,529."° This was due to an increase in the appraise- 

ment of land from one dollar to two dollars per acre and to the 

diligence of the tax assessor in obtaining renditions of the resi- 

dent stock holders of the cattle companies. The diligence of 

the tax assessor caused his defeat in the election of 1888, when 

the cattlemen elected one of their own number." 

The cowmen and their employees very much opposed the 

building of the courthouse and jail, and after construction be- 

gan they delighted to defy the law and to ridicule law enforce- 

ment. Such instruments of civilization were not to be toler- 

ated. Cowboys played poker on the stacks of lumber with 

which the courthouse was being constructed,'? and at the first 

session of District Court at Estacado, in October, 1887, gam- 

bling went on in full view of the public."® This was shocking 

to the Quakers in particular. No indictments for gambling 

were found by the grand jury, as it was deemed best first to 

ive notice that a new regime had begun and that thereafter 

all laws would be enforced.'* This announcement only elicited 

scoffs and contempt. The second grand jury convened in 

March, 1888. Lawlessness of every sort was investigated, 

and twenty-eight misdemeanor indictments" and two felonies 

were reported. Because of its drastic action, this body was 

9 Comptroller’s Report of Texas for 1887, 114. 

10 Report ef the Comptroller of Texas, 1888, 108. 

11 H. C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 

12 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 

13 L. C. Darby to Claude V. Hall, October 31, 1921. 

14 The. Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 

15 Report of Attorney General of Texas, 1887-88, 15. 
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dubbed the “bloody grand jury”. It was composed: of the 
following citizens of Crosby and attached counties: L. T. 
Lester, W. L. Browning, Robert Linn, A. B. Cooper, Sam 
Gholson, George W. Lee, R. W. O’Keefe, Bennett Howell, 
Arthur B. Duncan, J. K. Milwee, Z. T. Maxwell, and S. T. 
Peppers. William Kennedy was district judge, and Xavier 
Ryan, district attorney. The work of this session of the dis- 
trict court very much pleased the law and order element. 
4. The Prosperity and Decline of Estacado 

From 1883 to 1887 Estacado received mail once a week 
from Colorado City, in Mitchell County. The mail stage 
transported passengers one way for a fare of $1 5 per pas- 
senger.'* As the Fort Worth & Denver Railroad had reached 
Amarillo, in 1887, John W. Mutray'®> suggested that it would 
be advisable for Estacado to discontinue the mail route to Colo- 
rado City and establish one to Amarillo in its place, since the 
country from Estacado to Amarillo was level and without 
streams to cross. Murray and the mail contractor made a 
reconnoitering trip to Amarillo in the summer of 1887. There 
was neither road nor trail to follow, and the travelers drove to- 
wards Amarillo from basin to basin, the route being marked 
with mounds of dirt. With a few changes this route after- 
wards became the regular wagon road from Estacado to Am- 
arillo. Plainview, Tulia, and Canyon did not then exist. 
Amarillo was a mere village, and there was only one house 
about forty miles south of Amarillo at that time. Murray 
describes Amarillo as follows: 

At this time there were two Amarillo’s, the hotel being about a mile and a half 
from what was called the business part of town. The whole thing put together 
would not make a town of respectable size, but there was a town fight on, and 
the hotel finally carried the day. There was less than a dozen business concerns 
all told, three of these being rather large establishments, and others being 
small outfits and saloons. Of course this doesn’t include the land agents, for 
they were there by the dozen. It was a typical, swift new railroad point and 
western cattle town, rough in all the word implies and without the semblance 
of social advantages. 

16 Texas State Gazetter for 1884, 320. 
16b Murray, in the prime of life, was a man of no mean ability. His experiences 

were somewhat varied. In 1886 he had crossed the Staked Plains on a trip with 
cattle to Montana. Prior to his removal to Crosby County he was county judge of 
Taylor County. His rather extensive reading had given him a great fund of informa- 
tion. He published the Crosby County News for nearly twenty years, 
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Soon after the organization of Crosby County, in 1886, 

the Crosby County News was established at Estacado by 

John W. Murray. This was the first newspaper founded on 

the Staked Plains. The nearest points where newspapers 

were published were Clarendon on the north, Seymour on the 

east, and Colorado City on the south. At this time Crosby 

County was not an attractive field for launching a newspaper 

enterprise, for Estacado then “had only two stores, a hotel 

and a few dugouts. '"’ The publisher looked to the business 

concerns of Colorado City and Amarillo for advertising patron- 

age. The distance from Estacado to either point was about 

130 miles. Amarillo and Colorado City were strong rivals 

for the South Plains trade, and this rivalry redounded to the 

advantage of the Crosby County News. This publication 

was a teal booster, and glowing descriptions of the country 

went forth each week. More copies were sent abroad than 

were circulated at home. Such zeal on the part of the editor 

after about three years incurred the opposition of two ele- 

ments: namely, the cowmen, who objected to the settlement 

of the country under any circumstances, and the Quakers, who 

protested against settlement by any except people of their 

own particular faith. Murray says that the Quakers made 

overtures, then threats, and finally instituted a boycott, while 

the cattlemen looked on and chuckled with joy. In 1890 

Murray took steps to maintain the life of the Crosby County 

News, and at the same time deal the Quakers a heavy blow. 

He contrived a scheme to found a new town and take the 

county seat from Estacado. A town company was quietly or- 

anized, and the town of Emma came into existence near 

the center of Crosby County. In December, 1890, Murray 

moved his printing plant to Emma, and began a relentless 

agitation for the removal of the county seat. No election 

could be held for this purpose until the expiration of Estacado’s 

five year tenure. The election for the removal of the county 

seat was held October 14, 1891. Section 1, two miles east 

17 John W. Murray in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 
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of Emma, was put in the race to split the Estacado vote.'® 
Emma received 10g votes; Section 1, 19; and Estacado, Bie 
When Estacado lost the County set the fate of the Quaker 
settlement was sealed. The Quakers had met with many dis- 
couragements, and, with the loss of the county seat, they did 
not care to remain any longer at Estacado. Some returned to 
Indiana and other old-time homes, while others went to Lub- 
bock County, and to other states. Only Charles Holmes re- 
mained at Estacado, and in 1898 he moved to Kansas. Thus 
the old Quaker colony of Estacado became a memory.?° 

5. General Growth of the South Plains 

The establishment of the Quaker Colony at Estacado had 
made possible the organization of Crosby County at a much 
earlier date than would have been the case by ordinary immi- 
gration and settlement, and, with Crosby County’s early or- 
ganization, an Impetus was given for the settlement of neigh- 
boring counties. As mentioned before, Hale County began 
to settle up rapidly in 1887 because of shallow water, abun- 
dant homestead land, and proximity to Amarillo as a railroad 
point. Settlers in Hale County became numerous enough 
for its organization August 1 3, 1888. Plainview and Hale 
City contested for the County seat, Plainview being the win- 
ner. Ihe following County officers were chosen: J. C. 
Burch, county judge; R. A. Ford, sheriff and tax collector: 
E. L. Lowe, county and district clerk; L. G. Wilson, county 
attorney; C. W. Marseilles, county treasurer; W. E. Jones, 
county surveyor; J. H. Bryan, tax assessor; A. J. Welter, R. S. 
Stringfellow, A. E. Adams, and J. N. Morrison, county 
commissioners, A. L. Conklin, justice of the peace, and Ar- 
thur Taylor, constable of the Plainview precinct. In the elec- 
tion of November 6, 1888, 84 votes were cast for the dis- 
trict judge.*" The total votes cast in Crosby County for the 

18 H. C. Smith in The Crosbyton Review, February 28, 1912. 
19 Edgar Allen to Claude V. Hall, December 30, 1921. 
20 The Hesperian, December 21, 1905. 
21 Report of Secretary of State, 1888, 181. 
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same office were 249, but many of these were cast in attached 

counties, 28 of which were cast in Floyd County. 

During 1887 there were four marriages, one divorce, three 

births, and no deaths in Crosby County. The population 

that year was 108 males and 72 females. The disparity in 

the members of the sexes is due to the fact that many un- 

married men were employed on the cattle ranches. There 

were 34 families and 53 children within scholastic age. In 

the election for statewide prohibition on August 4, of that 

year, Crosby County gave 35 votes for and 16 against that 

proposition. No election was ordered in the attached coun- 

ties.?? 

6. Events Leading to the Founding of Della Plain 

During 188627 a protracted and devastating drouth pre- 

vailed over Western Texas, and a great scarcity of grass, 

stock feed, and surface water resulted, particularly in that 

region of the West lying east of the Staked Plains. There 

the surface is more or less broken and cattle, horses, and sheep 

died by the thousands from thirst and hunger. During this 

time, however, the Staked Plains was not perceptibly affect- 

ed, as the wells were never failing, the settlemnts sparse, and 

the range not overstocked. It was in the midst of this peril- 

ous situation for stock farmers in the West that T. J. Braid- 

foot, of Baylor County, was compelled to seek a new range 

for his cattle, and in the early part of the summer of 1886 

he drove his herds to Floyd County. He spent the follow- 

ing winter in the breaks in the eastern part of the County. 

In the meantime the Fort Worth & Denver City railroad 

was building westward from Wichita Falls and the Wichita 

Valley Railroad was making Seymour its objective. The con- 

struction of these railroads attracted attention to the west, and 

a tidal wave of immigration was flowing westward. Crosby 

County had already been organized, and Hale County was 

22 an of Secretary of State 1887-1888, 1 6. 

22b J. S. McLain, of Mickey, Texas, has kindly y wa ee most of the facts pertaining 

to the founding of the first town in Floyd County; i.e., Della Plain. 
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looking forward to an eatly organization. Therefore, one did 
not need to “have the gift of ptophecy and understand all 
mysteries’ to foresee that Floyd County would be in a few 
years sufficiently populous for county organization. Under 
these conditions Braidfoot quickly conceived the scheme of 
founding a town to be groomed for the county seat when or- 
ganization should be effected. He located a school section 
as near the center of the county as could be ascertained, since 
the county boundary line had not been definitely established. 
The first thing essential to the new town’s existence was to 
provide a water supply, and efforts at sinking a well in the 
center of the section were undertaken by District Surveyor 
H. C. Knight revealed that this Improvement was near the 
west line of the section and in a strip of country which afford- 
ed no underground water, a singular freak in the nature of the 
Staked Plains. An abundant supply of water was found by a 
subsequent drilling in the exact center of the section for the 
projected town. 

At the outset of this enterprise, Braidfoot, after taking an 
inventory of his own financial resources and estimating the 
probable cost involved, realized that he lacked sufficient cap- 
ital to carry out to a successful conclusion his scheme for an 
embryo county seat. He thereupon formed a partnership with 
J. R. McLain, of Seymour, to help put the new town on the 

map of Floyd County. McLain was then a man of means, 

energy, and experience. He had unbounded faith in the 

country’s future. A little later, however, the partnership be- 
tween Braidfoot and McLain was terminated, as Braidfoot, 

after taking account of the hugeness of the undertaking, 
found that he was financially unable to perform fully his part 
in the partnership. Braidfoot sold his entire interest except a 
few blocks to Dr. L. T. Wilson and Judge I. R. Darnell, both 
of Seymour, but afterwards bought back an interest in the 
town promotion firm. 
7. Della Plain’s First Settlers and Improvements iby 

To give tangible proof of the town’s existence, a building 
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was erected on the north side of the public square. The 

lumber and other materials for the building were hauled in 

the early part of the autumn of 1887 from Wichita Falls, a 

distance of 175 miles, by means of ox wagons. It was in- 

tended for a store, but at first lumber for the floor and 

shingles for the roof were lacking. It remained in this un- 

finished state for several months, but it served as a temporary 

dwelling place for the families of new comers and as a place 

for public assembly. 

Meanwhile the Fort Worth and Denver City Railway 

extended its train service to Childress, which was thence- 

forth, for a few months, the trading point for Floyd County 

settlers. From the latter part of 1887 to the summer of 1898 

Amarillo was the principal trading point during the warm 

seasons while Childress was the market for cold seasons. 

Estacado was about thirty miles southwest of the new town 

in Floyd County, and this was then deemed quite convenient 

for Floyd County settlers for mail facilities, for land and legal 

business, and for trading in small wares. 

Among the new settlers of Floyd County in the vicinity 

of the new town was J. S. McLain. He had been a citizen 

of Texas only a few years. He and his family came from 

Randolph County, Arkansas, whence they moved to Baylor 

County, where they resided until their removal to Floyd 

County in the autumn of 1887. He was influenced 1n mov- 

ing to Floyd County by two men who were town promoters. 

One man, his uncle, J. R. McLain, who was putting his 

faith in Floyd County and the new town then being founded. 

The other was Paris Cox, the founder of Estacado and the 

county clerk of Crosby County until 1888. Cox spent some 

time in the winter of 1886-1887 at Seymour transcribing the 

records of Baylor County pertaining to Crosby County. Cox 

lost no opportunity to set forth the resources and advantages 

of the Staked Plains. McLain settled upon a school section 

a mile northwest of the new town in Floyd County. The 

promoters in casting about for a name for the town decided 
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upon Della Plain in honor of McLain’s daughter, Della. 
Della Plain grew during 1888 and 1889 at a rate that was 

gratifying to its promoters. In 1888 a new store building 

was erected on the west side of the public square. But at 

first it served pretty much the purposes which had char- 

acterized the one on the north side of the square. AQ square- 

topped building of several rooms was put up near the south- 
east corner of the public square. This most pretentious build- 

ing of the first year or two was occupied as a hotel by T. J. 
Braidfoot. In all directions from Della Plain habitations were 

fast provided, and most of them were dugouts and sod houses. 

The settlers in general were not well supplied with funds, 

but they had ample time to devote to the construction of 

homes which cost nothing save muscular exertion on the part 
of the owners. 

Seg Bradford, a surveyor by calling, near the close of 1887 

located on a quarter section in the homestead strip lying north 

of Della Plain. Like a number of others about Della Plain, 

he and his family were from Baylor County. He built his 

home out of cedar posts after the fashion of a stockade. The 

posts were placed close together in an upright position, and 
the walls were lined on the interior with wagon sheets. Here 

Bradford resided until the organization of Hale County in 

the summer of 1888, when he located near Plainview, where 

he remained until 1898. He then removed to New Mexico, 

where he afterwards died of tuberculosis. He was highly 

respected wherever he lived. He located the school lands 

for the permanent school fund of Floyd County in Bailey 

County in 1890. 
Business enterprises were few. In the fall of 1888 D. R. 

Wilson put in a small stock of merchandise in the first build- 
ing erected at Della Plain. The stock consisted chiefly of 

tobacco, canned goods, and small wares, and represented 

a capital of about one hundred dollars. In the spring of 1889 
Wilson was succeeded in this business by Davis Brothers, who 
felt justified to enlarge the stock of goods, as more settlers 
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came into the country; but in the following summer A.. J. 

Sams came into possession of this store. The Davis Brothers 

left Della Plain and settled on some homestead land about 

six miles northwest of Della Plain and near the site of Lock- 

ney, which was to be the rival of Della Plain. Sams re- 

mained in business at Della Plain until the founding of 

Mayshaw in 1892, whither he moved and continued merchan- 

dising until 1895, when he became a citizen of Lockney. 

The old store building on the north side of the square at 

Della Plain was occupied as a store, a dwelling, and a post 

office by A. D. White until 1893. 

In the spring of 1888 a special post office at Della Plain 

was established. It was supplied from Estcado. J. R. 

McLain was postmaster, and R. E. L. McLain, assistant 

postmaster. J. S. McLain served as mail carrier most of the 

time that Della Plain was specially supplied with mail from 

Estacado. About a year later Della Plain was converted into 

a regular post office. A mail route from Amarillo to Esta- 

cado, via Plainview and Della Plain, was created. Della 

Plain still received the mail once a week, but it was received 

more expeditiously than before. 

In January, 1889, R. E. L. McLain founded The Della 

Plain Review in order that Floyd County and Della Plain 

might become better known to those who were thinking of 

seeking homes 1n the West. During the life of this publica- 

tion its editor strove zealously to set forth the country’s 

merits and to get people identified with Della Plain’s aims 

and aspirations. The editor was also the general agent of 

the town’s promoters. Aside from his duties as editor, land 

agent, and assistant post master, he seemed to have had at his 

disposal much time to converse with prospectors and settlers 

over the country s resources and possibilities. His enthusiasm 

and rather glib tongue led him into a great many indiscre- 

tions. He sometimes unwittingly berated other towns than 

Della Plain and other counties than Floyd County. He 

urged earnestly the early organization of Floyd County and 
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caustically censured the commissioners’ court of Crosby Coun- 
ty for delaying to provide for Floyd County to assume a sep- 

arate existence. 
When Della Plain was established there were no roads 

across the county, to speak of. Most travel was by course 

or by cattle trails. To facilitate travel between Della Plain 
and. Plainview a route was marked out by the aid of a pocket 

compass and by means of a cedar log dragged over the ground 
by a wagon. The mark thus made for the guidance of the 

traveler was on a line to Plainview, and it ran about one mile 

south of the site where Lockney was afterwards founded. 

Without some sort of dependable guidance it was indeed 

easy for a traveler to lose his way. 

A blacksmith shop was set up at Della Plain in 1888 

by J. C. White. As evidence of appreciation of the black- 

smith’s arrival, the town promoters erected gratuitously a shop 

of sod and timbers. For nearly a year he plied his trade in 

this structure, but in 188g circumstances arose which in- 

fluenced him to leave Della Plain and to locate at Lockney. 

His son-in-law, R. M. Emerson, was one of the promoters of 

Lockney, and White had what he believed to be a just griev- 

ance against some Della Plain people. Upon his removal to 

Lockney he exhibited his contempt for Della Plain people 

by tearing down the sod walls and conveying the timber to 

Lockney. Quite naturally the citizens of Della Plain could 

not look upon this indignity with complacency. White re- 

mained at Lockney until 1893, and then moved to New 

Mexico. 

8. Social and Cultural Events 

On Christmas Eve, 1888, Della Plain had its first public 

dance in the old store building on the north side of the 

public square. Few, if any, of the nearby settlers were absent 

from this social function. J. C. White and one of his daugh- 

ters furnished music for the occasion. The violins were his 

own handwork. They were rough in finish, but the music 

they produced was quite satisfactory to all present. The 
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dance closed before it was intended because of a quarrel be- 

tween an overgrown boy and a domineering fellow. How- 

ever, the festivities did not end. To the Braidfoot Hotel the 

crowd repaired and played games, but these soon terminat- 

ed, when a sensitive father took his daughters home. 

One character who bore a conspicuous part at the dance on 

Christmas eve was a Mr. Van Winkle, a typical frontiersman. 

He was just as nature made him. He was well-built. His 
hair was long and unkempt, while his beard was tangled and 

shaggy. He wore a long, greasy, ragged overcoat of brown 

duck, with a piece of frazzled rope tied about his body. He 

bore some resemblance to the famous Rip Van Winkle just 
after recovering from his sleep of twenty years. Who were 

his ancestors no one could surmise. He did not really dance 

but he actively directed the movements. He cared nothing 

for the amenities of society, and when settlers became more 

numerous, he and his family hied away for New Mexico. 

The first school in Floyd County was at Della Plain in 

in the winter of 1888-1889. There were fifteen scholastics 

in Floyd County, and the per capita apportionment was 

$4.00, $60.00 being the total school fund. Miss Emma 

Lewis, of Estacado, was the teacher, and T. J. Braidfoot, 

J. S. McLain, and A. V. McCracken served as trustees. 
The teacher was paid $30.00 per month and the term was 

four months. The teacher’s salary was supplemented by 
private subscriptions. The year following there were twenty 

scholastics, and the total school fund amounted to $80.00. 
W. M. Massie was the teacher, and his salary was $40.00 

per month for four months. The teacher was paid for two 

month’s services in money, and for the remaining two months 

in cedar posts and wood. The two Merrill boys, sons of 

W. A. Merrill, of Blanco Canyon, attended the second school 

session of the school at Della Plain from their home twelve 

miles away. 
The year 188g marked the arrival of a number of new- 

comers in the vicinity of Della Plain. Among these were 
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B. F. Farmer, Amos Hamilton, H. Terry, A. J. Byars, C. D. 

Farmer, W. M. Ewen, J. A. Ewing, C. H. George, Rae 

Miller, J. 1. Thomas, C.F: Ramsey, A. D: White, and 

W. M. Bailey. There were enough now to inspire the pro- 

moters of Della Plain with the hope for an early organization 

of Floyd County. 

Early in 1889 a Sunday School was organized. R. T. 

Miller was the superintendent. The interest was marked, as 

some people who attended lived ten miles or farther from Della 

Plain. Occasionally there were divine services at Della Plain. 

Sometimes the store building on the north side of the public 

square was used as a place of worship, and at other times, 

meetings were held in dugouts. O. A. Shook, J. H. Stegall, 

and Thomas Duncan, the men who preached in the Canyon 

Settlement, visited Della Plain. These preachers, together 

with Anson Cox, the Quaker preacher of Estacado, may 

justly be reckoned the pioneer preachers of the Staked Plains. 

Cox included Della Plain in his visits. J. H. Stegall, writ- 

ing from Dickens County, September 27, 1888, reported 

that in company with Rev. John A. Wallace, a presiding 

elder, and Rev. J. H. Wiseman, he conducted a series of 

meetings, beginning at Estacado on September 15, then 

going to Plainview, where they held a quarterly conference 

of the Methodist church on Saturday and Sunday, Septem- 

ber the twenty-second and twenty-third, and lastly reaching 

Della Plain, where Wallace preached on Monday evening. 

On the following morning Wallace and Wiseman left for 

Haskell?#© to hold another quarterly conference, while Ste- 

gall proceeded to his home in Dickens County.”* 

9. Lockney as Della Plain’s Rival 

Immigration in 1889 was relatively large. About seven 

22c Rev. J. H. Stegall was well known to the writer, to whom he related much of 

his life. He moved from Arkansas to Cooke County, Texas, in 1886. From 1875 

to 1887 he resided near Fort Griffin, in Shackleford County. He resided in Dickens 

County until his death, with the exception of a few years which he spent in Swisher 

County. His wife was the mother of Lieutenant Governor J. N. Browning. She died 

in 1903 and he in March, 1907. 

23 The Texas Christian Advocate, October 11, 1888. 
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miles northwest of Della Plain there was a body of State land 

subject to homestead occupation, on which water could be 
obtained at fifty feet, while wells on the school land near 

Della Plain were from 150 to 200 feet deep. The result was 
that many of the newcomers occupied these homestead lands, 

and the founding of a new town naturally followed. 
The first men with families who formed the new settle- 

ment in the homestead belt included J. E. F. Koger, T. B. 
Stewart, S. D. Mills, R. M. Emerson, W. L. Covey, J. H. 

Lockney, and J. F. Lockney. J. F. Lockney was a man of 
much native shrewdness. He had had extensive business 

interests at Abilene and Haskell,?* but the drouth which 

prevailed from 1885 to 1887 left him bankrupt. Like others, 

he moved to the staked plains to begin a new career. His 

keen eye saw an opportunity to found a town as the rival 
of Della Plain. In this enterprise he was joined by W. L. 
Covey, W. R. Davis, and R. M. Emerson.** Together the 
partners owned four 160-acre homesteads, which formed a 

square section, and on this was platted the new town by Dis- 

trict Surveyor H. C. Knight of Crosby County. Knight 

was requested to choose a name for the town, and he called 

it Lockney, in honor of J. H. Lockney, the venerable father 

of J. F. Lockney. The new town thus’ established was 
ambitious to outstrip Della Plain and win the county seat 

at the approaching organization of Floyd County. Its pro- 

moters impressed prospectors with the difference in the depth 
of water at the two places. Della Plains’ promoters affected 
to look with contempt upon Lockney, which they called 
“Pulltight”. Lockney had one store in which W. R. Davis 
and Company kept a small stock of merchandise and the 

post office. 

10. Efforts to Hasten County Organization 

Fearing the result of competition, Della Plain attempted 

to hasten the organization of the county, but found diffi- 

24 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 
25 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 

[ 94 ] 



culty in obtaining the 150 names to the petition necessary 

for that purpose. Prospectors and transients who chanced 

to pass through Della Plain were earnestly solicited to locate 

in that vicinity. If the traveler was headed elsewhere, he was 

warned against the mistake of settling where the soil was 

sterile,2° the water exhaustible, and the seasons rainless. If 

all efforts were unavailing to induce him to locate at Della 

Plain, then he was prevailed upon to help by signing the 

petition for organization. 

In the general election of November 6, 1888, the resi- 

dent citizens of Floyd County had for the first time been 

permitted to vote. The commissioner’s court of Crosby 

County constituted Floyd County, as a whole, as an election 

district and designated the home of Arthur B. Duncan as 

the election box for the Floyd County voters. A total of 

twenty-eight voted, viz: B. F. Merrill, L. C. Darby, S. B. 

Chadwick, W. Methley, A. M. Mills, Frank Dacus, J. F. 

Sutton, P. C. Ketchum, A. K. Lathum, Henry Schweitzer, 

Thomas Teeling, Arthur B. Duncan, J. J. Day, H. S. Van 

Trees, H. K. Baughn, W. R. Vandeveer, C. E. Vandeveer, 

J. A. Burrus, J. S. McLain, E. C. Fullingim, R. E. L McLain, 

D. R. Wilson, T. J. Braidfoot, E. Cox, and Tom Cox.?’ 

These comprised pretty fully the voting population of Floyd 

County at that time, and when, in August, 1889, a goodly 

delegation of Della Plain citizens visited Estacado and pre- 

sented a petition for organization, bearing 150 names, the 

commissioners skeptically investigated the validity of each, 

and refused to order an election for organization. The Della 

Plains “boosters” sought at the next term of district court 

at Estacado to compel the commissioners by mandamus to 

effect the immediate organization of Floyd County. Failing 

in this, the Floyd County members of the grand jury insti- 

tuted an investigation of the official act of the commissioners, 

and found that three of them had failed to make reports on 

26 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 2, 1905. 

27 Arthur B. Duncan to Claude V. Hall, January 28, 1922. The letter overlooked 

the names of the three others who voted at this time. 
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the condition of the public roads in their respective precincts, 

as the law provided.*° There were no public roads laid out, 

but the three commissioners were indicted for the non- 

performance of their official duties. Thus rested matters 

relative to organization until the following spring. 

28 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 
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Chapter VII 

THE ORGANIZATION OF FLOYD COUNTY 

1. Lack of Unity for Early Organization 

After the founding of Della Plain in 1887 the organiza- 

tion of Floyd County was the one great event to which man 

looked forward with eagerness. As long as Della Plain was 

the only town in the county it was the expectation of all that 

it would be the seat of government. Lockney, established 

in 1889 so far from the center of the county, was not serious- 

ly regarded by the mass of people already in FloydCounty 

as a considerable rival. However, as before stated, the pro- 

motets of Della Plain clamored for an early organization of 

the county, and their one vexing problem was to secure 

favorable action by the commissioners court of Crosby Coun- 

ty. Apparently the element attempting to hasten the or- 

ganization had incurred the ill will of the county officials 

of Crosby County, who, in turn, were severely lampooned 

by Della Plain enthusiasts. [he promoters of Lockney, on 

the other hand, favored delaying the organization, because 

their chances for success depended upon a marked change 

in conditions, which time only could bring about. As long 

as sentiment towards early organization was divided the com- 

missioner’s court of Crosby County did not feel justified in 

lending encouragement to Della Plain’s scheme. However, 

sentiment did early in the year 1890 unite in favor of the 

immediate organization because of a sudden turn of af- 

fairs in Floyd County, and this was the founding of Floydada. 

2. The Founding of Floydada 
The creation of Floydada' 1s interesting as well as im- 

portant in its bearing on the history of Floyd County's organ- 

ization. Many an important event occurs by mere chance 

or accident, and this seems to be true of the founding of 

Floydada. Her coming into existence was indeed sudden 

and surprising. 

In the month of February, 1890, a party of nine men left 
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Childress on a tour of inspection among some unorganized 

counties that were receiving a perceptible immigration. This 

party was composed of W. T. Montgomery, J. J. Harrison, 

M. C. Williams, J. A. Reed, G. H. Chapman, J. H. Hen- 

derson, James Broyles, and two others whose names cannot 

be recalled. These men started out with the notion that 

they might found a town in Lubbock County and set go- 

ing a movement for the organization of that county. In 

Lubbock County they spent a few days in the vicinity of 
Singer's Store, which was near the site on which the town of 

Lubbock was afterwards established. The land here was 

more undulating than that of Floyd County. The prospect 

of the settlement and organization of Lubbock County seem- 

ed too remote to interest these men, as they were seeking 

something that would bring them early and lucrative re- 

turns. Besides, the prospectors fancied a great many objec- 

tions to the Lubbock country, and these objections threw 
them into a state of dissatisfaction. They retraced their steps 

and spent a few days at Estacado. Here they chanced to see 

a copy of The Della Plain Review, which was heaping ana- 

themas upon the commissioner's court of Crosby County 

because of its reluctance to permit Floyd County to organize. 

The county officials at Estacado had come to have a feeling 

of resentment towards Della Plain. At this juncture the 

prospectors were shown in the deed records of Crosby County 

the following deed of dedication: 

STATE OF MISSOURI) 
COUNTY OF COLE ) 

Know all men by these eee 
That I, Caroline V. Price and James B. Price, her husband, have granted and 
conveyed, and by these presents do grant and convey unto Floyd County for 
the use of the public, the following described property, to-wit: 
All the streets, alleys, parks, and Court House square in the town of Floyd 
City, as shown by the above plat, the same being situated in Floyd County, 
Texas, and being the 640 acre survey, Survey No. 33, Abstract No. 15, 

Certificate No. 350. 
To have and to held the above described premises as long as the ublic uses 
the same, and, on failure to use the same, to revert back to said Caroline V. 

1 Many of the facts pertaining to the founding of Floydada were furnished by 

the late and lamented W. rr Montgomery. 
1a Deed Records of Floyd County, 1, 517. 
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Price, her heirs, and assigns. 
Witness our hands this 12th day of March, 1887. 

(Signed) CAROLINE V. PRICE 
JAMES B. PRICE 

A further investigation revealed to the prospectors that Caro- 

line V. Price of Jefferson City, Missouri, was the owner of 

forty-three sections of land lying south of Della Plain, in 

Floyd County. The idea struck them that Mrs. Price could 
be interested in a town building scheme that would outstrip 

both Della Plain and Lockney. On closer investigation they 

learned that the section that Mrs. Price had designated as a 

town site was not wholly situated to their wishes, as some 

of the party wanted for themselves school sections adjoining 

the town site projected. H. Terry and sons were occupying 

the school section adjoining Section 33, which was named 

in the deed of dedication. Other Price sections which would 

meet the demands of the Childress party were investigated. 

Before leaving Estacado they tentatively agreed upon Sec- 

tion 65, in Block 1, A. B. and M., belonging to Mrs. Price, 

as the site for the proposed town. Coming to Floyd County 

they had Chapman, a surveyor by calling, to run a line from 

Terry’s place to Section 65, the northwest corner of which 

was two miles south of the southeast corner of Section 33. 

But in the midst of these activities a lack of harmony de- 

veloped among the prospectors, and the project was dropped 

for the time being. But activities on the part of some did not 

entirely cease. 

Upon returning to Childress, Williams communicated 

with Mrs. Price and she immediately sent J. K. Gwynn as 

her representative. Gwynn learned that Williams was enter- 

taining some notion of establishing a town on his own ac- 

count in the event he could not make with Mrs. Price an 

arrangement satisfactory to himself. Gwynn lost no time, 

therefore, in joining forces with Williams. An effort was 

made to locate the town to be on Section 61, cornering with 

section 65 on the northeast, as Section 61 was seen to be a 

mile nearer the center of the county than section 65; but a 
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close inspection of the surface features revealed the existence 

of a basin nearer the center, and this fact led finally to the 

adoption of section 65 as the new town site. Section 65 was 

platted precisely as Section 33 had been in the deed of dedi- 

cation of March 12, 1887. Each business block was laid off 

with 32 lots,* 25x150 feet in size, and each residence block, 

with sixteen lots, 50x150 feet in size. The four principal 

streets leading from the court house square were each 100 

feet wide, and all other streets, 75 feet wide, and all alleys 

were 25 feet wide. Besides the court house square, two blocks 

designated as Washington and Napoleon Parks and two half 

blocks for school and church purposes were laid out. The 

streets running east and west were designated from the north 

side of the town section in the following order: Price, Ross, 

Grover, Lee, Jackson, Virginia, Missouri, California, Missis- 

SIppl, Kentucky, Tennessee, Georgia, Houston, and Crockett; 

those running north and south numbered from One to Twelve. 

The total number of blocks was 143. 

The appearance of Gwynn on the scene gave great impetus 

to the new town movement, as he was a leader among men 

and the reputed representative of great financial interests. 

He drew about him a group who enthusiastically followed his 

leadership. Williams filed on the school section lying south 

of the town section; Harrison, on the one on the west side; 

M. EF. Rountree, on the one on the east side; and J. D. Starks 

and W. J. Westmoreland, on the one on the north side. Starks 

was the first to erect a house on his claim. The first man 

to make a beginning in the improvement of the town was 

Montgomery, who removed a mesquite grub from the south- 

west corner of the public square. The first business house 

erected was Williams’ Exchange Saloon on the southwest 

corner of the public square. The next building was a two- 

room section of the Hardy Hotel, and later on two more 

rooms were added. Westmoreland, Harrison and Company, 

land agents, put up a small office structure. S. B. Chadwick 

2 Deed Records of Floyd County, II, 294. 
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soon followed with a store building, in which he installed a 
stock of groceries. Gwynn had a public well with a wind- 
mill placed on the public square, and for a few months many 

of the people for three or four miles about obtained their 

supply of water from this well. 

3. The Election of Officers and County Seat 

In the beginning of Floydada’s growth the organization 

election and the county seat contest were under headway. 

Lockney saw that she could not avail anything for herself 

by standing alone, and she readily accepted the invitation to 

unite with Floydada in opposition to Della Plain as a common 

foe. In the outset Floydada did not want the contest to 

take place soon, but Della Plain was, as usual, impatient of 

delay. As before stated, Della Plain’s standing with the 

commissioners’ court of Crosby County was unfavorable, but 

by representing that Lockney was also eager for Floyd County 

to otganize without further delay, the commissioners were 

won.? A petition bearing the requisite number of signatures 

was presented, and on April 14, 1890, the Commissioner s 

Court of Crosby County convened in a called session at 

Estacado. The following officers were present: W. GC. Dock- 

um, county judge; A. W. Lewis, J. E. Overhuls, J. W. Allen, 

and H. B. Smith, County commissioners; K. E. Hoy, county 

clerk, pro tem; and T H. Lewis, deputy sheriff. [he court 

unanimously passed an order providing for an election for the 

choosing of a county seat and of county and precinct officers 

for Floyd County. The date set for election was May 28, 

1890, and four voting boxes and. presiding officers were des- 

ignated as follows: precinct No. 1, Lockney, J. F. Lockney, 

presiding officer; Precinct No. 2, Della Plain, J. A. Ewing, 

presiding officer; Precinct No. 3, residence of Arthur B. 

Duncan, W. M. Ewen, presiding officer; and precinct No. 

4, residence of W. A. Merrill, W. A. Merrill, presiding of- 

Gcer.4 For six weeks the contest lasted, and it was indeed 

3 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 

4 Minutes of Commissioner's Court of Floyd County, Poreae 
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intense and exciting. The methods employed by leaders of 
either contestant for the county seat might not now be de- 

fended, but there was so much of a personal and financial 
nature involved as to constitute extenuating circumstances. 

The total vote cast was eighty-eight, fifty-five for Floydada 

and thirty-three for Della Plain, and the following county 

officers were chosen: Arthur B. Duncan, county judge; John 

C. Hendrix, county attorney; R. T. Miller, county and dis- 

trict clerk; D. W. Jenkins, sheriff and tax collector; E. E. 

Keeley, county treasurer; L. C. Darby, tax assessor; W. M. 

Massie, county surveyor; and C. F. Ramsey, T. B. Michael, 

W. R. Vandeveer, and B. P. Merrell, county commissioners. 

The first county officers thus chosen went to Estacado to be 

sworn in, and to have their bonds approved by Judge 

Dockum.* 

4. County Seat Election Contested. 

The election of May 28 was contested when the commis- 

sioners’ court of Crosby County met to canvass the returns 

and to declare the result. The promoters of Della Plain em- 

ployed Judge J. L. L. McCall, of Weatherford, and Judge 

. W. Hall, of Vernon, to point to the commissioners’ 

court the alleged irregularities of the election. The election 

box at the residence of Arthur B. Duncan was thrown out 

on the ground that the presiding officer, W. M. Ewen, had 

failed to deliver the separate returns to the county clerk.® 

In conveying the returns on horseback Ewen found it con- 

venient to put inside the ballot box with the ballots the two 

sets of poll lists, tally sheets, and returns made out separately 

and enclosed within separate envelopes for the county judge 

and for the county clerk, and when he arrived at Estacado he 

took out the set for the county judge and delivered it to him, 

but the ballot box was delivered to the country clerk without 

removing from it the set for him. The attorneys for Della 

Plain urged that since the presiding officer had not complied 

s Arthur B. Duncan to Claude V. Hall, January 28, 1922. 

6 Arthur B. Duncan to Claude V. Hall, April 19, 1922. 
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with Art. 1698, Revised Statutes of 1879, the ballots of this 
box should not be included in computing the votes cast in 

said election, and the commissioners’ court acted in accord- 
ance with the attorneys’ contention. This action, however, 

did not materially affect the result of the election, as in the 

remaining three boxes Floydada received 41 and Della Plain 

27, votes. Wandeveer was appointed commissioner of pre- 

cinct No. 3. Irregularities in the other three boxes were 
alleged, but the commissioners’ court rejected them as un- 
tenable. 

Della Plain’s defeat, as a matter of fact, was a keen dis- 

appointment to those who had espoused her fortune in the 

contest for county seat. At first her supporters could not sur- 

render unconditionally. They entertained the hope that she 

would yet receive the trophy, and no effort was spared to at- 

tain this end. Every opportunity conceivable was seized 

upon. They attempted to induce the county and district 

clerk of Floyd County, R. T. Miller, who supported Della 

Plain, to maintain his office at Della Plain, as they contended 

that Floydada was not the legally chosen county seat; but 

Miller firmly refused. They awaited the first opportunity 

to “ask for an injunction and base a suit to test the legality 

of the county seat election.”” In September, 1890, the 

commissioners’ court of Floyd County passed an order to 1s- 

sue bonds in the sum of $7,000.00 for the purpose of build- 

ing a jail and purchasing court house supplies and fixtures. 

There was no contention over the need of these, but the order 

to erect a jail at Floydada was the first act by the commis- 

sioner’s court on which an injunction could be sought, and 

thereupon the county seat of Floyd County was a subject of 

litigation for nearly a year. / 

The suit brought was styled J. A. Ewing et al. v A. B. 

Duncan et al., and it was both an injunction and a mandamus 

proceeding in the district court which convened in November, 

1890. The petition stated that the purpose of the suit was 

7 Arthur B. Duncan to Claude V. Hall, January 28, 1922. 
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to prevent Floyd County from making an expenditure of 

public funds in the erection of public buildings for the use 

of the county at Floyd City”* (Floydada), and to compel the 

county judge to order an election for the selection of the 

county seat.° The petition alleged that the election of May 

28, 1890, was void for these reasons: that there was no order 

of the commissioners’ court of Crosby County fixing the day 

for election; that the election was not held on the day pro- 

vided for a general election of State and County officers; that 

the county judge of Crosby County did not canvass the vote 

and declare the result; that Floyd City (Floydada) was more 

than five miles from the geographical center of the county, 

and did not receive two-thirds of the votes cast; and that Floyd 

City (Floydada) did not receive a majority of the legal votes 

cast at the election. The interest in the outcome of the 

hearing of this suit before J. V. Cockrell, the district judge, 

and two years afterwards a member of Congress, was such 

as to bring a large crowd of Floyd County citizens to court. 

The demurrer of the defendants was sustained, whereupon the 

plaintiffs appealed to the Texas Supreme Court, where the 

case was finally passed on May 28, 1891. 

The contention that Floydada was without the five miles 

radius from the geographical center of the county and that 

she did not receive two-thirds of the legal votes cast was rather 

serious. In the meantime, while the appeal of this suit was 

pending before the supreme court, the Legislature of Texas 

passed the validating county seat act, approved? March 5, 

1891. This law validated the location of county seats in 

these counties where their organization was effected “under 

the belief that the law authorized the location of county seats 

more than five miles from the center of the county by a 

majority of the votes at such election,” and such were to re- 

7a Floyd sy is the County seat name, but a postoffice of that name could not 

be obtained, as there was already in Hunt County, Texas, a postoffice of the name 

of Floyd. 
8 Texas Reports, 230, 81. 
9 Gammel, Laws of Texas, X, 32. 
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main county seats “until such time the same may be re- 
moved by election.” Fortunately for Floydada the Validat- 

ing Act passed before the Supreme Court rendered its opinion 

on the case appealed. | 
On May 28, 1891, Judge Gaines rendered the opinion 

of the court. He held, (1) that where the commissioners’ 

court makes an order directing an election for an organiza- 

tion of a county and the choice of a county seat, the election 

is valid, though the order is not reported; (2) that an elec- 

tion for the organization of a county and the choice of a 

county seat need not be held at a general election; (3) that 

the fact that the county judge fails to canvass the returns 

and declare the result of an election to organize a county 

and choose a county seat, as he 1s by law required to do, does 

not invalidate the election, when it appears by other evidence 

what the result actually was; (4) that an averment in a 

petition that the majority of votes cast for a certain place as 

county seat were improperly influenced, “as plaintiffs are 

informed and believe’, by lots at that place being deeded 

to the voters, is insufficient, on general demurrer, as the 

averment should be positive, not on information and belief; 

and (5) that since the Validating Act of March 5, 1881, 

the election can not now be set aside merely because Floydada 

failed to receive two-thirds of all the votes for county seat 

at the election. Relative to the averment in the petition that 

votes for Floydada were improperly influenced by the deeding 

of lots to the voters Judge Gaines says: 
How can it be known that Floyd City (Floydada) did not receive a majoriey 

of the legal votes, when neither the number nor the names of those who were 

Soper induced to vote for that place is not known, the petition does not 

explain. Can it be said under these circumstances, that the allegation that 

Floyd City did not receive the requisite number of legal votes is made in good 

faith? It appears that the object of the allegation in regard to the matter was 

to take chances at establishing a case; although it is not known that a case 

exists. 

At this point Judge Gaines grows slightly humorous by 

remarking: 
It is somewhat analogous to a “fishing bill,” which had been defined to be 

one which shows no cause of action, and which endeavors to compel defendant 

to disclose one in plaintiff's favor. Carroll v. Carroll, II Barbour, 293. 
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5. Some Newspaper Controversies 

There were only a few months intervening between the 

election for organization and the general election of that fall. 

The various candidatures were somewhat involved in the 

county seat question. In the early part of September J. F. 

Lockney and John C. Hendrix procured an army press and 

a few fonts of badly worn type and founded Floydada’s first 

newspaper, The Texas Kicker. The Texas Kicker and the 

Della Plain Review contributed somewhat towards the antag- 

onisms between Floydada and Della Plain, and the thrusts 

that each made at the other are now amusing. In its issue 

of October 24, 1890, the Texas Kicker contained the follow- 

ing reference to its rival: 
We are able to see nothing reliable about a newspaper filled full of mail plate 

and advertisements and blows of a dead town and published in an out of the way 

place by a politically dead and bursted editor. 

In another place appears this item: 
Our circulation is allright, but it hurts some people awtul. 

In The Della Plain Review of October 31, 1890, was 

this news item: 
Bro. Lockney was in the metropolis this week learning the ways of a city and 

will probably tell his 350 readers what a grand thing it is to live in a city. 

Elsewhere in the same issue was the following self-laud- 

atory squib: 
The Review is ah a dandy. She is the only newspaper in the county and 

every settler in Floy County should subscribe for it and when you get through 

reading it send it to a friend back east. 

In answer to a statement running week after week in 

The Review that “Now is the time to subscribe for The Re- 

view, the only newspaper published in the country,” The 

Texas Kicker continually ran a retaliatory line to the effect 

that it was “the only reliable paper published in Floyd 

County.” 

The county judge’s race was the center of attention in 

the November election, as the incumbent at that time was 

an avowed supporter of Floydada. A. J. Sams and Fayette 

Copeland, who were reported to be stipporters of Della Plain 

were both candidates for county judge. The leaders of the 

Della Plain faction wanted to have no division in their ranks, 
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and a convention was called to concentrate on a candidate. 
Sams refused to have his name considered, and refused to 
withdraw from the race when Copeland received the nomina- 
tion. In its issue of October 28, 1890, The Texas Kicker 

contained the following reference to the convention at Della 

Plain: 
“They” held a private convention a few miles north of town on last Wednesday 
for the purpose of—? The voters of Floyd County will make a suitable selec- 

tion on the 4th (of November). 

Again in the same issue The Texas Kicker remarks: “We 
know a few candidates who were not nominated, but like the 

bed bug, they will get there all the same.” On Thursday 

evening, October 30, 1890, there was a candidate speaking 

at Floydada, and The Texas Kicker of October 31, 1890, 

observed: 
.... Prof. Copeland in the course of his remarks said “the convention which 
nominated me, met for the purpose of nominating a county judge.” We think 
however, he is entirely mistaken and that the voters of Floyd County on the 
4th of November, 18go, will emphasize our position and the votes he receives 
will cause him to use more exclamations and interrogations than we did in our 
article last week. 

In the election of November 4th the county judge and 
two of the commissioners chosen were favorable to Floydada 

and the remaining two commissioners sympathized with 

Della Plain. 

Shortly after the election The Texas Kicker was discon- 

tinued, Lockney bought Hendrix’s interest in the printing 

plant and began putting in new equipment for a publication, 

which appeared in April, 1891, as I'he Floyd County Times. 

Floydada’s growth during the fall and early winter months 

was gratifying. The Della Plain Review maintained its ex- 

istence and never abated in its zeal for Della Plain. Shortly 

after the appearance of The Times, I. J. Briscoe succeeded 

R. E. L. McLain as the editor of The Review. In May, 1891, 

the newspapers of the rival towns engaged in a controversy 

over the location of the county seat. The Review was posi- 

tive in its assertion that Floydada was not the legal county 

seat, and called on the people of Floyd County to get to- 

gether and definitely settle the question. The Times causti- 
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cally rebuked The Review for its agitation. In one issue just 

before the Supreme Court announced its decision holding 

that Floydada was legally chosen as the county seat, The 

Review contained the following: 
.. . In writing the article that has raised all this havoc, The Review man stated 

just what he believed to be stern, stubborn facts. We regret that Floyd City 
is and can only be (the) temporary county seat... . 

The Times seemed to find much merriment over the charge 

that various voters were given town lots to influence votes in 

behalf of Floydada. In the issue of June 21, 1891, The Times 
savs: We got the forty acres and the mule—wonder if we couldn’t swap the mule 

y * to some of those fellows that were “disinterested” in the other place. 

Again The Review said: 
We stand today an unorganized county. Floyd City is only the temporary 

county seat, whether by fair or foul means we are not prepared to say. 

The Times showed its elation over the Supreme Court's 

decision on May 28, 1891, by remarking: 
Supreme Court has washed us “white as snow” and thrown the dirty water 

on you fellows. 

Again The Times became humorous. It said: 
The commissioners of Crosby (county) have been corrupted by the donation 

of a few lots, put where they would effect the best results—but the commission- 

ers’ court has been sustained by the highest judicial tribunal in the great state 

of Texas—how much did the supreme court get? Were they made “interested” 

to the extent of a few lots? 

On June 12, 1891, The Review grew more conciliatory 

by saying: 
Now, that Floyd City has been declared the county seat, we extend congratula- 

tions. As we have often said, we hope to see her prosper. 

But The Times in its issue of June 19 puts in bold-face a 

plaintive soliloquy which was ascribed to The Review: 
I am sick. Something must have hit me. I feel just as if I wasn’t going to 

live long. Do you know what is the matter with me? Let’s see if I can crow. 

Co—no it won’t come—when I open my mouth to crow, the county seat wants 

to come up. What is the matter with the dod gasted thing that it won't digest? 

My organs would digest a sausage mill, three grind stones, and a circular saw, 

but I am afraid this county seat dose will kill me yet. 

6. A New Town Idea Incubated 

During the winter of 1890-1891 the opponents of Floydada 

proposed that an entirely new town be formed and made the 

county seat as a means of uniting both factions, but the 

supporters of Floydada violently opposed this. Citizens’ 

meetings were frequently suggested that the county seat 

question might be amicably settled, and this proposition 

was made the subject of considerable jest at the Floydada 
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Literary Society which met once a week at the school house. 

J. H. Angel, a local humorist, prepared as a special feature 
of the weekly meetings The Ephraim Messenger to be read 

by him as its editor. He represented himself as a progtessive 

negro, whose name was Ike Ephraim, who organized a cit- 

izen’s town meeting,'° dominated its deliberations, and lo- 

cated the county seat on his own section of land. He pub- 

lished The Ephraim Messenger, which ignored all other 

publications. He made generous use of burnt cork when he 

read an issue to the interested listeners. This publication 

represented Ephraim as a town of magical growth, and as a 

result, Della Plain and Floydada were both completely ab- 

sorbed. Besides boasting of Ephraim’s growth, The Mes- 

senger contained many humorous local news items, wherein 

it represented certain pious men as running saloons, others of 

high official position managing popcorn stands, and still 

others of doubtful fitness conducting religious revivals. This 

piece of burlesque was carried on for three or four months. 

7. Court House Built and a New Town 

During the spring and summer of 1891 there was a lull 

in the growth of the country, except that some 300 or 400 

settlers located on the homestead or vacant lands lying south 

and west of Floydada."' The antagonism between the rival 

towns doubtless made prospectors skeptical of the stability 

of Floydada. Most of the people who had settled in the 

county were not earning a livelihood, as they had not yet 

learned to adapt themselves to their new economic environ- 

ment. As an expedient for giving employment to many 

people and as an anchor for Floydada as the county seat, a 

movement for a bond issue for the erection of a court house 

at Floydada was started in July of that year. At first a stone 

court house costing $15,000 was advocated, but this project 

had to be abandoned when it was ascertained that Floyd 

County's tax values restricted her to an additional issue of 

only about $10,000. A pull then was made for a frame 

10 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 

11 J. I. Carter to Claude V. Hall, December 17, 1921. 
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structure costing $10,000, and on Monday, August 19, 

1891, the matter was acted upon by the commissioners’ 
court, with the result that two commissioners voted for and 
two against the proposition. The county judge cast the de- 
ciding vote in favor of the bond issue." The court house 
was made ready for use in the spring of 1892. But the con- 

struction of the court house, like that of the jail two years 
before, was an issue in the races for county judge and county 
commissioners in the general election of 1892. In the mean- 
time, however, Della Plain had become almost extinct by 

the founding of the town of Mayshaw two miles west of the 

Della Plain townsite. The Della Plain Review had suspended 
publication in August, 1891, and its plant was moved to 
Silverton, in Briscoe County.'* On May 20, 1892, The 

Mayshaw Zephyr was established by the “Citizens Town 

Company.” Its editor was J. H. Dodson, an attorney. The 
Zephyr pursued a conciliatory course. The county seat ques- 

tion was not mentioned in its columns. In its initial issue 

it announced that “‘we do not propose to let our zeal for any 
town lead us to make war upon other sections of this county 

simply because their inhabitants do not agree with us as to the 

advisability of certain measures’. While the two newspa- 

pers of Floyd County did not agitate the county seat ques- 

tion, there was nevertheless much ill feeling involved in the 
election. Floydada’s triumphs left unpleasant memories 

among those who had supported Della Plain. The election 
in the county judge’s race was rather close although Duncan 
was re-elected over his two opponents, J. H. Dodson and 

H. C. Atchison, by a small plurality. After 1892, a visita- 

tion of grasshoppers 1n a most destructive form and repeated 

dry years caused many settlers to move elsewhere. May- 

shaw maintained only a struggling existence. The location 

of the county seat ceased to be a subject of thought on the 

part of the mass of people in Floyd County, and this vexed 

question lay dormant for a few years. 
12 Minutes of the Commissioner's Court of Floyd County, I, 96. 
sa R. E. L. McLain to Claude V. Hall, May 15, 1922. 
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Chapter VIll 

FLOYD COUNTY SINCE ORGANIZATION 

1. Floydada's Early Growth 

After the organization of Floyd County, Floydada soon 

attained a widespread celebrity. She was heralded as “‘the 

queen of the Plains’,' “the future great city on the Plains’, 

and “the commercial metropolis of the country.” All of a 

sudden, town lots became valuable, and a multitude of en- 

terprises were In the air. Those who were interested fin- 

ancially or sentimentally in her crowth either feigned ot 

sincerely believed that she was destined to be a great railway 

center. The imagination of some was pinioned, as it was 

confidently asserted that Floydada was “On the Only Prac- 

tical Railroad route from Dallas and Fort Worth to the Pan- 

handle.”? For a year or two the projected Fort Worth and 

Albuquerque Railroad was expected to be constructed through 

Floydada,* as “there was scarcely a doubt but that the Albu- 

querque will rush out for the spring”’ (of 1891). There was a 

myth to the effect that those who founded Floydada had 1m- 

mense wealth at their command and that the same would be 

employed for the advancement of Floydada.* The agents 

of The Floyd City Town Company advertised that “much 

of the prosperity of Floyd County is due to the liberal and 

enterprising founder of Floyd City—Prot. J. K. Gwynn.° 

The fondest hopes of the supporters of Floydada were cher- 

ished for a few months by Gwynn's occasional visits, encour- 

agements, assurances, and improvements wrought. In July, 

1890, he erected a one room school house at a cost of about 

$700; in October, 1890, a temporary courthouse costing 

about $3,000; and in December, 1890, a hotel building at 

an outlay of about $2,500. As evidence of the fact that 

1 The Texas Kicker, Floydada, Texas, September 12, 1890. 

2 The Floyd County Times, April 24, 1891. 

3 The Texas Kicker, Floydada, Texas, October 24, 1890. 

4 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 

5s The Texas Kicker, Floydada, Texas, October 24, 1890. 
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Floydada’s growth soon reached a standstill the one-room 

school house was not enlarged for five years. The lower floor 

of the temporary courthouse was occupied with Johnson Bros. 
and Ainsworth’s General Merchandise stock, the Floyd 

County bank operated by this firm, and the county and dis- 

trict clerk’s office, while the upper floor contained a court 

room and six offices. J. P. Drace operated the new hotel a 
few months but finding the patronage too limited, he aban- 

doned this enterprise and became a stock-farmer. After the 

first year of the town’s existence, Gwynn left it to its destiny. 

In the winter of 1890-1891, Floydada contained the bus- 

iness concerns of J. A. Whitney & Co., hardware and imple- 
ments; Siddens & Johnson, groceries; Johnson Bros. and 

Ainsworth, general merchandise; S. B. Chadwick & Co., gro- 

ceries; W. O. Menefee, dry goods; Tomme & Ranft, gen- 

eral merchandise; M. C. Williams, saloon; Thomas Teeling, 

meat market; M. M. Day, livery stable: and the trades and 

professions were represented by Andrews, Tilson & Co., real 

estate agens; Massie & Menefee, real estate agents; Carter 

& Carter, land agents and surveyors; V. Andrews, physician 

and surgeon; John C. Hendrix, lawyer and land agent; 

Bartley & Bartley, law and land business; C. B. Adams, 

blacksmith; J. M. Powell, carpenter; W. T. Montgomery, 

contractor and builder; two hotels, the Floyd House and the 

Drace Hotel. The Floyd County Bank, a private concern, 

was the first bank on the Staked Plains between the Texas 
& Pacific Railway on the south and the Fort Worth and 

Denver City Railway on the north.° The Floydada post- 

office was created in September, 1890. When the county 
was organized with Floyd City as the county seat efforts 
were made to get a post office by that time, but the appli- 

cation was rejected by the Post Office Department because 
Hunt County already had a post office named Floyd. Ef 

forts were then made to secure a post office under the 

euphonious name of Floydalia, and here hangs a tale. Gwynn 

6 The Texas Kicker, Floydada, Texas, October 24, 1890. 
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looked after this matter in person, and he claimed the name 

was transmitted by wire to Washington with the result that 

the name Floydada was given the new post office,’ while 

Thomas Lawson Price, a step-grandson of Mrs. Caroline V. 

Price, states that the Prices wished to build a monument in 

the name of his mother Ada C. Price, and that the “name of 

the city was changed from Floyd City to Floydada, taking 

the name of the county and my mother’s name Ada.’”® 

When it was learned that the post office was established under 

the name of Floydada a number of people at the place were 

much dissatisfied, and some professional men persisted in 

iving Floydalia as their post office in the advertisements in 

The Texas Kicker and The Floyd County Times. Gwynn 

never did reveal to his friends in Floyd County that he was 

acting in consonance with the wishes of his clients 1n secur- 

ing a name for the post office. The first postmaster was 

J. H. Henderson, who served until Cleveland’s inauguration 

as President in 1893, when W. O. Menefee succeeded him. 

Henderson had seen service as a Union soldier, and afterwards 

he fought the Indians in the Northwest under General Cus- 

ter. At first the mail at Floydada was received from Estacado 

twice a week. In February, 1891, Floydada received mail 

three times a week from Plainview, and after about a year 

this line became a daily service, except Sunday. On June 

1, 1891, a tri-weekly mail route to Matador was established.® 

During the winter of 1890-1891 the citizens of Floydada 

organized the Floydada Board of Trade, which met weekly 

for the discussion of proposed enterprises. A telephone line 

to Childress was discussed, at first, with more or less enthusi- 

asm, but some of the leaders, after more mature thought, 

came to the conclusion that talking over a Wwite at so great a 

distance would be unsatisfactory on account of the high winds. 

It was therefore determined to construct a telegraph line. A 

+7 Arthur B. Duncan to Claude V. Hall, February 8, 1922. 

8 Thomas Lawson Price to Claude V. Hall, January g, 1922. 

9 The Floyd County Times, April 24, 1891. 
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committee was appointed to investigate and to report a plan 

for financing it. But interest soon became dormant, and fur- 

ther meetings ceased." 
J. D. Starks erected the first home at Floydada on his 

half section north of the town section. During the summer 

of 1890 a number of families lived in tents. Among the 

residences that were erected during the summer and fall 

of 1890 were those of Max R. Andrews, Dr. R. C. Andrews, 

W. O. Menefee, J. J. Harrison, M. C. Williams, Arthur B. 
Duncan, and D. W. Jenkins. Later during the winter R. 4 

Miller, S. B. Chadwick, and J. F. Lockney built box houses. 

Sam H. Kelsey, Ole T. Nystel, Frank Slack, J. D. Arnold, 

and J. M. Powell lived in dugouts. Powell’s dugout was 
covered with cloth." 

During the first year or two of Floydada’s existence few 
of the inhabitants provided themselves with wells and wind- 

mills, and rolling water kegs came into general use. On both 

ends of a keg blocks of wood with protruding spikes were 

placed. On these spikes were attached ropes or leather straps, 

by which the kegs were rolled on the ground. The kegs 

were ten-, twenty-, and even thirty-gallon capacity. J. D. 
Starks supplied his home one-half mile from the public well 

by means of a rolling keg drawn by his big dog Quanah. 

J. R. Keene’s home, two miles west of town, was supplied 

with water hauled from the public well on a slide drawn by 

two yearlings. The means thus employed in obtaining a 

water supply for home use illustrates the resourcefulness of 

the first people who lived at Floydada. The conditions that 

prevailed then were of high educative quality. At any rate, 

mollycoddles could not thrive. 

2. Some Vicissitudes of Early Days 

During the month of August, 1890, a prairie fire swept 

over the country from east to west. The grass of a strip of 

10 Minutes of the proceedings were seen by the writer about seventeen years ago, 

and notes were taken at that time. 
11 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1890. 
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country about four miles wide and fifteen miles long was 

destroyed. J. D. Arnold’s tent and household goods on the 
town section were consumed. Everybody became a fire- 
fighter, and late that evening the fire was brought under 
control. The destruction of the grass caused the settlers in 

the fire’s wake great loss and inconvenience, as most of them 

had to buy high-priced feed for their stock. But the hard- 

ship thus suffered was regarded as a mete incident to life 

in a new country. , 

On December 31, 1890, a heavy wind-storm visited the 

South Plains country. It arose about noon and continued 

until late in the night. It blew down the front of S. B. 

Chadwick & Company's store, unroofed the temporary court- 

house, and partly wrecked C. A. Tomme’s store and M. M. 

Day’s livery stable. Dugouts were places of refuge that ev- 

ening. Many hats, tubs, and other wares were swept to- 

wards the east. While the wind was raging many new- 

comers and prospectors were despondent and were turning 

their thoughts elsewhere for homes, but the following day 

was still and clear, warm and balmy. The ingenuity of 

real estate men was greatly taxed in their efforts to palliate 

the effects of western windstorms. Some who assumed 

scientific knowledge gave luminous explanations and de- 

clared that such a thing as a cyclone was impossible on the 

Staked Plains. The disadvantages of the climate were soon 

forgotten. 

Rumors of the invasion of hostile Comanches reached 

Floydada in February, 1891. It was first reported that the 

marauders had reached Clarendon and were slaying the whites 

mercilessly. Some at Floydada treated the report lightly, 

but others regarded 1t somewhat seriously. One night while 

the excitement was at its height Ole T. Nystel, a Nor- 

wegian settler from Bosque County, took the precaution to 

cuard his home by sleeping on the outside with his gun close 

at hand. During the night the gun was accidentally dis- 

charged. The report of the gun gave rise to the supposition 
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that the Indians had arrived and that hostilities had begun, 

and the entire population of the town was thrown into a 

state of intense excitement . Nystel had been captured by 
the Indians when a child, and he was far more apprehensive 

about the Indian invasions than others were. In a few days 

the report was found to be a hoax." 

In April, 1891, a Nebraskan of the name of Morgan, 

who was located on a section three miles south of Floydada, 

died rather suddenly. His remains had to be conveyed to 

Estacado for interment, as, up to this time, Floydada had 

no cemetery. This occasioned the purchase of a ten-acre 

tract of land one mile north of town for the Floydada cem- 

etery. In August, 1891, Jehu McMannis, the aged father 

of S. A. McMannis, a new dry goods merchant at Floydada, 

died, and his remains were the first to be deposited in the 
Floydada cemetery. 

In the early days of Floydada there was no lack of social 
diversion. On June 24, 1890, the first picnic and barbecue 

took place, and for a year thereafter Floydada’s chronology 

was reckoned from “June the Twenty-Fourth.” The at- 
tendance was large and the occasion felicitous, except that 

the sheriff had some trouble in quelling a cowboy who had 

imbibed too freely of the Exchange’s liquid goods. The year 
following, July 4 was celebrated with an elaborate program." 

Active preparations for the event began a month beforehand. 

The purpose was to cultivate a feeling of unity among the 
people of Floyd County. The various committees appoint- 

ed to work out the details of preparation represented all parts 
of the county. The program provided for music and dancing 
from 8 to 11 a.m., and from 11 a.m. to 1 p.m. there were 

addresses by W. M. Bailey, John C. Hendrix, and J. B. 
Bartley, and the Declaration of Independence was read by 

J. I. Carter, music interspersing the program. The remain- 

12 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 

‘a The Floyd County Times, June 19, 1891. 
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der of the day was consumed with dinner, baseball, music, 

and dancing. 

3. Early Court Proceedings 

The first session of district court in Floyd County, in 

November, 1890, transacted little business outside of pass- 

ing on the county seat injunction suit, Ewing et al. vs. Dun- 

can, et al., which had been set forth in detail in the previous 

chapter. The first grand jury of Floyd County was impaneled 
November 25, 1890, with the personnel as follows:'* J. F. 

Lockney, foreman, W. L. Covey, C. F. Ramsey, M. F. Roun- 

tree, R. P. Reeves, C. H. George, W. T. Montgomery, 

W. H. Tuder, E. C. Fullingim, G. R. Whitney, J. H. Hen- 

derson, and J. T. Thomas: In the regular session of the 
Twenty-Second Legislature the Fiftieth Judictal District was 
created. It was composed of the counties of Baylor, Knox, 

Crosby, Floyd, Motley, Hale, Dickens, and Lubbock, and 

the unorganized counties of King, Lamb, Bailey, Cochran, 

Lynn, and Hockley, and the same act provided for the session 

to be “‘in the county of Floyd on the fifth Monday after the 

first Monday in February and August, and may continue 

in session two weeks.”'"® W.R. McGill, of Baylor County, 

was appointed district judge, and W. Q. Henderson, of 

Floyd County, district attorney. On Monday, September 7, 

1891, district court convened at Floydada. Gambling had 

been carried on without much hindrance during the year. 

The grand jury at this session of the district court made a 

searching investigation of all violations of the law, and as a 

result about sixty-six indictments charging gambling were 

reported. At that time many persons of good character did 

not regard gambling with cards a gross crime, and they 

could see no reason why their favorite sport should be inter- 

fered with by the courts. Some even disdained to give the 

grand jury a full recital of the illegal transactions with which 

they were familiar. D. Y. Rainey disliked very much to 

15 Gammel, Laws of Texas, X, 36. 
14 Minutes of the District Court of Floyd County, I, 2. 
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testify against the “sports”, but when called on to testify 
he made an excellent State witness. At this session of the 

district court he eluded the grand jury’s subpoenas. One day 
he took refuge in T. G. Harkey’s wagon, concealing himself 
under a wagon sheet. Harkey drove his wagon to his home 

in the afternoon, and upon arriving there he had Rainey for a 

guest. Rainey did not return to Floydada while the grand 

jury wanted his presence. Later in the trial of some of the 
gambling cases Rainey had been advised by an attorney that 

he could not be made to testify, and, as he was not inclined 

to do so, he refused; but when told by the court what the 

penalty was, he responded, “Well, judge, I reckon I'd better 
testify.’ '*° The County Attorney, Sam D. Snodgrass, after- 

wards Assistant Attorney-General of the State, dismissed 

many of the indictments with the admonition that thenceforth 

the laws against gambling must be respected at Floydada as 

they were elsewhere, and subsequent grand juries reported 

comparatively few violations of the law. 

The courtroom of the temporary court house was a bach- 

elor’s dormitory, a loafers assembly, and a school for the study 

of law. At the March term of District Court, in 1892, four 

of these students of law were given a public oral examination 

for the bar and granted permanent license. The new attorneys 

thus schooled were J. H. Angel, C. J. Menefee, T. M. Bart- 

ley, and Sumpter S. Brown. Angel and Menefee the fol- 

lowing year took up ministry. Bartley was the first county 

judge of Lynn County. From 1912 to 1914 he was a mem- 

ber of the lower house of the Texas Legislature. Since then 

he has become Grand Secretary of the Royal Arch Chapter 

of Texas.'7 Brown was appointed county attorney soon after 

his admission to the bar. He was a man of peculiar mold. 

He had once been a preacher. At the time of his examination 

for the bar he was a mail carrier from Floydada to Lubbock, 

16 The writer knew Rainey quite well and was informed of these incidents at the 

time they occurred. 
17 T. M. Bartley to Claude V. Hall, February 14, 1922. 
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and he constantly wore a coat of black leather and trousers 
of brown duck. He neglected to shave and seemed wholly 
indifferent about his personal appearance. He had read ex- 
tensively, and his memory was unusually retentive. Im- 

mediately upon his accession to the county attorney's office 
he became an entirely changed man as to his personal appear- 

ance. He was an affable fellow, and his associates took many 

liberties with him. He was ambitious and he was encouraged 

to seek publicity.'7° 

4. Partisan Politics 

In 1892 Floydada was the center of many political dis- 

cussions. The Hogg-Clark gubernatorial campaign and the 

appearance of the Populist Party kept the atmosphere agitat- 

ed with ceaseless political discussions. The Democrats of 

Floydada organized a Democratic Club which held regular 

weekly meetings at the court house. Sam D. Snodgrass, 

Dra R. Go Andrews, J. I) Carter, J; B. Bartley, WM. 

Massie, and J. F. Lockney were the moving spirits of the 

club. Aside from the serious consideration of political issues 

and principles, some pleasantries were indulged in. To get 

the recently licensed attorneys to speak upon political issues 

was the great purpose of a few. C. J. Menefee promised to 

deliver an address on Friday evening, May 20, 1892, and 

when the time arrived for the address there were only a few 

gathered for the occasion, and Menefee declined to “speak to 

empty seats.” In the meantime Sumpter S. Brown had been 

roomed for a speech against Populism. After Menefee 

refused to speak the chairman recognized Brown as a man of 

courage who would inspire the Democrats assembled. Brown 

did his utmost, but his thoughts were somewhat muddled. 

Every sentence was cheered vociferously, and’ Brown remained 

on the floor for more than an hour. Snodgrass procured some 

water and offered the speaker a drink, but Brown declined 

with the remark: “I thank you, Mr. Snodgrass, as we had a 

17b Brown was well known to the writer, and the statements pertaining to him were 

given from memory. 
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drink at the saloon a while ago,’ and then there was much 

merriment at the expense of Snodgrass. 
On July 4, 1892, there was a picnic at Floydada. In the 

morning G. W. Evans spoke in behalf of the Populist party, 

and was followed by R. E. Davis in defense of the Democratic 

party. That afternoon Rev. T. E. Leake talked Populism and 

Sam D. Snodgrass extolled Democracy. 
5. Educational and Fraternal Activities 

The first session of the Floydada Public school opened 

on Monday, December 2, 1890. Sam H. Kelsey was the 

teacher, and M. F. Rountree, J. J. Harrison, and V. M. 
Massie composed the school board. ‘There were present about 

twenty pupils the first day but the enrollment reached about 

fifty at the close of the session, which was six months in 

length. During the first month there were no desks or other 

school equipment. Most of the text-books used had to be 

ordered by the teacher, and it was about six weeks before the 

order was received. The Merrell and Fox children attended 

from their homes seven miles southwest of Floydada. This 

school organizd a literary society, in which a number of the 

people of Floydada took part. The Friday afternoons were 

usually devoted to spelling matches and other school amuse- 

ments. This school was not incumbered, with a system of 

grades, examinations, promotions, and student reports. 

When a pupil finished a book in arithmetic he took up the 

next in order. The teacher was sympathetic, and had a good 

sense of humor.'’¢ 

In April, 1891, the resident members of the Masonic 

order “forwarded a petition to the Grand Master duly recom- 

mended by (the) Plainview Lodge, for a dispensation to or- 

ganize a new lodge to be called Floyd City Lodge." The 

Lodge at Floydada was to meet upstairs over the store of 

S. B. Chadwick & Company. The members were to meet 

“Wednesday night of each week for practice.” On April 

17c The writer was a poe in the first session of the Floydada public school, and 
here speaks from personal knowledge. 

18 The Floyd County Times, April 17, 1891. 
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22, 1891, the dispensation was received.'® The officers were: 

W. O. Menefee, Worshipful Master; J. I. Carter, Senior 

Warden; and R. C. Andrews, Junior Warden. The charter 

was granted December 11, 1891, under the designation Floyd 

City Lodge No. 712, A.F.&A.M. The charter members 

were: R. C. Andrews, J. D. Arnold, J. B. Bartley, J. I. 

Carter, J. Q. Johnson, B. P. Merrell, W. Methley, S. G. 

Pool, T. A. Ward, R. E. L. McLain, S. B. Chadwick, Jno. 

A. Ewing, W. F. Greenwell, W. O. Menefee, S. A. Mc- 

Mannis, J. A. Noble, G. H. Paulson, and Peter M. Hall. 

Early in the spring of 1890, shortly before Floyd County 

was organized, a movement for founding the Della Plain 

Male and Female Institute was put on foot. This enterprise 

had its inception at Seymour, where Rev. B. F. Fronabarger, 

the proprietor of a large private school at Springtown, in 

Parker County, delivered an address?° in the interest of his 

school. At the close of the address Fronabarger was ap- 

proached by J. R. McLain with reference to founding a school 

at Della Plain. He took the matter under consideration, 

visited Della Plain, and entered into a contract with McLain 

and seven others to the effect that Fronabarger was to erect 

a “school building according to specifications, establish, 

maintain and supervise a school for five years, at the expira- 

tion of which the title to the building and some town lots 

were to vest in him. The men contracting with Fronabarger 

were to place lumber on the ground and pay a specified sum of 

money when work began on the building. When the car- 

penters were ready to begin work a payment of $500 was 

made, but Fronabarger was assured that the remainder prom- 

ised would soon be forthcoming. When the building was 

finished it was learned that the contractors ‘were unable to 

meet their engagement. The lumber company the follow- 

ing year obtained judgment against those responsible for the 

erection of the building. Fronabarger secured a release to his 

19 The Floyd County Tiimes, April 24, 1891. 

20 Rev. B. F. Fronabarger to Claude V. Hall, September 28, 1921. 
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part of the obligation by the payment of a certain sum 

of money. 

The Della Plain Male and Female Institute existed only 
a few months in 1890-1891. Fronabarger was to furnish 

teachers to operate the school. He sent C. W. Hutcheson, 

a graduate of Fronabarger’s school at Springtown, to act as 

Principal. Miss Anna Bedecarrax was advertised as the “‘as- 

sistant principal.”’*" Hutcheson entered upon his work with 

much vigor, but soon resigned and was succeeded by Fayette 

Copeland. The school ran as a public school and closed in 
about six months. It was advertised as having primary, pre- 

paratory, and collegiate departments. In the collegiate depart- 

ment the following subjects were listed: “General History, 
Composition and Rhetoric, Metaphysics and Logic, Higher 

Algebra, Geometry, Trigonometry, Surveying, Greek, Latin, 

French, German, Hebrew, Spanish, and Natural Science and 

Commercial Law,” and art, “in all branches” was offered. 

A letter to the public, published in The Della Plain Review, 

set forth the advantages of the school. A climax was reached 

in the following paragraph: 

Come to the beautiful little Della Plain, in the County of Floyd. Send your 
children. They will find board cheap but good; tuition reasonable; instruction 
thorough; discipline kind, but rigid. Send your sons that they may get the 
advantage of a college course without having to leave their homes to get it. 
Send your daughters that they may become skilled in the finer arts, as well as 
being equipped for the sterner duties of life. 

The concluding paragraph contained the following Scrip- 

tural paraphrase: 

The settlers that are already here say come; those that are coming say come. 

Let every one that will come and enjoy these advantages for yourselves and 
your posterity. 

The Della Plain Male and Female Institute building was 

converted into an additional room of the Floydada public 

school in 1895. 

In the fall of 1890 T. J. Braidfoot, one of the promoters 

of Della Plain, under the caption “One Thing Calls for 

21 The Della Plain Review, October 31, 1890. 
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Something Else,” made the following announcement to the 

public: 
We will soon be ready to start up the sportin and fishing grounds in Della 

Plain. We will donate ten and a half blocks of land, which covers the lake just 

south of the public square, and issue a five thousand dollar stock divided into 

five hundred shares at $10 each, and will limit each man’s stock to twenty-five 

shares, each share to control one vote. As soon as all the stock is taken we will 

organize the company and go to work. All wishing to take stock will please 

let me know at once, and oblige.22 

There is no record that any shares were bought. 

6. Della Plain’s Demise and Mayshaw's Advent 

The population of Della Plain dwindled away during 

1891 and 1892. Briscoe County was organized March 15, 

1892,7° and Braidfoot, Briscoe, and a few others, losing con- 

fidence in Della Plain’s future, moved to Briscoe County 

and had some part in the founding of Silverton. Others had 

a part in the founding of Mayshaw, and still others moved 

elsewhere. Only the post office and a small store, operated 

by A. D. White, were remaining in 1893. In the autumn 

of 1893 the Della Plain post office was discontinued, and 

White settled on a 160-acre homestead nine miles west of 

Floydada. In 1900 twenty acres of the Della Plain town- 

site was planted in cotton, and six bales were gathered and 

were ginned at Childress. 

After the Supreme Court had held that Floydada was the 

legally chosen county seat of Floyd County, many of the sup- 

porters of Della Plain regarded its cause as hopeless, and they 

turned their attention to a new town project, with the plea 

for harmony. They perfected their plans in the spring of 

1892, after numerous town meetings had been held. The 

outgrowth of these meetings was the Citizens Town Com- 

pany, whose stock was capitalized at $10,000, the value of 

each share being 5. The shares were advertised*® as being 

“worth more than their par value’, and “becoming more 

valuable every day.” Asa precaution against one man con- 

trol at any time, each stock holder was limited to “one vote 

22 The Della Plain Review, October 31, 1890. 

23 J. S. McLain to Claude V. Hall, January 3, 1922. 

24 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 

25 The Mayshaw Zephyr, May 20, 1892. 
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and no more.” At the head of this enterprise were A. J. 
Shaw, of Galesburg, Illinois, and A. F. Dodson, J. H. Dodson, 
B. F. Farmer, A. J. Sams, and others of Floyd County. In a 

statement to the public The Mayshaw Zephyr explained the 
cause of the town’s existence, as follows: 

Mayshaw was started by the citizens of Floyd County who being tired of the 
ceaseless warfare being waged between the various towns of Floyd County 
determined to build a town of their own and for this purpose held a mass 
meeting and elected a committee of seven persons who were to select a site for 
the proposed new town. 

The County seat was not mentioned in any of the liter- 

ature sent out by the Citizens Town Company, but those 

interested in Floydada’s fortunes looked with suspicion at the 

new competitor. The site chosen for Mayshaw was two 

miles west of Della Plain on a patented section owned by 

Shaw. The reasons for choosing this site were “that this 

section was near the geographical center of the County, had 

a perfect land title, was almost the exact agricultural center 
of the county, had a splendid natural drainage, a magnificent 

view, and last, it was known that plenty of water could be 

secured upon this section at a very small expense.” The new 

town was christened Mayshaw in honor of Mrs. May Shaw, 

the wife of A. J. Shaw. 
For a few months during the summer of 1892 Mayshaw 

seemed to prosper. A post office was established, a small 

public library was installed, and some new business enter- 

prises were projected, but came to naught. A few of the 

houses at Della Plain*® were moved to Mayshaw, while others 

were moved to Briscoe County. Colonel and Mrs. Shaw 

showed a paternal interest in the new town and encouraged 
the projected enterprises, but conditions were adverse to the 
town’s growth, as a long-continued drought and a grass- 

hopper plague followed in 1893. Vainly did The Mayshaw 

Zephyr attempt to inculcate good feeling and to attract re- 

cruits to the town. Its editor, J. H. Dodson, was a candi- 
date for County Judge, and during the first year of its exist- 
ence this publication was sent free to the citizens of Floyd 

26 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 
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County. It inserted without cost classified reading notices 

and the marks and brands of stockmen. In 1893 Dodson 

moved to California, and The Zephyr ceased to function until 

it was revived in 1894 by W. C. Hawkins. The Populist 

patty was then aggressive, while the Democrats were mltitant, 

but Hawkins maintained an attitude of neutrality, which 

elicited from The Floyd County Times numerous sportive 

gibes. In the spring of 1895 Hawkins discontinued the pub- 

lication of The Zephyr and succeeded J. F. Lockney as editor 

of The Floyd County Times at Floydada. 

Among the leading spirits of Mayshaw, besides J. H. 

Dodson, the editor, and his brother, A. F. Dodson, the man- 

ager of the Citizens Town Company, were I. R. Vorhees, a 

mechanic and windmill expert, S. M. Brown, the blacksmith, 

G. W. Farnsworth, a public-spirited farmer, C. F. Ramsey, 

one of the first members of the commissioner’s court of 

Floyd County, A. J. Sams, a merchant, Mrs. T. Cromartie, 

proprietor of the Windsor Hotel, E. P. Thompson, who was 

“prepared to put up or repair all kinds of windmills on short 

notice,” and G. W. Grammer, who proclaimed himself an 

instructor in music, stenography, and phrenology. Grammer 

was a singular character. He wore long hair and beard, and, 

through his advertising circulars, it was announced that he 

was ‘believed to be the greatest living musical genius . e 

founded a school by which he and Miss Ellen Kyle, his 

sister-in-law, taught the Grammer Lightning System of Mu- 

sic’. He delivered occasional lectures on music and phrenol- 

ogy. During 1895 he published at Mayshaw The Western 

Star, which he used as a medium for advertising his various 

pursuits. His claims did not inspire popular confidence. In 

the winter of 1895-18096, he moved to Lockney, where he 

continued his occupations a few months, and then he moved 

elsewhere.?’ 

In the days of her prime Mayshaw put forth her best 

efforts to create a moral and enlightened atmosphere. A 

27 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 
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Sunday School was maintained, and there was preaching the 

first Sunday in each month by Rev. Anson Cox, of the 

Friend’s Church, and every third Sunday by C. W. Smith, 

of the Church of Christ.22 On May 19, 1892, the commis- 

sioners’ court of Floyd County created the Mayshaw School 

District, and the first session was taught by Miss Rosa Ewing, 

a daughter of J. A. Ewing. Rev. T. E. Leake, a Baptist 
minister and Populist leader, organized on April 28, 1892, 

the Mayshaw Farmers Alliance, with S. M. Brown as 

president, H. Terry as vice-president, and S. F. Lindsay, as 

secretary, and on Saturday, May 14, it held its first regular 

meeting. All the people of Mayshaw were not averse to the 

less serious forms of entertainment, as the following news 

item from The Mayshaw Zephyr will indicate: 

“Thursday night May 22, (1892) a number of the youth and beauty of Floyd 
County met to celebrate the completion of the New Business House of Mr. 
J. B. Anthony of Mayshaw. Messrs. Cox and Farmer furnished the music 
and dancing continued until the wee small hours.” 

Elsewhere The Zephyr, of May 20, 1892, reports that on 

Wednesday evening, May 18, 1892, a Social Party was given 

at the residence of W. M. Perrin who lives about six miles 

east of Mayshaw, and that “the party was pronounced a most 

enjoyable affair.” But Mayshaw’s prosperity was of less than 
two years’ duration. Her promoters lost heart, as those of 

Della Plain did, and, by degrees, the town was depopulated, 

and in 1896 only a post office and a blacksmith shop, both 
of which were under the management of S. M. Brown, were 

left. With the rebuilding of Lockney in 1895 a part of 
Mayshaw’s population became identified with it. After 1896 

there were only a few dugouts to mark the sight of the de- 

funct town. 

7. Removal and Rehabilitation of Lockney 

In the summer of 1894, S. W. Smith, a Christian preach- 
er from Lubbock County, was in Floyd County conducting 

church services at Floydada and other places. C. W. Smith, 
another Christian preacher who had been living in Floyd 

28 The Mayshaw Zepbyr, May 20, 1892. 
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County since April 1890,”° was associated with S. W. Smith 

in church work in Floyd County 1n 1894. In August S. W. 

Smith suggested to C. W. Smith the establishment of a 

Christian school at Lubbock, in Lubbock County, but C. W. 

Smith insisted that Floydada or Lockney would be a better 

location than Lubbock, whereupon the two Smiths pros- 

pected at both Lockney and Floydada. At Lockney they 

met with encouragement in their project, while at Floydada, 

the proposition was received with indifference, and The 

Floyd County Times treated it lightly.*° The Smiths pro- 

posed to locate the school at Floydada if the people would 

donate 160 acres of land adjoining the town section and the 

old Della Plain Male and Female Institute building, which 

had been moved to Floydada, but the church membership and 

other citizens of Floydada did not think that they could afford 

so great a burden. The Smiths were determined in their ef- 

forts, and located the school at Lockney. They published 

an announcement?! “To the Brotherhood and Friends of the 

Lockney Christian College,” in which was set forth the 

need of sympathy, influence, and patronage to make this 

laudable enterprise a success, and the purpose that 

We intend its [the Lockney Christian College’s | influence to be more than 

local, and hope the whole county will take pride and interest in the work. 

Lying west of the original town of Lockney were in or- 

der, the W. E. Brogden, N. B. Davis, and I. E. Davis 80- 

acre tracts of patented lands. The two Smiths bought from 

Sam H. Kelsey the Brogden tract for the site of the Lockney 

Christian College, and J. A. Baker the N. B. Davis and I. E. 

Davis tracts for a new town site. West of the new town 

site C. W. Smith acquired a 160-acre tract from J. C. White 

and one from A. B. Bell. Baker moved his store and the 

post office from the first town site to the new one, and the 

new town of Lockney was given its existence in 1894.°7 

Work on the new school building was begun soon after the 

29 C. W. Smith to Claude V. Hall, October 20, 1921. 

ee) ibid) 
31 The Floyd County Times, September 8, 1894. 

a2 C. W. Smith to Claude V. Hall, October 20, 1921. 
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site was chosen, but it was not completed in time for the 
opening on Monday, October 2, 1894. The first few weeks 

the school was conducted in a two-room dwelling. J. D. 
Burleson and his wife, Mrs. Sadie Burleson, of Uvalde County, 

were engaged as teachers, and the enrollment the first day was 

sixteen pupils.** The school building was a_ two-story 

structure, twenty-four feet wide, forty-eight feet long, and 

eighteen feet high. During the first year only the first floor 

was used. The seats and desks were home made, and the 

blackboard space was rather limited. The public school of 

the Lockney district was taught by Sam H. Kelsey on the old 

town site, and after its close in the spring some of the pupils 

entered the church school, whose enrollment was thereby 

augmented to about fifty pupils. Lockney Christian College 

was advertised far and near by the preachers in their evan- 

gelistic travels, by circulars, and by both local and church 

papers. Because of the founding of the church school many 

people were induced to locate at Lockney, and the remnant 

of the “boosters” of the defunct towns of Della Plain and 

Mayshaw helped to swell the population of Lockney. At 

this time the Staked Plains country was suffering a serious 

setback because of droughts and the financial crisis which pre- 

vailed over the country after 1893, and Lockney’s demand 

for houses was in part supplied by the purchase and removal 

of a number of Floydada’s houses that were unoccupied in 

1895 and 1896. Quite naturally a town rivalry in Floyd 
County thus arose. From 1895 to 1898 the church school 

building was used for maintaining the public school of the 

Lockney school district, and while the free school lasted re- 
ligious instruction was excluded from the course of study. 

The second year the school enrolled ninety-five pupils.** In 

1898 the school building of the old town site was moved to 

that of the new town and was enlarged from a one-story, 

one-room to a two-story, two-room structure. The church 

33 The. Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 

34 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 
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school for years to come was run to conform with the purpose 

of its founders. During the school year of 1898-1899 the 

church school was taught by G. H. P. Showalter and Mrs. 

Ivy Poynor, and the free school by M. G. Bryant and S. 

Poynor. 

In 1895 D. M. Ealy and G. F. Stevenson set up a black- 

smith shop and J. S. Fox opened up a small stock of met- 

chandise. In 1898 W. A. Trowbridge put in a stock of dry 

goods and groceries, but in a short time he was succeeded by 

W. A. Anderson; also W. M. Chandler established the 

People’s Drug Store, S. IT. Cooper, a general merchandise 

store, and J. T. Dagley, a grist mill, with a windmill for the 

motor power. A board of trade was organized, and in its 

weekly meetings for a part of 1896 the establishment of a 

canning factory was discussed with more or less enthusiasm. 

The town thereafter maintained a creditable growth. 

8. Cursory View of Floyd County's Development 

The failures, difficulties, and achievements of Floydada, 

Mayshaw, Della Plain, and Lockney have been traced in the 

early days of Floyd County's existence and it is now appto- 

priate to give a cursory view of the county’s history of this 

period. During 1890 and 18g1 settlers came rapidly. Just 

after the organization of the county W. M. Bailey,®* a Fed- 

eral census enumerator, made a careful canvass and listed 529 

persons 1n Floyd County;*° but a few months afterwards the 

population was doubtless more than twice the number, for 

in the county seat election a total of 88 votes were cast, while 

in the general election of the following November 186 votes 

were cast for governor of Texas. This difference in the total 

voting strength of the county on May 28, 1890, and Novem- 

ber 4, 1890, would indicate that there were many who had 

located in the county during the early part of the year. That 

the stream of immigration continued after the organization 

is evidenced by the fact that 97 children of scholastic age were 

as Arthur B. Duncan to Claude V. Hall, May 30, 1922. 

36 Abstract of the Twelfth Census of the United States, 170. 
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enumerated in June of that year, whereas in the four public 
schools of the county there were enrolled the following winter 
150 scholastics, or 191 pupils of all ages,°” and there doubt- 
less was a considerable number of children within scholastic 
age who were not enrolled at all that year because of their 
inaccessibility to schools. 

It 1s noteworthy that the people who settled in Floyd 
County in 1890 and 1891 appreciated the value of public 
education. On August 21, 1890, while the entire county 
constituted one school unit or district, an election was held 
authorizing the levying of a special district school tax of 1 5 
cents on the $100 valuation.2® There were 20 votes in favor 
and only one against the proposition. Four school districts 
were created that year; namely, Floydada, Della Plain, Lock- 

ney, and Irick. The Floydada school was taught by Sam H. 

Kelsey; the Della Plain school by C. W. Hutcheson and 

Fayette Copeland; the Lockney school, by D. F. Davis; and 

the Irick school, by C. James. The state apportionment was 

$4.50 per scholastic, or a total of $436.50 for Floyd County, 

and the special tax fund was about $1250. The following 

school year 1891-1892, the scholastic enumeration was 252, 

and the State apportionment amounted to $1,1 34.°° In 1894- 

1895 the total scholastic population increased to 392, but the 

state apportionment was only $3.50 per capita, or a total of 

$1,375.*' At this time the scholastic age was from 8 to 16, 
an increase of one year.*? 

The total vote in Floyd County for governor in 1890 
was 186;*° in 1892, 323;** in 1894, 291;** and in 1896 

297.*° These figures indicate that the county suffered a 

37 Report of the Superintendent of Public Instruction, 1890-1891, 26. 
38 Minutes of the Commissioner’s Court, Floyd County, I, 71. 
39 Report of the Superintendent of Public Instruction, othatos 4. 
40 Report of the Superintendent of Public Instruction, 1891-1892, 172. 
41 Report of the Superintendent of Public Instruction, 1894-1895, 18. 
42 Gammel, Laws of Texas, X, 612. 
43 Report of the Department of Agriculture, Insurance, Statistics, and History 

for 1890-1891, 491. 
44 Houston Post Almanac for 1895, 400. 
48 Houston Post Almanac for 1895, 400. 
46 The Galveston Daily News, November g, 1896. 
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diminution of its population between 1892 and 1894, and 

this can be accounted for because of the droughts in 1892 

in 1893 and the grasshopper plague of 1893. The only 

crops grown then were sorghum, milo maize, and kaffir corn, 

and these crops were unusually short for these years. The ef- 

forts to grow wheat proved a complete failure. The panic 

of 1893 cast a gloom over the country’s prospects for railway 

construction and other improvements. Many of the citizens 

believed that hard years were ahead, and they removed else- 

where. 

Probably the first preacher to locate in Floyd County was 

R. E. Davis, a Primitive Baptist, who lived at Lockney from 

1890 to 1893. The second preacher was C. W. Smith, one 

of the founders of Lockney Christian College, who located 

in March, 1890, on a section about three miles northeast of 

Floydada just before Floydada was founded.*7 In 1891, W. B. 

Ford, a Methodist evangelist, resided at Della Plain and 

preached at various places in Floyd and adjoining counties. 

He announced “a camp meeting 1n Blanco Canyon, 6 miles 

south of Floydada, beginning on Wednesday night before the 

4th Sunday in July; and continuing as long as the Christian 

people are hungering and thirsting after righteousness or sin- 

ners are convicted and crying, ‘God be merciful to me a sin- 

ner’.”*° T.E. Leake, a Baptist preacher, settled in the eastern 

part of the county in 1890, but he was a rather enthusiastic 

expounder of the principles of Populism, and it is doubtful 

that he made any engagements to preach for the two or three 

years that he resided in Floyd County. The first sermon 

preached bya Baptist was at Della Plain in August, 1890, by 

Rev. I. B. Kimbrough,** of Plainview, while visiting his 

daughter. He organized the First Baptist Church of Floyd 

County 1n October, 1890, at the residence of R. M. Irick, 

who resided about seven miles southwest of Lockney. The 

a7 C. W. Smith to Claude V. Hall, October 20, 1921. 

as The Floyd County Times, oe 1891. 

a9 R. E. L. Muncy to Claude V. Hall, April 10, 1922. 
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charter members were R. M. Irick and wife, T. F. Anderson 

and wife, J. K. Anderson, Miss Lillie Anderson, T. A. Cowart 

and wife, J. IT. Dagley and wife, D. P. Windsor and wife, 
their daughter, and C. James.*° This congregation wor- 
shipped at the Irick residence until the school house was ready 

for use. In 1891 the Llano Estacado Association of the 

Baptist Church—embracing the counties of Motley, Dickens, 

Floyd, Crosby, Briscoe, Swisher, Hale, and Lubbock was 

organized at Plainview. As late as August, 1892, C. W. 

Smith conducted church services in G. F. Mickey's dugout, 

eight miles west of Floydada, for the Disciples of Christ. 

g. County School Lands Located and Boundaries Established 

As long as there was any unappropriated public domain 

in the State, each county, when organized, had the privilege 

of locating four leagues—17,712 acres—of land for the cre- 

ation of a permanent county school fund. After organization 

Floyd County took steps to acquire the four leagues to which 

she was entitled. The following items appear in The Texas 

Kicker, published at Floydada, October 24, 1890: 
W. M. Massie, C. F. Ramsey, T. B. Michael and Bud Davis have returned from 
their trip to Bailey County, where they went to inspect Floyd County’s school 
land. They report a good time, good country, plenty of game, etc... . 

Floyd County’s school lands were located in Lamb and 
Bailey counties. They were leased to stockmen the first few 

years at 3 cents per acre, and the money thus derived was appor- 

tioned among the public schools of Floyd County each year. 

As stated before, Floyd County was attached to Crosby 

County for land and judicial purposes. After organization 
Floyd County remained a part of the Crosby County Land 
District, as the boundary lines of Floyd County had not been 

“actually surveyed, marked out, and established.”*' Al 

though W. M. Massie had been elected county surveyor on 

May 28, 1890, still the Commissioner of the General Land 

Office of Texas refused to recognize Massie’s work in the 

surveying and location of school and homestead lands. Mas- 

50 Ibid. 
51 J. I. Carter to Claude V. Hall, December 17, 1921. 
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sie insisted on performing the functions of his office, but his 

efforts were in vain, as only surveying done through the 

Crosby Land District Office was recognized by the land of- 

fice. Pending the establishment of the boundaries, J. I. 

Carter was appointed district deputy surveyor under H. C. 

Knight.*? The boundary lines were finally established, and 

in October, 1892, the field notes were approved by the land 

office. Massie thereby came into possession of his office 

a week or two before the general elction of November 8, 

1892. 

10. Ownership of School Land a Burden 

During 1890 and 1891 approximately 475 school sections 

and as many homestead claims were settled.** The purchase 

of these school lands at $2 per acre with interest at 5 per cent, 

created an indebtedness amounting to at least $500,000 and 

entailed an annual interest payment of about $25,000, 

which after a year or two proved to be quite a financial drain 

on the county's resources. Added to this outlay were the 

reverses sustained by the prevalence of droughts and the rav- 

ages of grasshoppets, and it can be readily seen that people 

would experience hard times. Besides, many who settled in 

the county during these years had never before lived in new 

counties and were used to farming, while others came be- 

cause they expected to see railroads build and land values 

suddenly tise. The primary purpose of many a settler then 

was to obtain a big bonus, which is the profit realized by 

the transfer of school land. At first, little farming was at- 

tempted, as the principles of successful farming on the 

Staked Plains were not yet understood. The newcomers 

needed time to adapt themselves to stock farming conditions. 

Living expenses were heavy. All supplies were freighted from 

Childress and Amarillo, the two railway trading points, at a 

cost of 75 cents per hundred pounds. It required six or seven 

days to make a trip to either railroad point when the weather 

s2 J. I. Carter to Claude V. Hall, December 17, 1921. 

s3 J. I. Carter to Claude V. Hall, December 17, 1921. 
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was favorable. Homes were scantily improved because of the 
high cost of building materials. The money that the new- 
comers brought with them was spent after a year or two, and 

their plight and that of those that came without money were 

then about the same. Perhaps the man who had no money 

when he came was ultimately more favorably situated, as he 
usually settled on a homestead which cost him nothing, while 

the man with money settled on a school section, for which 

he was due the State $1,248 of the purchase price and an an- 

nual interest payment of $62.40; that is to say, the school 

land settler had a burden while the homestead settler had 

none. The settlers on school land made their interest pay- 

ment in 18g1, but many failed to meet these obligations to 
the State in 1892. As a relief measure, D. F. Goss, State 

Senator from Seymour, secured the passage of an act, approv- 

ed March 20, 1893,°* providing that the payment of interest 

due any year may be deferred for one year; but this act in 

effect, afforded relief only for the year of 1892, as the inter- 

est due for 1892, not being paid then, had to be paid in 

1893, and the “extensive and disastrous drought during the 
year of 1892 amounted to a public calamity,” was protracted 

after this act became a law. Both a drouth and grasshopper 
plague materially reduced feed crop production and curtailed 
the grazing capacity of the range in 1893, and, as a result, 

nearly all school lands that had been purchased were forfeited 
to the State for the non-payment of interest due. By this 

time the mass of people had reached the conclusion that 

State school land at $2 per acre, with five per cent interest, 

was too burdensome to own, and there arose a widespread 
demand for the reduction of the purchase price, a lower 

rate of interest, and an increase in the number of sections 

one might own. It was currently asserted that a single sec- 
tion of land on the Staked Plains was an insufficient quantity 
to enable a family to earn a livelihood.** When the Twen- 

54 Gammel, Laws of Texas, X, 460. 
55 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 
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ty-Fourth Legislature convened in January, 1895, Representa- 

tive W. B. Plemons, of Amarillo, and Senator Goss put forth 

their best efforts to secure school land legislation more favor- 

able to the West; but they were unable to accomplish all 

that they desired, as most members of the Legislature from 

other sections of the State were uninformed as to the con- 

ditions in the West and too conservative to be instructed by 

capable teachers.°® About all that could be accomplished 

was the reduction of the rate of interest from five per cent 

to three per cent,*” but still people would not purchase school 

land at $2 per acre. In the meantime, however, an agita- 

tion for reducing the price of school land was kept up, and 

on August 8, 1896, the Populist Party platform, adopted at 

Galveston, contained the following plank: 

The People’s Party favors all State Legislation that tends to increase the num- 

ber of home owners and that will assist in the settling of our unoccupied land; 

hence we demand that only the improvements and the amount actually paid 

to the State upon school lands be subject to taxation.58 

On August 19, of the same year, The State Democratic 

plattorm at Fort Worth adopted the following declaration: 

The Democratic Party will continue its well established policy of disposing of 

the public school lands of the State to those desiring homes, so as to promote 

as far as practicable, the settlement of the country and its speedy development. 

To this end, and that the school fund may be more speedily increased from that 

source, we favor such legislation as will facilitate the sale of such land, rather 

than the indefinite perpetuation of a lease system.59 

In his message to the Twenty-fifth Legislature on Janu- 

aL Veal 1897, Governor Culberson called attention to the 

Democratic Party's platform demand relative to the sale of 

school land. He said, “The State should cease to be a land 

owner as soon as practicable, and suggested that its price 

should be fixed at $1 or $1.50 per acre.°° Representative 

R. P. Smythe, of Plainview, and Senator Goss took a leading 

part in securing school land legislation in harmony with 

party platform pledges. Under the school land law of 

1897°" the settler was permitted to hold four sections classi- 

56 The Hesperian, Floydada, Texas, December 21, 1905. 

57 Gammel,, Laws of Texas, X, 793- 

se Winkler, Platforms of Political Parties in Texas, 381. 

s9 Winkler, Platforms of Political Parties in Texas, 387. 

60 House Journal, Twenty-Fifth LS aE 18. 

«1 Gammel, Laws of Texas, X, 1238. 
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fied as agricultural and eight sections classified as grazing 
land. The price of agricultural land was reduced from $2 

to $1.50 per acre, and that of grazing land was fixed at $1 

per acre. When this act went into effect the provision auth- 
orizing reclassification was liberally invoked. It was an easy 

matter to obtain the affidavits of three creditable citizens that 
lands in Floyd County could not be relied on with any 

degree of certainty for agricultural purposes. By this means, 
nearly all the school lands were purchased at $1 per acre, 

with 3 per cent interest. In a short time in the summer 
of 1897 practically all the school lands in Floyd County were 

filed on by settlers, and thus a new epoch in the history of 

the country was begun. 

11. 4 Synoptic View of Floyd County's Early History 

A look backward ts now in order. The changes wrought 
in the political geography of Western Texas have been traced. 

Prior to 1876 the Staked Plains were known as Young and 

Bexar Territories, when it was the scene of buffalo hunting 

and Indian incursions. The Indian wars of 1870 and 1874 

ended with the utter extermination or expulsion of the nomads, 

and the way was then made clear for stock raising, which 

marks the entry of the first settlers. [he course of events 

marked the establishment of free range cattle and sheep 

ranches, and these gave way to land owned ranches en- 

closed with wire fences. By chance a few brave souls lo- 

cated as settlers in the new country. 

The Quakers founded the Estacado settlement and there- 
by hastened the organization of Crosby County. A bitter 

war by the cattlemen in general was waged against the 

settlers who would in time circumscribe the stockman’s 
monopoly of the range. 

Blanco Canyon became a settlement of stockmen of lim- 

ited resources, and these, tiring of an unequal strife with 

big stock interests, moved up Runningwater Draw and 

founded the Plainview settlement in Hale County. 
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The public school land act of 1887, which put on the 

market State School land at $2 per acre, with deferred pay- 

ment for forty years, opened up the way to settlers, who, 

though of limited means, would really develop the country. 

The drouth of 1886 led to T. J. Braidfoot’s seeking better 

range conditions in Floyd County, where he saw an oppot- 

tunity to prepare the way for the county's organization by 

establishing Della Plain. 

The construction of the Fort Worth” &’ Denver City 

Railway to Amarillo swelled the tide of immigration and 

enabled Hale County to organize 1n 1888. Floyd County 

shared in the general settlement of the country, and her or- 

ganization in a year or two was an assured fact. 

The coming into existence of the town of Lockney as 

a rival of Della Plain accentuated the eagerness of Della 

Plain’s promoters for a speedy organization. The refusal 

of the Commissionet’s Court of Crosby County to be duped 

or coerced into ordering an early election for the county's 

organization by the aggressive leaders of Della Plain held 

matters in check until Floydada was given a place on the 

map. Floydada’s triumph in the county seat election and in 

the litigation that followed, in the end, so disconcerted the 

forces of Della Plain that she dwindled and died. 

The effort to give Mayshaw a permanent footing was 

prevented by drouths, the panic of 1893, and the people's 

wearying of the county seat contention. The wholesale 

forfeiture of school land was inevitable, yet it occasioned a 

careful counting of the cost of things in the development of 

a new country. 

The creation of Lockney Christian College rehabilitated 

Lockney with a new location just west of the old town site. 

The rapid growth of Lockney after 1894 brought the tre- 

newal of an unpleasant town rivalry in Floyd County, which 

was to smoulder for years to come. The school land legisla- 

tion of 1897 paved the way for the county's solid establish- 
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ment and forward development. The county then had for 
its citizenship home owners, who had other motives than 

merely that of transitory speculators. From 1897 on the 

establishment of wholesome social advantages is uppermost 

in the thoughts of the mass of the people. All the years 
hitherto have been a period of preparation. 

A rich soil, an invigorating climate, and a preeminently 

industrious and enlightened people presage a happy and 
prosperous future. 
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